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OUR MISSION IS TO PROVIDE ON-TARGET AND SUPERIOR

FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS TO THE CLIENTS THAT WE SERVE.

ALL OF OUR ENDEAVORS WILL ENRICH THE INTERESTS OF    

OUR CLIENTS, SHAREHOLDERS, ASSOCIATES AND COMMUNITIES.

PERIOD ENDING

Index 12/31/10 12/31/11 12/31/12 12/31/13 12/31/14 12/31/15

Access National Corporation 100.00 138.48 219.12 271.11 323.32 402.97
S&P 500 100.00 102.11 118.45 156.82 178.28 180.75
SNL Bank Index 100.00 77.44 104.51 143.49 160.40 163.14

Source : SNL Financial LC, Charlottesville, VA
© 2016
www.snl.com
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Dear Fellow Shareholders,

As our 17th year of business takes shape, we remain very excited 

over our continuing growth and success in driving long-term 

shareholder value. Consistent focus on a long-term strategy 

and sound fundamentals has resulted in steady growth, stability 

and new heights of success. In 2015, we concluded our 62nd 

consecutive quarter (15½ years) of profitability and 10th year of 

steady and increasing quarterly dividends. Our continued ability 

to deliver responsible growth together with reliable earnings 

and dividends makes an investment in our company appealing 

to long-term, growth-oriented investors. As your fiduciaries, this  

is our singular focus.

In looking back, we know the Financial Crisis and Great Recession 

technically ended in 2009. Yet, the global and local economies 

cannot escape recessionary aftershocks as setbacks seem to 

wipe out nearly each advance. The Federal Reserve continues 

to seek a monetary policy prescription that delivers on their 

mandate: full employment, price stability and moderate long-

term interest rates. During this post recovery era, the Fed has 

been unable to deliver on its mandate to get the economy back 

to “normal.” While stimulus is generally good for the economy, 

the continuing stagnant rate environment has been a steady and 

increasing challenge for the banking industry. Although the Fed 

increased its benchmark rate in December 2015, future monetary 

policy is uncertain as the economy remains unsteady due to 

lingering domestic challenges and global shocks. Under this 

backdrop, we operate your business with a priority of quality 

over quantity as well as an unwavering focus on fundamentals.

2015 IN REVIEW

In 2015, net income totaled $15.4 million or $1.46 per diluted  

share, a 10.7% increase over $13.9 million or $1.33 per diluted  

share earned in 2014. Basic earnings growth was 24% when 

discounting the effects of net non-recurring gains earned in  

2014 of $1.5 million, or $0.15 per diluted share. 

The net interest margin decreased from 3.80% to 3.68% when 

comparing 2014 to 2015. This represents the 3rd consecutive  

year of margin contraction following a peak of 3.94% reported 

for 2012. Despite our efforts to date, we have not overcome 

the industry-wide downward margin pressure caused by the 

protracted low rate environment. This “gross profit” measure is 

the most important driver to bank earnings, and we constantly 

work to mitigate the negative trend. 

On a consolidated basis, the Corporation reported annualized 

return on average assets of 1.39% for 2015 compared to 1.45% 

for 2014, exceeding our stated goal of 1.20% in both periods. 

Meanwhile the annualized return on average equity was 14.83%   

in 2015 compared to 14.47% in 2014, exceeding our goal of  

12.00%. 2015 represented the fifth consecutive year we have 

exceeded both of these critical guiding performance measures.

Total assets were $1.2 billion at December 31, 2015 and grew 

$126 million when compared to December 31, 2014. Leading 

asset growth was a $110.9 million increase in loans held for 

investment, representing growth in targeted client relationships. 

The commercial loan portfolio experienced the most growth as 

our marketing efforts continue to favor the operating needs of 

$1-100 million revenue businesses located in the Washington MSA. 

All other loan categories displayed balanced growth derived by 

relationships “anchored” with a commercial loan or commercial 

checking account.

Total deposits at December 31, 2015 were $913.7 million, an 

increase of $158.3 million when compared to December 31, 2014. 

Noninterest-bearing deposits grew at a rate of 21.7%, from $252.9 

million at December 31, 2014 to $307.8 million at December 31, 

2015, due to our priority focus on expanding business banking 

relationships. As of December 31, 2015, core transaction account 

balances (checking and interest-bearing checking) represented 

47.7% of total deposits. In an effort to preempt the short-term 

rate increase implemented by the Federal Reserve late in the 

year, we launched a marketing campaign to generate interest-

bearing deposits from our deposit rich target markets. This 

concentrated effort spurred a $48.6 million increase in savings 

and money market accounts as well as a $28.5 million increase   

in time deposits.

Tangible book value per common share increased 9.4% from 

$9.30 at December 31, 2014 to $10.17 at December 31, 2015. In 

addition, the routine dividends in connection with 2015 earnings 

totaled $0.60 per share. In 2015, shareholders gained a total 

tangible return of 15.76% by adding the year end book value 

plus the cash dividends declared with 2015 earnings compared 

to the starting book value. This value measure focuses on the 

core earnings and wealth creation of the business and excludes 

any gains or losses of market value of the shares traded on the 

NASDAQ. Management places its emphasis on the business 

fundamentals that generate long-term value, and not short-term 

fluctuations of the stock price over which we have little influence.

LOOKING AHEAD

Our plans to grow your bank and our complementary fee  

income services are focused primarily on fundamentals. 

Consumers, casual investors and some bank managers  

incorrectly assume banks grow and prosper by planting new 

offices all over the countryside and having a brand shaped by 

mass media. That does not work for community banks in  

urban markets and can increasingly drive inferior performance.

We grow our bank by hiring professionals who are knowledgeable 

2015 REPRESENTED THE FIFTH 

CONSECUTIVE YEAR WE HAVE 

EXCEEDED OUR CRITICAL GUIDING 

PERFORMANCE MEASURES OF  

ROAA AND ROAE.
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in corporate and personal finance and display sound business 

acumen. They have or develop expertise in financial matters of 

importance to our target audience. Our “front line” professionals, 

or relationship managers, involve themselves in the business 

community in ways they can connect with company owners and 

decision makers. Our target markets are businesses of $1-$100 

million of annual revenue as well as the owners and managers 

of those businesses. We further refine the target by priority 

industries in which we have both strong competency (what’s in 

it for the client) and find the industry banking profile and risk 

attributes to be attractive (what’s in it for us). The Washington 

MSA is extremely rich in attractive business prospects for us, 

providing a near endless supply of opportunity. No matter the 

measure, our market share is very small. We have an abundant 

opportunity to grow and prosper. Our currently stated growth 

goal calls for approximately $100 million of loan and deposit 

growth per annum. You will note that we exceeded those goals   

in 2015. As of this writing, we feel encouraged about the 

prospect of meeting or exceeding those goals looking ahead.

Continuing on goals, see the Scorecard on this page that 

displays each of our key financial targets and compares them 

to actual results over the last two years. Over our 17-year 

history, we have almost always outperformed against our key 

financial goals. Looking forward, we plan to continue executing 

our strategies, generating steady growth along with other 

financial measures that compare favorably against our own 

goals and peer companies.

In discussing the 2015 results, we noted our net interest margin 

(the bank’s gross profit) has been contracting. A decline in 

the margin undermines a bank’s ability to generate targeted 

returns on assets and equity. Environmental factors including 

monetary policy and the overcapitalized banking industry are 

the primary causes, but can’t serve as excuses for management. 

Within the bank, efforts to contain and ideally reverse the 

margin contraction include enhanced focus on growing business 

checking accounts and commercial loans. Business checking 

accounts represent the lowest cost of funds for a bank and 

commercial loans don’t expose the bank to as much interest 

rate risk as most real estate loan categories given their more 

frequent repricing. As of December 31, 2015, 58% of our loans 

had variable rate features, with most of our business lines of 

credit indexed to the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate.

Our business strategy is designed to cushion earnings from 

margin contraction and interest rate risk by augmenting spread 

income with fee-based revenue from our mortgage and wealth 

management divisions. In addition to their income diversification 

benefit, these services are critical to the client value proposition. 

Residential real estate plays an important role in how 

professionals begin to build wealth and enables the banking 

relationship to get deep and personal at an early stage. We 

prefer to provide our clients (and their families) with mortgages 

rather than have them go to a “mega bank.” As professionals look 

beyond real estate and deposit products to enhance wealth and 

EPS ($)

TANGIBLE BOOK VALUE PER SHARE ($)

RETURN ON AVERAGE EQUITY AND ASSETS 

 ROAE (%)  ROAA (%)

DILUTED EARNINGS AND DIVIDENDS PER SHARE* 

Routine Dividend

per Share ($)

Special Dividend

per Share ($)

5.66

6.43

6.96

8.13

8.85 8.79

9.30

 2008 2009  2010 2011  2012  2013 2014 2015

10.17

10.85

14.80

19.68

14.00 14.47

0.98 1.50
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14.83

1.39

0.72

1.10

1.71
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0.35
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1.46

0.04 0.13

0.70

0.59

0.70

0.50
0.25

0.41
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 TARGET YE 2015 YE 2014
RETURN ON AVERAGE EQUITY: 12.0% 14.83% 14.47%

RETURN ON AVERAGE ASSETS: 1.20% 1.39% 1.45%

TANGIBLE CAPITAL/TOTAL ASSETS: >8.0% 9.17% 9.30%

DIVIDEND PAYOUT OF “CORE” EARNINGS: 40-50% 41% 38%

BASIC EARNINGS GROWTH: 5.0% 10.73% 5.44%

LOAN GROWTH (MILLIONS): $100 $111 $80

DEPOSIT GROWTH (MILLIONS): $100 $158 $182

BANK EARNINGS CONTRIBUTION: >80% 87% 88%

BANK-ONLY EFFICIENCY RATIO: <60% 52% 51%

BOOK VALUE PER SHARE: N/A $10.35 $9.45

BOOK VALUE GROWTH: N/A 9.52% 7.51%

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE—ROUTINE*: N/A $0.59 $0.50 

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE—SPECIAL*: N/A N/A $0.35

SCORECARD: FINANCIAL TARGETS

* Declared

* Declared



Michael W. Clarke Michael G. Anzilotti

long-term financial security, brokerage and investment services 

become increasingly important. Finally, most of our business 

clients are looking to build ultimate wealth by creating and 

selling a valuable business enterprise. When that occurs, our 

wealth management professionals are at the ready to design  

an asset management strategy for long-term financial security. 

Our business model and financial services capabilities allow us 

to expertly serve our clients through all stages of their business 

life cycle, from inception to exit.

Management’s first priority is to focus on fundamentals and 

run a good business the old fashioned way. We also look at 

merger and acquisition opportunities that can enhance 

shareholder value, knowing that balance sheet and earnings 

strength better position our company as a good candidate to 

benefit from the M&A game. The Washington MSA has a large 

number of banks smaller than ours that could make potential 

acquisition candidates. Although we have evaluated numerous 

opportunities, to date we have been unable to find the right 

balance of cultural fit and price. We’ll keep looking, but stay 

grounded with the reality that we may not find a bank acquisition 

that works for us. As our relevance in the market grows, a larger 

out-of-market player may find us an attractive partner or target. 

Our superior financial performance record and heavy inside 

ownership enable us to be selective on any of these fronts.

Aside from the margin pressure noted earlier, there are numerous

business risks to monitor and manage. The regulatory burden 

continues to mount which increasingly consumes overhead. The 

potential for loss from credit risk is always present, requiring 

proactive management. A risk that gets a lot of headlines today, 

albeit still underappreciated, is cybersecurity. This is a broad 

term that encompasses a great deal. But most simply, we insist 

on systems and processes that protect our clients’ money and 

personal information. We spend millions of dollars on software 

systems, monitoring services, vendor accountability, and best 

practice fraud prevention tools for our clients. We also provide 

client education on these topics whenever possible. What is most 

disappointing is when we see our clients experience meaningful 

losses that could have been averted. The crooks know that 

banks are not as easy to compromise as individuals and small 

businesses, so they set out to get into our clients’ systems in 

search of ways to commit fraud. For example, they fabricate 

emails to trusted employees, posing as the CEO or owner, 

insisting money is urgently transmitted for a confidential  

matter to a bank account that they quickly clean out. While 

the aggregate losses experienced by the bank and our clients 

compare quite favorably to industry experience, any loss of 

hard-earned money is too much. PLEASE join us by embracing 

best practices when it comes to installing and following effective 

financial controls and cyber hygiene. Contact us if we can  

help you.

OUR COMMITMENT TO YOUR INVESTMENT

We firmly believe that measured growth and careful market 

execution will enable ANCX to deliver superior financial results  

to support continued market price appreciation and dividends on 

your investment. Our thoughtful and hard-working associates are 

central to delivering on that promise. The people element is so 

important to our company that we have dedicated the back cover 

of this report to our professional associates. There you will see 

their names listed in order of tenure. The high commitment level 

of this group is evidenced by the fact that about 80% of our bank 

employees are shareholders. They are dedicated to serving our 

clients in a way that fosters value creation for our shareholders.

We ask that you actively support your investment by  

placing business with our bank and referring others at any 

opportunity. Every account and every relationship is important. 

Call Mike...let’s talk!

Very truly yours,

Michael W. Clarke   Michael G. Anzilotti

President, CEO   Chairman

PRIORITY INDUSTRY SEGMENTS:

•  ACCOUNTING SERVICES
•  COMMUNITY ASSOCIATIONS
•  FINANCIAL PLANNING SERVICES
•  GOVERNMENT CONTRACTING
• HEALTHCARE INDUSTRIES

  DENTAL PRACTICES
   MEDICAL PRACTICES

  VETERINARY PRACTICES
• LEGAL SERVICES
•  NONPROFITS/TRADE ASSOCIATIONS
•  PACS & POLITICAL ORGANIZATIONS 
•  REAL ESTATE SERVICES
•  STAFFING SERVICES
•  TITLE COMPANIES



CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

Responsible stewardship of your invested capital is our priority. It is our job to put your capital to work on a productive basis to 

compound and generate earnings. After sufficient earnings have been retained to support responsible growth and an adequate 

operating cushion, excess earnings are returned to shareholders in the form of dividends or share repurchases. 

Target Capital Level: We have a targeted range for a tangible capital to asset ratio of 8.0% to 10.50%. As of December 31, 2015, 

this ratio stood comfortably in the range at 9.17%. We will tend to operate at the higher end of this range when we are considering 

acquisitions, growing at a rapid pace or concerned about economic conditions. When the tangible capital ratio exceeds the ceiling, 

we will consider paying a special dividend. 

Dividend Payout: The target payout ratio for routine dividends is 40-50% of “core earnings.” (Special dividends are excluded from 

the payout ratio target). The routine dividend paid for fourth quarter 2015 performance was an annualized 40.5% payout, indicating 

potential for increased dividends per share. 

Share Repurchase Program (the “Program”): The Program remains in effect with approximately 768,000 remaining authorized 

shares. Under this Program, the Corporation buys shares from the market and retires them, thereby reducing the quantity of shares 

outstanding. Market purchases are made at the discretion of the Corporation considering the above priority capital objectives and 

the relative price available in the market compared to other uses of available capital. Under the program, we will buy and retire stock 

on significant market dips. By doing so, this has the effect of improving future EPS of remaining shares. Repurchasing shares should 

put upward pressure on the stock price as the supply of shares in the market is reduced and EPS is increased.

Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (the “Plan” or “DRSPP”): The DRSPP allows for automatic reinvestment of routine 

dividends and optional cash purchases of stock through the Plan Administrator. The Corporation has discretion under the Plan to 

issue new shares for the purchases or direct the Administrator to acquire shares from the market. When shares are issued by the 

Corporation, there is a 5% discount on the price of the stock purchased by the participant. This Plan is designed to encourage long-

term investment in the Corporation and has been popular with retail shareholders and employees. It can also serve to efficiently raise 

modest amounts of capital if needed.

New Share Issuance or Dilutive Activities: We have no plans to undertake an equity offering and dilute existing shareholders. We 

would only consider an offering in the context of a merger transaction, hyper-growth, or an adverse financial shock. If and when we 

issue new shares, we must undertake a financial analysis that convinces us incumbent shareholder interests will be enhanced. We are 

grateful to shareholders to have authorized a stock option program to motivate, align and reward Officers and Directors. We carefully 

manage the dilutive effects of the option program with overhang and run rate targets to minimize the spread between primary and 

diluted EPS.

 J. Randolph Babbitt  John W. (Skip) Edgemond Martin S. Friedman Thomas M. Kody Robert C. Shoemaker

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Also on the Board of Directors are Michael W. Clarke, CEO, and Michael G. Anzilotti, Chairman, pictured on the previous page.



ACCESS NATIONAL CORPORATION SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Period end balances

Assets

Loans held for investment

Loans held for sale

Interest-bearing balances and federal funds sold

Securities available for sale, at fair value

Securities held to maturity, at amortized cost

Restricted Stock

Earning assets

Interest-bearing deposits

Total deposits

Shareholders’ equity

Mortgage loan originations and brokered loans

Averages (YTD)

Assets

Loans held for investment

Loans held for sale

Interest-bearing balances and federal funds sold

Securities available for sale, at fair value

Securities held to maturity, at amortized cost

Earning assets

Interest-bearing deposits

Total deposits

Repurchase agreements and federal funds purchased

Other short-term borrowings

Long-term borrowings

Shareholders’ equity

Earnings

Net income

Banking segment—income before taxes

Mortgage segment—income before taxes

Wealth Management—loss before taxes

Other segments—loss before taxes (1)

Consolidated—income before taxes

Common shares outstanding

Tangible book value per share

Book value per share

Earnings per share:

  Basic

  Diluted

Average outstanding shares:

  Basic

  Diluted

Return on average assets

Return on average equity

Net interest margin

Efficiency ratio—bank only

Efficiency ratio—consolidated

Asset quality

Allowance for loan losses

Allowance for loan losses/loans held for investment 

Allowance for loan losses on mortgage loans sold

Non-performing assets

Non-performing assets/total assets

Net charge-offs to average loans

 $      1,178,548 

887,478

44,135

 24,598 

 160,162

 14,287 

7,259

 1,139,464 

 605,947 

 913,744 

 109,138 

 484,747 

1,112,470

 824,288

 42,076 

 52,716 

 135,007 

 14,299 

 1,075,284 

 563,112 

 866,695 

 22,017 

 91,992 

 18,890 

103,948

 

15,419 

 20,606 

 4,647

 (422)

 (1,235)

23,596

10,544,751

 10.17 

10.35

1.46 

 1.46 

 10,513,008 

10,581,871 

1.39%

14.83%

3.68%

50.41%

63.81%

 13,563 

1.53%

 1,029 

 7,417 

0.63%

0.00%

11.9%

14.3%

-2.0%

-46.8%

28.0%

-0.2%

-19.0%

12.0%

20.6%

21.0%

10.3%

18.7%

16.1%

14.2%

34.5%

17.3%

25.0%

6.1%

15.9%

18.0%

21.2%

4.2%

-20.3

100.0%

8.0%

10.7%

9.1%

-7.9%

-20.6%

40.4%

9.7%

0.7%

9.4%

9.6%

9.8%

9.8%

0.9%

1.1%

-4.1%

2.5%

-3.2%

3.0%

5.4%

1.2%

-11.6%

-14.1%

357.3%

308.5%

-100.0%

$       1,052,880 

 776,603 

 45,026 

 46,225 

 125,080 

 14,309 

 8,961 

 1,017,041 

 502,568 

 755,443 

 98,904 

 408,346 

   958,067 

 721,863 

 31,288 

 44,939 

 107,968 

 13,473 

 927,845 

 477,267 

 715,385 

 21,129 

 115,471 

 —

96,227

13,925 

 18,889 

 5,043 

(350)

(2,072)

21,510 

10,469,569

 9.30

 9.45

1.33 

 1.33 

 10,424,067 

 10,466,841 

1.45%

14.47%

3.80%

48.96%

60.55%

 13,399 

1.73%

 1,198 

 1,622 

0.15%

-0.04%

December 31, 2014 Percent Change

(1) Access National Corp. & Access Real Estate, LLC 

This report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the federal securities laws. These statements may be identified as “may,” “could,” “expect,” “believe,” “anticipate,” 
“intend,” “plan” or variations thereof. These forward-looking statements may contain information related to those matters such as the Company’s intent, belief, or expectation with respect to 
matters such as financial performance. Such statements are necessarily based on assumptions and estimates and are inherently subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties concerning the 
Company’s operations and business environment, which are difficult to predict and beyond control of the company. Such risks and uncertainties could cause the actual results of the Company to 
differ materially from those matters expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements. For an explanation of certain risks and uncertainties associated with forward-looking statements, 
please refer to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K and other SEC filings.

December 31, 2015(In Thousands, Except for Share and Per Share Data)



 $         9,804 

 46,225 

 125,080 
 14,309 

 139,389 

 8,961 

 45,026 

 776,603 
 (13,399)

 763,204 

 6,926 

 33,345 

 $  1,052,880 

 
 $252,875 

 233,773 

 268,795 

755,443 

 185,635 

 —
 

12,898 

 953,976 

8,742 

 18,538 

 72,168 

 (544)

 98,904 

 $1,052,880 
 

Access National Corporation Selected Financial Data
ACCESS NATIONAL CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In Thousands, Except for Share)

ASSETS
 
Cash and due from banks

Interest-bearing balances and federal funds sold

Investment Securities:
  Available-for-sale, at fair value
  Held-to-maturity, at amortized cost (fair value of $14,378 and $15,659) 

  Total investment securities

Restricted Stock

Loans held for sale—at fair value 

Loans
Allowance for loan losses

  Net loans

Premises, equipment and land—net

Other assets

Total assets
 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 

LIABILITIES
 
Noninterest-bearing deposits

Savings and interest-bearing deposits

Time deposits

Total deposits

Short-term borrowings

Long-term borrowings

Other liabilities and accrued expenses

Total liabilities

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 
Common stock, $0.835 par value; 60,000,000 shares 
authorized; issued and outstanding, 10,469,569
and 10,369,420 shares, respectively

Surplus

Retained earnings 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

 $         1 1,291

 24,598

 160,162
 14,287 

 1 74,449

 7,259

 44,135

 887,478 
(13,563)

873,915

 6,689 

 36,212 

$  1,178,548

 
 $    307,797

 293,711

 312,236

 913,744 

 91,129 

55,000

9 ,537

 1,069,410 

  

8,805 

 19,953

 81,385 

(1,005)

 109,138

$  1,178,548 

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014



  INTEREST INCOME
   
Interest and fees on loans  
   
Interest on federal funds sold and bank balances 
    
Interest on securities  

Total interest income
 
   
INTEREST EXPENSE
   
Interest on deposits  
   
Interest on other borrowings  

 Total interest expense 

 Net interest income 
   
Provision for loan losses   

Net interest income after provision for loan losses  

  
   
NON INTEREST INCOME
   
Service charges and fees  
   
Gain on sale of loans  
   
Other Income  

 Total noninterest income
 
   
NON INTEREST EXPENSE
   
Salaries and benefits  
   
Occupancy and equipment  
   
Other operating expense  

 Total noninterest expense 

 Income before income tax   
   
Income tax expense

Net Income   
   
Earnings per common share:   

  Basic   

  Diluted   
   
Average outstanding shares:   

  Basic   

  Diluted   

ACCESS NATIONAL CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

  $       40,055 

 129

 3,482
 

43,666

  

 3,648

 471

 4,119

39,547 

 150

 39,397

  
  

903 

19,633

 5,529 

26,065

  

 26,966

 3,040

 11,860

 41,866

 23,596 

 8,177 

 15,419

 $           1.46 

 $           1.46 

 10,513,008 

 10,581,871 

  $      35,702 

 102 

 2,697 
 

38,501 

  

 2,981 

 292 

 3,273 

 35,228 

 —

35,228 

  

 695 

 15,146 

 3,459 

 19,300 

  

 22,654 

 2,821 

 7,543 

 33,018 

 21,510 

 7,585 

 13,925 

 $            1.33 

 $            1.33 

 10,424,067 

 10,466,841 

Twelve Months
 Ended 12/31/15

 
Twelve Months
 Ended 12/31/14(In Thousands, Except for Share and Per Share Data) 



BUSINESS BANKING SERVICES 
Lending
• Accounts Receivable Lines of Credit

• Acquisition Financing

• Commercial Construction Loans

• Commercial Mortgages

• Contract Collection Accounts 

• Debt Refinancing 

• Equipment Financing

• Franchise Financing

• Growth Capital Term Loans

• Partner Buyout Funding

• SBA Preferred Lender

Deposit and    
Treasury Management Services
• Checking Accounts

• Money Market and Savings Accounts

• Certificates of Deposit

• CDARS® and ICS®

• Online Banking and Bill Pay

• Mobile Banking

• ACH Origination

• Merchant (Credit Card) Services

• Lockbox Payment Processing

• Remote Deposit Capture

• Credit Cards and Purchase Cards

• Debit Cards

• Overnight Investments

• Sweep Accounts

• Zero Balance Accounts

• Positive Pay (ACH/Check)

PERSONAL BANKING SERVICES
• Checking Accounts

• Money Market and Savings Accounts

• Individual Retirement Accounts

• Certificates of Deposit

• CDARS and ICS

• Online Banking and Bill Pay

• Mobile Banking

• Asset Secured Loans

• Home Equity Lines of Credit

• Loans for Business Investment

RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE SERVICES
• Home Purchase Loans

• Refinance Loans

• Conventional Loans

• Government Loans

• Jumbo Loans

WEALTH MANAGEMENT SERVICES
CFA
• Investment Advisory Services

• Financial Planning Services

• Fiduciary and Business Planning

AIS
• Financial Planning Services 

• Insurance Planning 

• Corporate and Personal  

 Retirement Plans

ACCESSNATIONALBANK.COM

MANAGEMENT TEAM

Michael W. Clarke  

President & CEO

Robert C. Shoemaker   

EVP, Chief Lending Officer
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PART I 
 

In addition to historical information, the following report contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and 

uncertainties that could cause Access National Corporation’s actual results to differ materially from those anticipated.  Readers are 
cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s analysis only as of the date 

of the report. For discussion of factors that may cause our actual future results to differ materially from those anticipated, please see 

“Item 1A – Risk Factors” and “Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” 

herein. 

 

ITEM 1 – BUSINESS 
 

Access National Corporation (the “Corporation” or “ANC”) was organized June 15, 2002 under the laws of Virginia to operate as a 

bank holding company.  The Corporation has one active wholly owned subsidiary:  Access National Bank (the “Bank” or “ANB”).  

Effective June 15, 2002, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated April 18, 2002 between the Corporation and 

the Bank, the Corporation acquired all of the outstanding stock of the Bank in a statutory share exchange transaction. 

 

The Bank is the only operating business of the Corporation.  The Bank provides credit, deposit, mortgage services and wealth 

management services to middle market commercial businesses and associated professionals, primarily in the greater Washington, 

D.C. Metropolitan Area. The Bank was organized under federal law in 1999 as a national banking association to engage in a general 
banking business to serve the communities in and around Northern Virginia.  Deposits with the Bank are insured to the maximum 

amount provided by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). The Bank offers a comprehensive range of financial 

services and products and specializes in providing customized financial services to small and medium sized businesses, 

professionals, and associated individuals.  The Bank provides its customers with personal customized service utilizing the latest 

technology and delivery channels.  The various operating and non-operating entities that support the Corporation’s business directly 

and indirectly are listed below: 

 

       PARENT    

ENTITY /      COMPANY /  YEAR 

ACTIVITY      SOLE MEMBER ORGANIZED  

 

Access National Corporation   N/A   2002 

 

A Virginia corporation with common stock listed on the NASDAQ Global Market, and serves as the Bank’s holding company.  The 

bank holding company is subject to regulatory oversight by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (“Federal 

Reserve Board”).  Its primary purpose is to hold the common stock of the commercial bank subsidiary and support related capital 
activities. 

 

Access National Bank   ANC    1999    

 

Primary operating entity holding a national bank charter issued under the laws of the United States.  Its principal activities are 

subject to regulation by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the “Comptroller”).  The Bank’s primary business is serving 

the credit, depository and cash management needs of businesses and associated professionals.  Deposits of the Bank are insured by 

the FDIC. 

 

Access Real Estate L.L.C. (“ARE”)    ANB   2003 

 

Access Real Estate was formed to acquire and hold title to real estate for the Corporation. Access Real Estate owns a 45,000 square 

foot, three story office building located at 1800 Robert Fulton Drive in Reston, Virginia that serves as the corporate headquarters for 

the Corporation, the Bank, the Mortgage Division, Access Real Estate, Capital Fiduciary Advisors, and Access Investment Services.  

Access Real Estate also owns vacant land in Fredericksburg that was originally purchased for future expansion of the Bank, but was 

listed for sale in the third quarter of 2014. 

 

Access Capital Management Holding, L.L.C. (“ACM”)   ANB   2011    

 

ACM is a Virginia limited liability company whose sole member is ANB.  ACM is the holding company for Capital Fiduciary 

Advisors, L.L.C. (“CFA”), Access Investment Services, L.L.C. (“AIS”), and Access Insurance Group, L.L.C. (“AIG”).  ACM 

provides a full range of wealth management services to individuals.  
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Capital Fiduciary Advisors, L.L.C. (“CFA”)   ACM   2011 

 

CFA is a registered investment advisor with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and provides wealth management 

services to high net worth individuals, businesses, and institutions.  Activities are supervised by the Bank’s primary regulator, the 
Comptroller, as well as the SEC. 

 

Access Investment Services, L.L.C. (“AIS”)   ACM   2011 

 

AIS is a limited liability company whose sole member is ACM.  AIS provides financial planning services to clients along with 

access to a full range of investment products.  Activities are supervised by the Bank’s primary regulator, the Comptroller, as well as 

the SEC. 

 
Access Insurance Group, L.L.C. (“AIG”)    ACM   2011 

 

AIG is a limited liability company whose sole member is ACM.  AIG is presently inactive and when activated will provide access to 

a wide variety of insurance products. 

 

ACME Real Estate, L.L.C. (“ACME” or “ACME Real Estate”)  ANB   2007    

 

ACME is a Virginia limited liability company whose sole member is ANB.   ACME is a real estate holding company whose   
purpose is to hold title to the properties acquired by the Bank either through foreclosure or property deeded in lieu of  

foreclosure.  Activities are supervised by the Bank’s primary regulator, the Comptroller.   

 

The principal products and services offered by the Bank are listed below: 

                              

BUSINESS BANKING SERVICES  

Lending 

 

BUSINESS BANKING SERVICES  

Cash Management 

 

PERSONAL BANKING 

SERVICES 

 
Accounts Receivable Lines of Credit 

Accounts Receivable Collection          

Accounts  

Growth Capital Term Loans 

Business Acquisition Financing 

Partner Buyout Funding 

Debt Re-financing  

Franchise Financing  
Equipment Financing  

Commercial Mortgages 

Commercial Construction Loans 

SBA Preferred Lender Loans 

 

Online Banking 

Checking Accounts 

Money Market Accounts 

Sweep Accounts 

Zero Balance Accounts 

Overnight Investments 

Certificates of Deposit 

Business Debit Cards 
Lockbox Payment Processing 

Payroll Services 

Employer Sponsored Retirement Plans 

 

Personal Checking Accounts 

Savings / Money Market     

Accounts 

Certificates of Deposit 

Residential Mortgage Loans 

Asset Secured Loans 

Loans for Business Investment 

Construction Loans 
Lot & Land Loans 

Investment Management 

Financial Planning 

Retirement Account Services 

Qualified Plans 

 

 

Bank revenues are derived from interest and fees received in connection with loans, deposits, and investments. Major expenses of 
the Bank consist of personnel, interest paid on deposits and borrowings, and other operating expenses.  Revenues from the Mortgage 

Division consist primarily of gains from the sale of loans and loan origination fees.  Major expenses of the Mortgage Division 

consist of personnel, investor fees, and other operating expenses.  Revenue generated by the Bank (excluding the Mortgage 

Division) totaled $46.0 million in 2015. The Mortgage Division contributed $21.7 million; others contributed $4.1 million prior to 

inter-company eliminations. In 2015, the Bank’s pre-tax earnings amounted to 87.3% of the Corporation’s total income before taxes 

and the Mortgage Division and others contributed the remaining 12.7%.   

 

The economy, interest rates, monetary and fiscal policies of the federal government, and regulatory policies have a significant 
influence on the Corporation, the Bank, the Mortgage Division, ACM, and the banking industry as a whole.  The economy shows 

signs of gradual improvement with the national unemployment rate dropping from 5.4% in December 2014 to 4.8% in December 

2015.  In December 2015, the federal funds rate increased from 0.25% to 0.50%, the first increase in federal funds rates since 

December 2008.  The January 2016 statement of the Federal Open Market Committee (“FOMC”) projected the federal funds rate to 

remain at 0.25% to 0.50% even though the national unemployment rate is below 6.0% as inflation continues to run below the 2% 

longer-run goal set by the Committee.  The continued low rate environment will continue to stress net interest margins.     
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The Bank operates from five banking centers located in Virginia:  Chantilly, Tysons, Reston, Leesburg and Manassas, and online at 

www.accessnationalbank.com.  Additional offices may be added from time to time based upon management’s constant analysis of 

the market and opportunities. 

 
The Mortgage Division specializes in the origination of conforming and government insured residential mortgages to individuals in 

the greater Washington, D.C. Metropolitan Area, the surrounding areas of its branch locations, outside of its local markets via direct 

mail solicitation, and otherwise.  The Mortgage Division has established offices throughout Virginia; in Fairfax, Reston, Roanoke, 

and McLean. Offices outside the state of Virginia include New Smyrna Beach in Florida (closed in January 2016), Indianapolis in 

Indiana, Nashville in Tennessee, Hagerstown in Maryland, Atlanta in Georgia, and Edina in Minnesota (opened in December 2015). 

 

The following table details the geographic distribution of the real estate collateral securing mortgage loans originated by the 

Mortgage Division in the periods indicated.  The individually named states are those in which the Mortgage Division had a physical 
presence during the periods described.  In addition to making loans for purchases within its markets, the Mortgage Division makes 

loans to borrowers for second homes located elsewhere, as well as utilizes direct mail to solicit loans outside its local markets, which 

accounts for the “Other States” category.  Percentages are of the total dollar value of originations, as opposed to the number of 

originations. 

 

2015 2014 2013

COLORADO  (production branch closed April 2013) 1.06% 1.30% 4.81%

FLORIDA  (production branch closed January 2016) 8.03% 8.44% 6.36%

GEORGIA 11.61% 11.23% 8.24%

INDIANA 22.56% 26.81% 16.57%

MARYLAND 10.06% 9.16% 8.20%

MINNESOTA (production branch opened December 2015) 0.42% Not Reported Not Reported

TENNESSEE 8.93% 2.89% 1.37%

TEXAS  (production branch closed January 2013) 0.72% 1.12% 3.11%

VIRGINIA 23.83% 25.47% 21.93%

87.22% 86.42% 70.59%

Other States 12.78% 13.58% 29.41%

100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Loan Origination By State

Year Ended December 31, 

 
 

The Mortgage Division’s activities rely on insurance provided by the Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) and 

the Veterans Administration. In addition we underwrite mortgage loans in accordance with guidelines for programs under Fannie 

Mae and Freddie Mac that make these loans marketable in the secondary market.   

 

The Corporation and its subsidiaries are headquartered in Fairfax County, Virginia and primarily focus on serving the greater 

Washington, D.C. Metropolitan Area.  
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Our Strategy – Historical and Prospective  

 

Our view of the financial services marketplace is that community banks must be effective in select market niches that are 

underserved and should stay clear of competing with large national competitors on a head-to-head basis for broad based consumer 
business.  We started by organizing a de novo national bank in 1999.  The focus of the Bank was and is serving the small and 

medium sized businesses and their associated professionals in the greater Washington, D.C. Metropolitan Area. We find that large 

national competitors are ineffective at addressing this market; it is difficult to distinguish where a business’s financial needs stop and 

the personal financial needs of that business’s professional’s start. We believe that emerging businesses and the finances of their 

owners are best served hand-in-hand. 

 

Our core competency is judgmental discipline of commercial lending based upon our personnel and practices that help our clients 

strategize and grow their businesses from a financial perspective.  As financial success takes hold in the business, personal goals and 
wealth objectives of the business owners become increasingly important.  Our second competency is a derivative of the first.  We 

have the personnel, skills and strategy and know how to provide private banking services that assist our individual clients to acquire 

assets, build wealth, and manage their resources.  Mortgage banking and the related activities in our model go hand-in-hand with 

supplying effective private banking services.  Unlike most banking companies, the heart of our Mortgage Division is ingrained into 

our commercial bank, serving the same clients side-by-side in a coordinated and seamless fashion.  We believe that lending is not 

enough in today’s environment to attract and retain commercial and professional clients.  The credit services must be backed up by 

competitive deposit and cash management products and operational excellence. We have made significant investments in skilled 

personnel and the latest technology to ensure we can deliver these services.  
 

We generally expect to have fewer branch locations compared to similar size banking companies. We do not view our branch 

network as a significant determinant of our growth.  Our marketing strategies focus on benefits other than branch location 

convenience. 

 

The goal was and is to generate at least 80% of the Corporation’s net income from the core business of the Bank, with the rest of our 

consolidated net income to be generated from related fee income activities.  During 2015, the Bank accounted for 87.3% of pretax 

earnings.  We will consider entering other related fee income businesses that serve our target market as opportunities, market 
conditions, and our capacity dictate.  See Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information on segment 

performance. 

 

We expect to grow our Bank by continuing to hire and train our own skilled personnel. We provide a sound infrastructure that 

facilitates the success of businesses, their owners and key personnel, not only today but tomorrow and on into the ensuing decades.  

We will consider growth by careful acquisition; however, that is not our primary focus. 

 

Lending Activities  
 

The Bank’s lending activities involve commercial real estate loans both owner occupied and non-owner occupied, residential real 

estate loans, commercial loans, commercial and real estate construction loans, home equity loans, and consumer loans.  These 

lending activities provide access to credit to small and medium sized businesses, professionals, and consumers in the greater 

Washington, D.C. Metropolitan Area. Loans originated by the Bank are classified as loans held for investment.  The Mortgage 

Division originates residential mortgages and home equity loans that are held on average fifteen to forty-five days pending their sale 

primarily to mortgage banking subsidiaries of large financial institutions. The Bank is also approved to sell loans directly to Fannie 

Mae and Freddie Mac and is able to securitize loans that are insured by the Federal Housing Administration.  In the past, when the 
Mortgage Division was a separate subsidiary of the Bank, the Bank would, in certain circumstances, purchase adjustable rate 

mortgage loans in the Bank’s market area directly from the Mortgage Corporation to supplement loan growth in the Bank’s 

portfolio.   The Bank did not retain any loans originated by the Mortgage Division for said purpose in 2015 but may retain loans in 

the future if management believes doing so would assist in achieving the Corporation’s strategic goals. Loans held in the Bank’s 

portfolio at December 31, 2015 resulting from the Mortgage Division’s inability to sell the loan to a third party totaled $3.1 million. 

Each of our principal loan types are described below. 

At December 31, 2015 loans held for investment totaled $887.5 million compared to $776.6 million at year end 2014.  The Bank 

continued to experience growth in all loan categories reflecting continued improvement in the local economic conditions.  

The Bank’s lending activities are subject to a variety of lending limits imposed by federal law. While differing limits apply in certain 

circumstances based on the type of loan, in general, the Bank’s lending limit to any one borrower on loans that are not fully secured 

by readily marketable or other permissible collateral is equal to 15% of the Bank’s capital and surplus.  Permissible collateral 

consists of:  inventory, accounts receivable, general intangibles, equipment, real estate, marketable securities, cash, and vehicles. 

The Bank has established relationships with correspondent banks to participate in loans when loan amounts exceed the Bank’s legal 

lending limits or internal lending policies.  At December 31, 2015 unsecured loans were comprised of $2.3 million in commercial 
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loans and approximately $510 thousand in consumer loans and collectively equal approximately 0.32% of the loans held for 

investment portfolio.  

We have an established credit policy that includes procedures for underwriting each type of loan and lending personnel have been 

assigned specific authorities based upon their experience.  Loans in excess of an individual loan officer’s authority are presented to 

our Loan Committee for approval.  The Loan Committee meets weekly to facilitate a timely approval process for our clients.  Loans 

are approved based on the borrower’s capacity for credit, collateral and sources of repayment. Loans are actively monitored to detect 

any potential performance issues.  We manage our loans within the context of a risk grading system developed by management 
based upon extensive experience in administering loan portfolios in our market.  Payment performance is carefully monitored for all 

loans.  When loan repayment is dependent upon an operating business or investment real estate, periodic financial reports, site visits, 

and select asset verification procedures are used to ensure that we accurately rate the relative risk of our assets.  Based upon criteria 

that are established by management and the Board of Directors, the degree of monitoring is escalated or relaxed for any given 

borrower based upon our assessment of the future repayment risk.   

The Bank does not currently hold any pay option adjustable rate mortgages, loans with teaser rates, subprime loans, Alt A loans or 

any other loans considered to be “high-risk loans” in its loans held for investment portfolio, and did not during 2015, 2014, or 2013. 

The Mortgage Division does not currently originate any subprime loans or Alt A loans, did not originate such loans in 2015, 2014, 

or 2013, and does not expect to offer these programs in the future. 

 

Loan Portfolio – Loans Held for Investment.  The following outlines the composition of loans held for investment.  
 

Commercial Real Estate Loans-Owner Occupied:  Loans in this category represent 24.77% of our loan portfolio held for investment, 

as of December 31, 2015.   This category represents loans supporting an owner occupied commercial property.  Repayment is 

dependent upon the cash flows generated by operation of the commercial property. Loans are secured by the subject property and 

underwritten to policy standards.  Policy standards approved by the Board of Directors from time to time set forth, among other 

considerations, loan to value limits, cash flow coverage ratios, and the general creditworthiness of the obligors. 

 

Commercial Real Estate Loans-Non-Owner Occupied:  Also known as Commercial Real Estate Loans-Income Producing.  Loans in 
this category represent 16.63% of our loan portfolio held for investment, as of December 31, 2015.  This category includes loans 

secured by commercial property that is leased to third parties and loans to non-profit organizations such as churches and schools. 

Also included in this category are loans secured by farmland and multifamily properties.  Repayment is dependent upon the cash 

flows generated from rents or by the non-profit organization. Loans are secured by the subject property and underwritten to policy 

standards. Policy standards approved by the Board of Directors from time to time set forth, among other considerations, loan to 

value limits, cash flow coverage ratios, and the general creditworthiness of the obligors. 

  

Residential Real Estate Loans:  This category includes loans secured by first or second mortgages on one to four family residential 
properties, generally extended to existing consumers of other Bank products, and represents 22.70% of the loan portfolio, as of 

December 31, 2015.  Of this amount, the following sub-categories exist as a percentage of the whole Residential Real Estate Loan 

portfolio:  Home Equity Lines of Credit 19.5%; First Trust Mortgage Loans 72.2%; Loans Secured by a Junior Trust 8.3%. 

 

Home Equity Loans are extended to borrowers in our target market.  Real estate equity is the largest component of consumer wealth 

in our marketplace.  Once approved, this consumer finance tool allows the borrowers to access the equity in their home or 

investment property and use the proceeds for virtually any purpose.  Home Equity Loans are most frequently secured by a second 

lien on residential property. One to Four Family Residential First Trust Loan, or First Trust Mortgage Loan, proceeds are used to 
acquire or refinance the primary financing on owner occupied and residential investment properties. Junior Trust Loans, or Loans 

Secured by Second Trust Loans, are to consumers wherein the proceeds have been used for a stated consumer purpose.  Examples of 

consumer purposes are education, refinancing debt, or purchasing consumer goods.  The loans are generally extended in a single 

disbursement and repaid over a specified period of time. 

 

Loans in the Residential Real Estate portfolio are underwritten to standards within a traditional consumer framework that is 

periodically reviewed and updated by our management and Board of Directors and includes analysis of: repayment source and 

capacity, value of the underlying property, credit history, savings pattern, and stability.  
 

Commercial Loans:  Commercial Loans represent 27.33% of our loan portfolio held for investment as of December 31, 2015.  These 

loans are to businesses or individuals within our target market for business purposes.  Typically the loan proceeds are used to 

support working capital and the acquisition of fixed assets of an operating business.  These loans are underwritten based upon our 

assessment of the obligor’s(s’) ability to generate operating cash flow in the future necessary to repay the loan.  To address the risks 

associated with the uncertainties of future cash flow, these loans are generally well secured by assets owned by the business or its 

principal shareholders and the principal shareholders are typically required to guarantee the loan. 
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Real Estate Construction Loans:  Real Estate Construction Loans, also known as construction and land development loans, comprise 

7.44% of our held for investment loan portfolio as of December 31, 2015.  These loans generally fall into one of four circumstances:  

loans to construct owner occupied commercial buildings, loans to individuals that are ultimately used to acquire property and 

construct an owner occupied residence, loans to builders for the purpose of acquiring property and constructing homes for sale to 
consumers, and loans to developers for the purpose of acquiring land that is developed into finished lots for the ultimate construction 

of residential or commercial buildings.  Loans of these types are generally secured by the subject property within limits established 

by the Board of Directors based upon an assessment of market conditions and up-dated from time to time.  The loans typically carry 

recourse to principal borrowers.  In addition to the repayment risk associated with loans to individuals and businesses, loans in this 

category carry construction completion risk.  To address this additional risk, loans of this type are subject to additional 

administrative procedures designed to verify and ensure progress of the project in accordance with allocated funding, project 

specifications, and time frames. 

 
Consumer Loans:  Consumer Loans make up approximately 1.13% of our loan portfolio as of December 31, 2015.  Most loans are 

well secured with assets other than real estate, such as marketable securities or automobiles.  Very few loans are unsecured.  As a 

matter of operation, management discourages unsecured lending.  Loans in this category are underwritten to standards within a 

traditional consumer framework that is periodically reviewed and updated by our management and Board of Directors: repayment 

source and capacity, collateral value, credit history, savings pattern, and stability.  

 

Loans Held for Sale (“LHFS”). Loans in this category are originated by the Mortgage Division and comprised of residential 

mortgage loans extended to consumers and underwritten in accordance with standards set forth by an institutional investor to whom 
we expect to sell the loan. Loan proceeds are used for the purchase or refinance of the property securing the loan.  Loans and 

servicing are sold concurrently.  The LHFS loans are closed in our name and carried on our books until the loan is delivered to and 

purchased by an investor, generally within fifteen to forty-five days.  In 2015, we originated $485 million of loans processed in this 

manner, up from $408 million in 2014.  At December 31, 2015 loans held for sale totaled $44.1 million compared to $45.0 million at 

year end 2014.  The amount of loans held for sale outstanding at the end of any given month fluctuates with the volume of loans 

closed during the month and the timing of loans purchased by investors.    

 

Brokered Loans 

 

Brokered loans are underwritten and closed by a third party lender.  We are paid a fee for procuring and packaging brokered loans.   

In 2015, we originated a total volume of $3.8 million in residential mortgage loans under this type of delivery method compared to 

$7.2 million in 2014.  Brokered loans accounted for 0.79% and 2.0% of the total loan volume of the Mortgage Division at December 

31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  The risks associated with this activity are limited to losses or claims arising from fraud.   

  

Deposits 

 
Deposits are the primary source of funding loan growth.  At December 31, 2015 deposits totaled $913.7 million compared to $755.4 

million at December 31, 2014.   

 

Market Area 

 

The Corporation, the Bank, the Mortgage Division, and ACM are headquartered in Fairfax County and primarily serve the Northern 

Virginia region and the Greater Washington, D.C. Metropolitan Area.  We believe that the economic conditions in Fairfax County 

provide a reasonable proxy for economic conditions across our primary market, the greater Washington, D.C. Metropolitan Area.  
Fairfax County is a diverse and thriving urban county.  Recent population figures reported by the U.S. Census Bureau show the 

county at 1,137,538 making it the most populous jurisdiction in the Commonwealth of Virginia, with about 13.7% of Virginia's 

population.  The proximity to Washington, D.C. and the influence of the federal government and its spending provides somewhat of 

a recession shelter for the area.  The Fairfax County government provides the following information about current economic 

conditions and trends in Fairfax County. 

  
During 2015, the average home sales price in Fairfax County increased 1.1 percent to $544 thousand compared to 2014.  Home sales 

volume also increased, from 13,549 in 2014 to 14,850 in 2015 for Fairfax County.   Home resale values in the Washington DC area 
continued to rise during 2015 as reported by Standard & Poor’s Case-Shiller Home Price Indices.  

 

According to the Federal Reserve Board’s Fifth District – Richmond March 2016 report, Virginia’s economy generally expanded 

according to the most recent data with positive employment reports, stable household conditions, and mostly positive housing 

market indicators.  Northern Virginia continued to see declines in commercial vacancy rates, from 14.2% in the second quarter of 

2014 to 12.2% in the second quarter of 2015.  
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At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank had approximately $147.6 million and $125.4 million, respectively in non-owner 

occupied income producing commercial real estate loans.  The properties securing these loans are generally small office buildings 

and industrial properties located in our trade area with less than ten tenants.  Income producing property loans are underwritten with 

personal and business guarantees that provide secondary sources of repayment and mitigate market risk factors. 

 

The unemployment rate for Fairfax County was 2.8% in December 2015 compared to 3.9% for the state of Virginia and 4.8% for the 

nation.  Median household income in Fairfax County was $110,507 compared to Virginia at $64,923.   

 

Competition 

 

The Bank competes with virtually all banks and financial institutions which offer services in its market area.  Much of this 

competition comes from large financial institutions headquartered outside the state of Virginia, each of which has greater financial 
and other resources to conduct large advertising campaigns and offer incentives.  To attract business in this competitive 

environment, the Bank relies on personal contact by its officers and directors, local promotional activities, and the ability to provide 

personalized custom services to small and medium sized businesses and professionals. In addition to providing full service banking, 

the Bank offers and promotes alternative and modern conveniences such as internet banking, automated clearinghouse transactions, 

remote deposit capture, and courier services for commercial clients. Because federal regulation of financial institutions changes 

regularly and is the subject of constant legislative debate, we cannot foresee how federal regulation of financial institutions may 

change in the future.  However, it is possible that current and future governmental regulatory and economic initiatives could impact 

the competitive landscape in the Bank’s markets.  

 

Employees 

 

At December 31, 2015 the Corporation had 249 employees, 129 of whom were employed by the Bank (excluding the Mortgage 

Division), 106 of whom were employed by the Mortgage Division, and 14 of whom were employed by the Wealth Management 

subsidiaries.  None of the employees of the Corporation are subject to a collective bargaining agreement.  Management considers 

employee relations to be good. 

 

Supervision and Regulation  

Set forth below is a brief description of the material laws and regulations that affect the Corporation. The description of these 

statutes and regulations is only a summary and is not a complete discussion or analysis. This discussion is qualified in its entirety by 
reference to the statutes and regulations summarized below. No assurance can be given that these statutes or regulations will not 

change in the future.  

General. The financial crisis of 2008, the threat of collapse of numerous financial institutions, and other recent events led to the 
adoption of numerous new laws and regulations that apply to and focus on financial institutions.  The most significant of these laws 

is the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (“Dodd-Frank Act”) which was adopted on July 21, 

2010 and, in part, is intended to implement significant structural reforms to the financial services industry.  The Dodd-Frank Act is 

discussed in more detail below. 

The Corporation continues to experience a period of rapidly changing regulations and an environment of constant regulatory reform.  

These regulatory changes could have a significant impact on how the Corporation conducts its business.  The specific implications 

of these new laws and regulations cannot yet be fully predicted and will depend to a large extent on the specific regulations that are 

adopted in the future.   

As a national bank, the Bank is subject to regulation, supervision, and regular examination by the Comptroller.  The prior approval 

of the Comptroller or other appropriate bank regulatory authority is required for a national bank to merge with another bank or 

purchase the assets or assume the deposits of another bank.  In reviewing applications seeking approval of merger and acquisition 

transactions, the bank regulatory authorities will consider, among other things, the competitive effect and public benefits of the 

transactions, the capital position of the combined organization, the risks to the stability of the U.S. banking or financial system, the 
applicant’s performance record under the Community Reinvestment Act (“CRA”) and fair housing initiatives, and the effectiveness 

of the subject organizations in combating money laundering activities.  Each depositor’s account with the Bank is insured by the 

FDIC to the maximum amount permitted by law. The Bank is also subject to certain regulations promulgated by the Federal Reserve 

Board and applicable provisions of Virginia law, insofar as they do not conflict with or are not preempted by federal banking law.  

The regulations of the FDIC, the Comptroller, and Federal Reserve Board govern most aspects of the Corporation’s business, 

including deposit reserve requirements, investments, loans, certain check clearing activities, issuance of securities, payment of 

dividends, branching, deposit interest rate ceilings, and numerous other matters. The Federal Reserve Board, the Comptroller and the 

FDIC have adopted guidelines and released interpretative materials that establish operational and managerial standards to promote 
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the safe and sound operation of banks and bank holding companies.  These standards relate to the institution’s key operating 

functions, including but not limited to capital management, internal controls, internal audit system, information systems and 

cybersecurity, loan documentation, credit underwriting, interest rate exposure and risk management, vendor management, executive 

management and its compensation, asset growth, asset quality, earnings, liquidity and risk management. 

As a consequence of the extensive regulation of commercial banking activities in the United States, the Corporation’s business is 

particularly susceptible to changes in state and federal legislation and regulations, which may have the effect of increasing the cost 

of doing business, limiting permissible activities or increasing competition. 

The Bank Holding Company Act. The Corporation is a bank holding company within the meaning of the Bank Holding Company 

Act of 1956, and is registered as such with, and subject to the supervision of, the Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Reserve 

Bank of Richmond.  A bank holding company is required to obtain the approval of the Federal Reserve Board before making certain 
acquisitions or engaging in certain activities.  Bank holding companies and their subsidiaries are also subject to restrictions on 

transactions with insiders and affiliates. 

Generally, a bank holding company is required to obtain the approval of the Federal Reserve Board before it may acquire all or 

substantially all of the assets of any bank, and before it may acquire ownership or control of the voting shares of any bank if, after 

giving effect to the acquisition, the bank holding company would own or control more than 5% of the voting shares of such bank. 

The Federal Reserve Board’s approval is also required for the merger or consolidation of bank holding companies.  

The Corporation is required to file periodic reports with the Federal Reserve Board and provide any additional information as the 

Federal Reserve Board may require. The Federal Reserve Board also has the authority to examine the Corporation and the Bank, as 

well as any arrangements between the Corporation and the Bank, with the cost of any such examinations to be borne by the 

Corporation. The Federal Reserve Board has the power to order any bank holding company or its subsidiaries to terminate any 

activity or to terminate its ownership or control of any subsidiary when the Federal Reserve Board has reasonable grounds to believe 

that continuation of such activity or ownership constitutes a serious risk to the financial soundness, safety or stability of any bank 

subsidiary of the bank holding company. 

Banking subsidiaries of bank holding companies are also subject to certain restrictions imposed by federal law in dealings with their 

holding companies and other affiliates.  

The Dodd-Frank Act.    The Dodd-Frank Act implements far-reaching changes across the financial regulatory landscape, including 

changes that will affect all bank holding companies and banks, including the Corporation and the Bank.  Provisions of the Dodd-

Frank Act that significantly affect the business of the Corporation and the Bank include the following: 

 Creation of a new agency, Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”), that has rulemaking authority for a wide range 

of consumer protection laws that would apply to all banks and have broad powers to supervise and enforce consumer 

protection laws.  
 

 Changes in standards for Federal preemption of state laws related to federally chartered institutions, such as the Bank, and 

their subsidiaries. 

 

 Permanent increase of deposit insurance coverage to $250 thousand and permission for depository institutions to pay 

interest on business checking accounts. 

 

 Changes in the assessment base for federal deposit insurance from the amount of insured deposits to consolidated assets 

less tangible capital, eliminates the ceiling on the size of the Deposit Insurance Fund (“DIF’), and increases the floor of the 
size of the DIF. 

 

 Prohibition on banks and their affiliates from engaging in proprietary trading and investing in and sponsoring certain 

unregistered investment companies (the “Volker Rule”). 

 

 Requires loan originators to retain 5 percent of any loan sold or securitized, unless it is a “qualified residential mortgage”, 

subject to certain exceptions.  

 
Some of the rules that have been proposed and, in some cases, adopted to comply with the Dodd-Frank Act’s mandates are discussed 

further below. 
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Dividends. There are both federal and state regulatory restrictions on dividend payments by both the Bank and the Corporation that 
may affect the Corporation’s ability to pay dividends on its common stock. As a bank holding company, the Corporation is a 

separate legal entity from the Bank.  Virtually all of the Corporation’s income results from dividends paid to the Corporation by the 

Bank.  The amount of dividends that may be paid by the Bank depends upon the Bank’s net income and capital position and is 
limited by federal and state law, regulations, and policies.  In addition to specific regulations governing the permissibility of 

dividends, the Federal Reserve Board and the Comptroller are generally authorized to prohibit payment of dividends if they 

determine that the payment of dividends by the Corporation or the Bank, respectively, would be an unsafe and unsound banking 

practice.  The Corporation began paying dividends in February 2006 and, as of March 15, 2016, meets all regulatory requirements to 

continue doing so.  The Corporation declared and paid dividends totaling $6.2 million in 2015 discussed in more detail under 

“Item 5 - Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities”. 

Capital Requirements. The Federal Reserve Board, the Comptroller and the FDIC have adopted rules to implement the Basel III 

capital framework as outlined by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and standards for calculating risk-weighted assets 

and risk-based capital measurements (collectively, the “Basel III Final Rules”) that apply to banking organizations they supervise. 

For the purposes of these capital rules, (i) common equity tier 1 capital (“CET1”) consists principally of common stock (including 

surplus) and retained earnings; (ii) Tier 1 capital consists principally of CET1 plus non-cumulative preferred stock and related 
surplus, and certain grandfathered cumulative preferred stocks and trust preferred securities; and (iii) Tier 2 capital consists 

principally of Tier 1 capital plus qualifying subordinated debt and preferred stock, and limited amounts of the allowance for loan 

losses. Each regulatory capital classification is subject to certain adjustments and limitations, as implemented by the Basel III Final 

Rules. The Basel III Final Rules also establish risk weightings that are applied to many classes of assets held by community banks, 

importantly including applying higher risk weightings to certain commercial real estate loans. 

The Basel III Final Rules were effective on January 1, 2015, and the Basel III Final Rules capital conservation buffer (as described 

below) will be phased in from 2015 to 2019. 

When fully phased in, the Basel III Final Rules require banks to maintain (i) a minimum ratio of CET1 to risk-weighted assets (the 

“CET1 Capital Ratio”) of at least 4.5%, plus a 2.5% “capital conservation buffer”  (which is added to the 4.5% CET1 ratio as that 

buffer is phased in, effectively resulting in a minimum ratio of CET1 to risk-weighted assets of at least 7%), (ii) a minimum ratio of 

Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets (the “Tier 1 Capital Ratio”) of at least 6.0%, plus the capital conservation buffer (which is 

added to the 6.0% Tier 1 capital ratio as that buffer is phased in, effectively resulting in a minimum Tier 1 capital ratio of 8.5% upon 

full implementation), (iii) a minimum ratio of total (that is, Tier 1 plus Tier 2) capital to risk-weighted assets (the “Total Capital 
Ratio”) of at least 8.0%, plus the capital conservation buffer (which is added to the 8.0% total capital ratio as that buffer  is phased in, 

effectively resulting in a minimum total capital ratio of 10.5% upon full implementation) and (iv) a minimum leverage ratio (the 

“Leverage Ratio”) of 4%, calculated as the ratio of Tier 1 capital to balance sheet exposures plus certain off-balance sheet exposures 

(computed as the average for each quarter of the month-end ratios for the quarter). 

 

The Basel III Final Rules provide deductions from and adjustments to regulatory capital measures, and primarily to CET1, including 

deductions and adjustments that were not applied to reduce CET1 under historical regulatory capital rules. For example, mortgage 

servicing rights, deferred tax assets dependent upon future taxable income and significant investments in non-consolidated financial 
entities must be deducted from CET1 to the extent that any one such category exceeds 10% of CET1 or all such categories in the 

aggregate exceed 15% of CET1. These deductions from and adjustments to regulatory capital will generally be phased in beginning 

in 2015 through 2018. The Basel III Final Rules permanently includes in Tier 1 capital trust preferred securities issued prior to May 

19, 2010 by bank holding companies with less than $15 billion in total assets, subject to a limit of 25% of Tier 1 capital.  

The Basel III Final Rules also implement a “countercyclical capital buffer,” generally designed to absorb losses during periods of 
economic stress and to be imposed when national regulators determine that excess aggregate credit growth becomes associated with 

a buildup of systemic risk. This buffer is a CET1 add-on to the capital conservation buffer in the range of 0% to 2.5% when fully 

implemented (potentially resulting in total buffers of between 2.5% and 5%). 

Prompt Corrective Action. The federal banking agencies have broad powers to take prompt corrective action to resolve problems of 

insured depositary institutions.  Under the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991 (“FDICIA”), there are 

five capital categories applicable to insured institutions, each with specific regulatory consequences.  The extent of the agencies’ 

powers depends on whether the institution in question is “well capitalized”, “adequately capitalized”, “undercapitalized”, 

“significantly undercapitalized”, or “critically undercapitalized”, as such terms are defined under uniform regulations issued by each 

of the federal banking agencies.  If the appropriate federal banking agency determines that an insured institution is in an unsafe or 
unsound condition, it may reclassify the institution to a lower capital category (other than critically undercapitalized) and require the 

submission of a plan to correct the unsafe or unsound condition.  

Failure to meet statutorily mandated capital guidelines or more restrictive ratios separately established for a financial institution 

could subject the Corporation and the Bank to a variety of enforcement remedies, including issuance of a capital directive, the 
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termination of deposit insurance by the FDIC, a prohibition on accepting or renewing brokered deposits, limitations on the rates of 

interest that the institution may pay on its deposits and other restrictions on its business.  In addition, an institution cannot make a 

capital distribution, such as a dividend or other distribution that is in substance a distribution of capital to the owners of the 

institution if following such a distribution the institution would be undercapitalized. Thus, if payment of such a distribution would 

cause the Bank to become undercapitalized, it could not pay a dividend to the Corporation.  

Deposit Insurance. The Bank’s deposits are insured by the DIF of the FDIC up to the standard maximum insurance amount for each 

deposit insurance ownership category. The basic limit on FDIC deposit insurance coverage is $250,000 per depositor. Under the 
FDIA, the FDIC may terminate deposit insurance upon a finding that the institution has engaged in unsafe and unsound practices, is 

in an unsafe or unsound condition to continue operations, or has violated any applicable law, regulation, rule, order or condition 

imposed by the FDIC, subject to administrative and potential judicial hearing and review processes.  

 

The DIF is funded by assessments on banks and other depository institutions calculated based on average consolidated total assets 

minus average tangible equity (defined as Tier 1 capital). As required by the Dodd-Frank Act, the FDIC has adopted a large-bank 

pricing assessment scheme, set a target “designated reserve ratio” (described in more detail below) of 2 percent for the DIF and 

established a lower assessment rate schedule when the reserve ratio reaches 1.15 percent and, in lieu of dividends, provides for a 
lower assessment rate schedule, when the reserve ratio reaches 2 percent and 2.5 percent. An institution's assessment rate depends 

upon the institution's assigned risk category, which is based on supervisory evaluations, regulatory capital levels and certain other 

factors. Initial base assessment rates ranges from 2.5 to 45 basis points. The FDIC may make the following further adjustments to an 

institution’s initial base assessment rates: decreases for long-term unsecured debt including most senior unsecured debt and 

subordinated debt; increases for holding long-term unsecured debt or subordinated debt issued by other insured depository 

institutions; and increases for broker deposits in excess of 10 percent of domestic deposits for institutions not well rated and well 

capitalized. 

 
The Dodd-Frank Act transferred to the FDIC increased discretion with regard to managing the required amount of reserves for the 

DIF, or the “designated reserve ratio.” Among other changes, the Dodd-Frank Act (i) raised the minimum designated reserve ratio to 

1.35 percent and removed the upper limit on the designated reserve ratio, (ii) requires that the designated reserve ratio reach 1.35 

percent by September 2020, and (iii) requires the FDIC to offset the effect on institutions with total consolidated assets of less than 

$10 billion of raising the designated reserve ratio from 1.15 percent to 1.35 percent – which requirement will be met by rules 

proposed by the FDIC during 2015. The FDIA requires that the FDIC consider the appropriate level for the designated reserve ratio 

on at least an annual basis. The FDIC has adopted a new DIF restoration plan to ensure that the fund reserve ratio reaches 1.35 

percent by September 30, 2020, as required by the Dodd-Frank Act. 

Confidentiality and Required Disclosures of Financial Information.  The Corporation is subject to various laws and regulations 

that address the privacy of nonpublic personal financial information of consumers.  The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and certain other 

regulations issued thereunder protect against the transfer and use by financial institutions of consumer nonpublic personal 
information. A financial institution must provide to its customers, at the beginning of the customer relationship and annually 

thereafter, the institution’s policies and procedures regarding the handling of customers’ nonpublic personal financial information. 

These privacy provisions generally prohibit a financial institution from providing a customer’s personal financial information to 

unaffiliated third parties unless the institution discloses to the customer that the information may be so provided and the customer is 

given the opportunity to opt out of such disclosure.  

The Corporation is subject to various laws and regulations that attempt to combat money laundering and terrorist financing.  The 

Bank Secrecy Act requires all financial institutions to, among other things, create a system of controls designed to prevent money 

laundering, the financing of terrorism, and imposes recordkeeping and reporting requirements. The USA Patriot Act provides for the 

facilitation of information sharing among governmental entities and financial institutions for the purpose of combating terrorism and 

money laundering. Certain provisions of the USA PATRIOT Act impose the obligation to establish anti-money laundering 
programs.  The Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”) has sent, and will send, our banking regulatory agencies lists of the names 

of persons suspected of involvement in terrorist activities. The Bank has been requested, and will be requested, to search its records 

for any relationships or transactions with persons on those lists. If the Bank finds any relationships or transactions, it must file a 

suspicious activity report and contact the FBI.  The Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”), which is a division of the U.S. 

Treasury, is responsible for helping to insure that United States entities do not engage in transactions with “enemies” of the United 

States, as defined by various Executive Orders and Acts of Congress. OFAC has sent, and will send, our banking regulatory agencies 

lists of names of persons and organizations suspected of aiding, harboring or engaging in terrorist acts, and publicly releases 

information on designations of persons and organizations suspected of engaging in these activities. If the Bank finds a name on any 
transaction, account or wire transfer that is on an OFAC list, it must freeze such account or place transferred funds in a blocked 

account, file a suspicious activity report and notify the FBI.  
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Community Reinvestment Act.  The Bank is subject to the requirements of CRA. The CRA imposes on financial institutions an 
affirmative and ongoing obligation to meet the credit needs of their local communities, including low and moderate-income 

neighborhoods, consistent with the safe and sound operation of those institutions. A financial institution’s efforts in meeting 

community credit needs currently are evaluated as part of the examination process pursuant to three performance tests. These factors 
also are considered in evaluating mergers, acquisitions, and applications to open a branch or facility. In April 2015, the Bank 

received a “satisfactory” CRA rating. 

Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) of Atlanta. The Bank is a member of the FHLB of Atlanta, which is one of twelve regional 
FHLBs that provide funding to their members for making housing loans as well as for affordable housing and community 

development lending. Each FHLB serves as a reserve or central bank for its members within its assigned region. It is funded 

primarily from proceeds derived from the sale of consolidated obligations of the FHLB System. It makes loans to members (i.e., 

advances) in accordance with policies and procedures established by the Board of Directors of the FHLB. As a member the Bank is 

required to purchase and maintain stock in the FHLB in an amount equal to 4.5% of aggregate outstanding advances in addition to 

the membership stock requirement of 0.09% of the Bank’s total assets.  

Consumer Protection. The Dodd-Frank Act created the CFPB, a federal regulatory agency that is responsible for implementing, 

examining and enforcing compliance with federal consumer financial laws for institutions with more than $10 billion of assets and, 

to a lesser extent, smaller institutions. The Dodd-Frank Act gives the CFPB authority to supervise and regulate providers of 

consumer financial products and services, and establishes the CFPB’s power to act against unfair, deceptive or abusive practices, 

and gives the CFPB rulemaking authority in connection with numerous federal consumer financial protection laws (for example, 
but not limited to, the Truth-in-Lending Act and the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act). 

As a smaller institution (i.e., with assets of $10 billion or less), most consumer protection aspects of the Dodd-Frank Act will 
continue to be applied to the Corporation by the Federal Reserve Board and to the Bank by the Comptroller. However, the CFPB 

may include its own examiners in regulatory examinations by a small institution’s prudential regulators and may require smaller 

institutions to comply with certain CFPB reporting requirements. In addition, regulatory positions taken by the CFPB and 

administrative and legal precedents established by CFPB enforcement activities, including in connection with supervision of larger 

bank holding companies, could influence how the Federal Reserve Board and Comptroller apply consumer protection laws and 

regulations to financial institutions that are not directly supervised by the CFPB. The precise effect of the CFPB’s consumer 

protection activities on the Corporation and the Bank cannot be determined with certainty. 

Mortgage Banking Regulation. The Mortgage Division is subject to the rules and regulations of, and examination by, HUD, the 

Federal Housing Administration, the Department of Veterans Affairs, and state regulatory authorities with respect to originating, 

processing, and selling mortgage loans. Those rules and regulations, among other things, establish standards for loan origination, 

prohibit discrimination, provide for inspections and appraisals of property, require credit reports on prospective borrowers, and, in 
some cases, restrict certain loan features and fix maximum interest rates and fees. In addition to other federal laws, mortgage 

origination activities are subject to the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, Truth-in-Lending Act, Home Mortgage Disclosure Act, Real 

Estate Settlement Procedures Act, and Home Ownership Equity Protection Act, and the regulations promulgated there under. These 

laws prohibit discrimination, require the disclosure of certain basic information to mortgagors concerning credit and settlement 

costs, limit payment for settlement services to the reasonable value of the services rendered, and require the maintenance and 

disclosure of information regarding the disposition of mortgage applications based on race, gender, geographical distribution, and 

income level.  

 
The Mortgage Division’s mortgage origination activities are also subject to Regulation Z, which implements the Truth-in-Lending 

Act. Certain provisions of Regulation Z require mortgage lenders to make a reasonable and good faith determination, based on 

verified and documented information, that a consumer applying for a mortgage loan has a reasonable ability to repay the loan 

according to its terms. Alternatively, a mortgage lender can originate “qualified mortgages”, which are generally defined as 

mortgage loans without negative amortization, interest-only payments, balloon payments, terms exceeding 30 years, and points and 

fees paid by a consumer equal to or less than 3% of the total loan amount. Higher-priced qualified mortgages (e.g., subprime loans) 

receive a rebuttable presumption of compliance with ability-to-repay rules, and other qualified mortgages (e.g., prime loans) are 

deemed to comply with the ability-to-repay rules. The Mortgage Division predominately originates mortgage loans that comply with 
Regulation Z’s “qualified mortgage” rules. 

 

Consumer Laws and Regulations. The Bank is also subject to certain consumer laws and regulations that are designed to protect 

consumers in transactions with banks.  While the list set forth herein is not exhaustive, these laws and regulations include the Truth 

in Lending Act, the Truth in Savings Act, the Electronic Funds Transfer Act, the Expedited Funds Availability Act, the Equal Credit 

Opportunity Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, and the Fair Housing Act, among others.  These laws and regulations mandate 

certain disclosure requirements and regulate the manner in which financial institutions transact business with customers.  The Bank 

must comply with the applicable provisions of these consumer protection laws and regulations as part of its ongoing customer 
relations. 
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Incentive Compensation.  The Federal Reserve Board, the Comptroller and the FDIC issued regulatory guidance intended to ensure 

that the incentive compensation policies of banking organizations do not undermine the safety and soundness of such organizations 

by encouraging excessive risk-taking.  
 

The Federal Reserve Board will review, as part of the regular, risk-focused examination process, the incentive compensation 

arrangements of banking organizations, such as the Corporation, that are not “large, complex banking organizations.” The findings 

will be included in reports of examination and deficiencies will be incorporated into the organization's supervisory ratings. 

Enforcement actions may be taken against a banking organization if its incentive compensation arrangements, or related risk-

management control or governance processes, pose a risk to the organization's safety and soundness and the organization is not 

taking prompt and effective measures to correct the deficiencies. 

 
The Dodd-Frank Act requires the SEC and the federal bank regulatory agencies to establish joint regulations or guidelines that 

require financial institutions with assets of at least $1 billion to disclose the structure of their incentive compensation practices and 

prohibit such institutions from maintaining compensation arrangements that encourage inappropriate risk-taking by providing 

excessive compensation or that could lead to material financial loss to the financial institution. The SEC and the federal bank 

regulatory agencies proposed such regulations in March 2011. If the regulations are adopted in the form initially proposed, they will 

impose limitations on the manner in which the Corporation may structure compensation for its executives only if the Corporation’s 

total consolidated assets exceed $1 billion. These proposed regulations incorporate the principles discussed in the Incentive 

Compensation Guidance.  The comment period for these proposed regulations has closed, and a final rule has not yet been 
published. 

 

Stress Testing.  As required by the Dodd-Frank Act, the federal banking agencies have implemented stress testing requirements for 

certain financial institutions, including bank holding companies and state chartered banks, with more than $10 billion in total 

consolidated assets.  Although these requirements do not apply to institutions with $10 billion or less in total consolidated assets, the 

federal banking agencies, including the Comptroller, emphasize that all banking organizations, regardless of size, should have the 

capacity to analyze the potential impact of adverse market conditions or outcomes on the organization’s financial condition.  Based 

on existing regulatory guidance, the Corporation and the Bank will be expected to consider the institution’s interest rate risk 
management, commercial real estate concentrations and other credit-related information, and funding and liquidity management 

during this analysis of adverse market conditions or outcomes. 

 

Volcker Rule. The Dodd-Frank Act prohibits bank holding companies and their subsidiary banks from engaging in proprietary 

trading except in limited circumstances, and places limits on ownership of equity investments in private equity and hedge funds (the 

“Volcker Rule”).  On December 10, 2013, the U.S. financial regulatory agencies (including the Federal Reserve Board, the FDIC, 

the Comptroller and the SEC) adopted final rules to implement the Volcker Rule.  In relevant part, these final rules would have 

prohibited banking entities from owning collateralized debt obligations (CDOs) backed by trust preferred securities (TruPS), 
effective July 21, 2015.  However, subsequent to these final rules the U.S. financial regulatory agencies issued an interim rule 

effective April 1, 2014 to exempt CDOs backed by TruPS from the final rule implementing the Volker Rule, provided that (a) the 

CDO was established prior to May 19, 2010, (b) the banking entity reasonably believes that the CDO’s offering proceeds were used 

to invest primarily in TruPS issued by banks with less than $15 billion in assets, and (c) the banking entity acquired the CDO 

investment on or before December 10, 2013.  The Corporation currently does not have any CDO investments, and was not 

significantly impacted by the Volcker Rule, the final rule or the interim rule.   
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ITEM 1A – RISK FACTORS 

 

Risks Related to the Corporation’s Business 

 

Our future success will depend on our ability to compete effectively in the highly competitive financial services industry in 

Northern Virginia. 

 

We face substantial competition in all phases of our operations from a variety of different competitors.  In particular, there is very 

strong competition for financial services in Northern Virginia and the greater Washington, D.C. Metropolitan Area in which we 

conduct a substantial portion of our business.  We compete with commercial banks, credit unions, savings and loan associations, 

mortgage banking firms, consumer finance companies, securities brokerage firms, insurance companies, money market funds and 

other mutual funds, as well as other local and community, super-regional, national and international financial institutions that 
operate offices in our primary market areas and elsewhere.  Our future growth and success will depend on our ability to compete 

effectively in this highly competitive financial services environment.  Many of our competitors are well-established, larger financial 

institutions and many offer products and services that we do not.  Many have substantially greater resources, name recognition and 

market presence that benefit them in attracting business.  Some of our competitors are not subject to the same regulation as is 

imposed on bank holding companies and federally-insured national banks, including credit unions which do not pay federal income 

tax, and, therefore, have regulatory advantages over us in accessing funding and in providing various services.  While we believe we 

compete effectively with these other financial institutions in our primary markets, we may face a competitive disadvantage as a 

result of our smaller size, smaller asset base, lack of geographic diversification and inability to spread our marketing costs across a 
broader market.  If we have to raise interest rates paid on deposits or lower interest rates charged on loans to compete effectively, our 

net interest margin and income could be negatively affected.  Failure to compete effectively to attract new or to retain existing 

clients may reduce or limit our net income and our market share and may adversely affect our results of operations, financial 

condition and growth. 

 

Our profitability depends on interest rates generally, and we may be adversely affected by changes in government monetary 

policy or by fluctuations in interest rates.  
 
Our profitability depends in substantial part on our net interest margin, which is the difference between the rates we receive on loans 

and investments and the rates we pay for deposits and other sources of funds.  Our net interest margin depends on many factors that 

are partly or completely outside of our control, including competition, federal economic, monetary and fiscal policies, and economic 

conditions generally.  Our net interest income will be adversely affected if market interest rates change so that the interest we pay on 

deposits and borrowings increases faster than the interest we earn on loans and investments. 

 

Changes in interest rates, particularly by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve Board, which implements national monetary 

policy in order to mitigate recessionary and inflationary pressures, also affect the value of our loans.  In setting its policy, the Federal 
Reserve Board may utilize techniques such as: (i) engaging in open market transactions in United States government securities; (ii) 

setting the discount rate on member bank borrowings; and (iii) determining reserve requirements.  These techniques may have an 

adverse effect on our deposit levels, net interest margin, loan demand or our business and operations.  In addition, an increase in 

interest rates could adversely affect borrowers’ ability to pay the principal or interest on existing loans or reduce their desire to 

borrow more money.  This may lead to an increase in our non-performing assets, a decrease in loan originations, or a reduction in 

the value of and income from our loans, any of which could have a material and negative effect on our results of operations.  We try 

to minimize our exposure to interest rate risk, but we are unable to completely eliminate this risk.  Fluctuations in market rates and 

other market disruptions are neither predictable nor controllable and may have a material and negative effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.  In addition, the Federal Reserve Board’s Federal Open Market Committee has stated 

that it expects to keep the federal funds target rate at 0.25% - 0.50%  until economic and labor conditions (as indicated by the 

unemployment rate and the inflation rate) improve.  Sustained low interest rates could put further pressure on the yields generated by 

the Corporation’s loan portfolio and on the Corporation’s net interest margin.  

 

At December 31, 2015 approximately 58% of the loans held for investment were variable rate loans.  A majority of these loans are 

based on the prime rate and will adjust upwards as the prime rate increases.  While the variable rate structure on these loans reduces 

interest rate risk for the Bank, increases in rates may cause the borrower’s required payment to increase which, in turn, may increase 
the risk of payment default. 

 

Because we make loans primarily to local small and medium sized businesses, our profitability depends significantly on local 

economic conditions, particularly real estate values, and the success of those businesses. 
 

As a lender, we are exposed to the risk that our loan clients may not repay their loans according to their terms and any collateral 

securing payment may be insufficient to fully compensate us for the outstanding balance of the loan plus the costs we incur 

disposing of the collateral.  Although we have collateral for most of our loans, that collateral can fluctuate in value and may not 

always cover the outstanding balance on the loan.  With most of our loans concentrated in Northern Virginia, a decline in local 
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economic conditions could adversely affect the values of our real estate collateral.  Consequently, a decline in local economic 

conditions may have a greater effect on our net income and capital than on the net income and capital of larger financial institutions 

whose real estate loan portfolios are more geographically diverse. 

 
In addition to assessing the financial strength and cash flow characteristics of each of our borrowers, the Bank often secures loans 

with real estate collateral.  At December 31, 2015, approximately 74% of our Bank’s loans held for investment have real estate as a 

primary or secondary component of collateral.  The real estate collateral in each case provides an alternate source of repayment in 

the event of default by the borrower and may deteriorate in value during the time the credit is extended.  If we are required to 

liquidate the collateral securing a loan to satisfy the debt during a period of reduced real estate values, our net income and capital 

could be adversely affected. 

 

Our business strategy includes the continuation of our growth plans, and our financial condition and results of operations 

could be negatively affected if we fail to grow or fail to manage our growth effectively. 
 

We intend to continue to grow in our existing banking markets (internally and through additional offices) and to expand into new 

markets as appropriate opportunities arise.  Our prospects must be considered in light of the risks, expenses and difficulties 

frequently encountered by companies that are experiencing growth.  We cannot assure you we will be able to expand our market 

presence in our existing markets or successfully enter new markets, or that any expansion will not adversely affect our results of 

operations.  Failure to manage our growth effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business, future prospects, 

financial condition or results of operations, and could adversely affect our ability to successfully implement our business strategy.  
Also, if our growth occurs more slowly than anticipated or declines, our operating results could be materially affected in an adverse 

way. Our ability to successfully grow will depend on a variety of factors, including the continued availability of desirable business 

opportunities, the competitive responses from other financial institutions in our market areas and our ability to manage our growth.  

While we believe we have the management resources and internal systems in place to successfully manage our future growth, there 

can be no assurance growth opportunities will be available or growth will be successfully managed. 

 

Although we have made a limited number of acquisitions, we may face a broad range of risks in connection with future 

acquisitions that could result in those acquisitions not increasing shareholder value. 
 

As a strategy, we have sought to increase the size of our business by pursuing business development opportunities, and we have 

grown rapidly since our incorporation.  As part of that strategy, we have acquired three mortgage companies, a wealth management 

company, and a small equipment leasing company.  We may acquire other financial institutions and mortgage companies, or parts of 

those entities, in the future.  Acquisitions and mergers involve a number of risks, including: 

 

 

 

     the estimates and judgments used to evaluate credit, operations, management and market risks 

with respect to the target entity may not be accurate; 

 

     the time and costs of evaluating new markets, hiring experienced local management and opening 

new offices, and the time lags between these activities and the generation of sufficient assets and 
deposits to support the costs of the expansion; 

 

     our ability to finance an acquisition and possible ownership or economic dilution to our current 

shareholders; 

 

     the diversion of our management’s attention to the negotiation of a transaction, and the integration 

of the operations and personnel of the combining businesses; 

 

     entry into new markets where we lack experience; 

 

     the introduction of new products and services into our business; 

 

     the incurrence and possible impairment of goodwill associated with an acquisition and possible 

adverse short-term effects on our results of operations; and 

 

     the potential loss of key employees and clients. 

 
We may incur substantial costs to expand, and we can give no assurance such expansion will result in the levels of profits we seek.  

     the time and costs associated with identifying and evaluating potential acquisitions and merger 

partners; 
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There can be no assurance that integration efforts for any future mergers or acquisitions will be successful.  Also, we may issue 

equity securities, including common stock and securities convertible into shares of our common stock, in connection with future 

acquisitions, which could cause ownership and economic dilution to our current shareholders. There is no assurance that, following 

any future merger or acquisition, our integration efforts will be successful or our company, after giving effect to the acquisition, will 
achieve profits comparable to or better than our historical experience. 

 

Our allowance for loan losses could become inadequate and reduce our net income and capital. 
 

We maintain an allowance for loan losses that we believe is adequate for absorbing any potential losses in our loan portfolio.  

Management conducts a periodic review and consideration of the loan portfolio to determine the amount of the allowance for loan 

losses based upon general market conditions, credit quality of the loan portfolio and performance of our clients relative to their 

financial obligations with us.  The amount of future losses, however, is susceptible to changes in borrowers’ circumstances and 
economic and other market conditions, including changes in interest rates and collateral values that are beyond our control, and these 

future losses may exceed our current estimates.  Our allowance for loan losses at December 31, 2015 was $13.6 million.  Although 

we believe the allowance for loan losses is adequate to absorb probable losses in our loan portfolio, we cannot predict such losses or 

guarantee that our allowance will be adequate in the future.  Excessive loan losses could have a material impact on our financial 

performance and reduce our net income and capital. 

 

Our future liquidity needs could exceed our available liquidity sources, which could limit our asset growth and adversely 

affect our results of operations and financial condition.  
 

We rely on dividends from the Bank as our primary source of funds.  The primary sources of funds of the Bank are client deposits 

and loan repayments.  While scheduled loan repayments are a relatively stable source of funds, they are subject to the ability of 

borrowers to repay the loans.  The ability of borrowers to repay loans can be adversely affected by a number of factors, including 

changes in economic conditions, adverse trends or events affecting business industry groups, reductions in real estate values or 

markets, business closings or lay-offs, inclement weather, natural disasters and international instability.  Additionally, deposit levels 

may be affected by a number of factors, including rates paid by competitors, general interest rate levels, regulatory capital 

requirements, returns available to clients on alternative investments and general economic conditions.  Accordingly, we may be 
required from time to time to rely on secondary sources of liquidity to meet withdrawal demands or otherwise fund operations.  Such 

sources include FHLB advances, sales of securities and loans, and federal funds lines of credit from correspondent banks, as well as 

out-of-market time deposits.  While we believe that these sources are currently adequate, there can be no assurance they will be 

sufficient to meet future liquidity demands, particularly if we continue to grow and experience increasing loan demand.  We may be 

required to slow or discontinue loan growth, capital expenditures or other investments or liquidate assets should such sources not be 

adequate. 

 

We are subject to extensive regulation that could limit or restrict our activities and adversely affect our net income.   
 

We operate in a highly regulated industry, and both the Corporation and the Bank are subject to extensive regulation and supervision 

by the Federal Reserve Board, the Comptroller, and the FDIC.  Our compliance with these regulations is costly and restricts certain 

of our activities, including payment of dividends, mergers and acquisitions, investments, loans and interest rates charged, interest 

rates paid on deposits and locations of offices.  We are also subject to capitalization guidelines established by our regulators, which 

require us to maintain adequate capital to support our growth.  Many of these regulations are intended to protect depositors and the 

FDIC’s DIF rather than our shareholders. 

 
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the related rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC and NASDAQ that are applicable to 

us, have increased the scope, complexity and cost of corporate governance, reporting and disclosure practices, including the cost of 

completing our audit and maintaining our internal controls.  As a result, we have experienced and expect to continue to experience  

greater compliance costs.   

 

Congress and federal regulatory agencies continually review banking laws, regulations and policies for possible changes. Changes to 

statutes, regulations or regulatory policies, including changes in interpretation or implementation of statutes, regulations or policies, 

could affect the Corporation in substantial and unpredictable ways. Such changes could subject the Corporation to additional costs, 
limit the types of financial services and products the Corporation may offer and/or increase the ability of non-banks that are not 

subject to similar regulation to offer competing financial services and products, which could place these non-banks in stronger, more 

favorable competitive positions and which could adversely affect the Corporation’s growth and ability to operate profitably. Failure 

to comply with laws, regulations or policies could result in sanctions by regulatory agencies, civil money penalties and/or reputation 

damage, which could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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The Dodd-Frank Act has increased the Corporation’s regulatory compliance burden and associated costs, placed restrictions 

on certain products and services, increases the risk and liability of consumer litigation, and limited its future capital raising 

strategies.   

 
A wide range of regulatory initiatives directed at the financial services industry has been proposed and/or implemented in recent 

years. One of those initiatives, the Dodd-Frank Act, was enacted in 2010 and mandates significant changes in the financial 

regulatory landscape that have impacted and will continue to impact all financial institutions, including the Corporation and the 

Bank.  Since its enactment, the Dodd-Frank Act has increased, and will likely continue to increase, the Corporation’s regulatory 

compliance burden and may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation by increasing the costs associated with regulatory 

examinations and compliance measures. However, it is too early to fully assess the impact of the Dodd-Frank Act and subsequent 

regulatory rulemaking processes on the Corporation’s and the Bank’s business, financial condition or results of operations. 

  
Among the Dodd-Frank Act’s significant regulatory changes, the Act created the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau , a  

financial consumer protection agency that has the authority to impose new regulations and include its examiners in routine 

regulatory examinations conducted by the Comptroller. The CFPB may reshape the consumer financial laws through rulemaking and 

enforcement of the Dodd-Frank Act’s prohibitions against unfair, deceptive and abusive business practices, which may directly 

impact the business operations of financial institutions offering consumer financial products or services, including the Corporation 

and the Bank.  This agency’s broad rulemaking authority includes identifying practices or acts that are unfair, deceptive or abusive 

in connection with any consumer financial transaction or consumer financial product or service.  Although the CFPB generally has 

jurisdiction over banks with $10 billion or greater in assets, rules, regulations and policies issued by the CFPB may also apply to the 
Corporation, the Bank and/or the Mortgage Division by virtue of the adoption of such policies and best practices by the Federal 

Reserve Board, Comptroller and FDIC.  The costs and limitations related to this additional regulatory agency and the limitations and 

restrictions that may be placed upon the Corporation with respect to its consumer product and service offerings have yet to be 

determined.  However, these costs, limitations and restrictions may produce significant, material effects on the Corporation’s 

business, financial condition and results of operations. 

   

The Dodd-Frank Act also increases regulatory supervision and examination of bank holding companies and their banking and non-

banking subsidiaries. These and other regulations included in the Dodd-Frank Act could increase the Corporation’s regulatory 
compliance burden and costs, restrict the financial products and services the Corporation can offer to its customers and restrict the 

Corporation’s ability to generate revenues from non-banking operations. The Dodd-Frank Act imposes more stringent capital 

requirements on bank holding companies, which may cause the Corporation to reevaluate elements of its business focus and shape 

future capital strategies. 

 

In January 2014, the Qualified Mortgage (QM) and Qualified Residential Mortgage (QRM) rules became effective under the Dodd 

Frank Act and may impact the willingness and ability of community banks and secondary market participants to make mortgage 

loans.  Among other requirements, these rules require lenders to show that borrowers met an “ability to repay” test – which can be 
challenged in court for the entire life of the loan, raising the risk of litigation.  Failure to prove the ability to repay can result in the 

lender’s obligation to reimburse the borrower for all payments made.  Together with newly imposed timeline restrictions covering 

the liquidation of problem consumer mortgage loans, litigation over “ability to repay” may delay the time to collect on soured 

consumer mortgages and result in elevated problem assets and increased loss rates. 

  

The Basel III Final Rules require higher levels of capital and liquid assets, which could adversely affect the Corporation’s 

net income and return on equity. 

 
The Basel III Final Rules represent the most comprehensive overhaul of the U.S. banking capital framework in over two decades.  

This new capital framework and related changes to the standardized calculations of risk-weighted assets are complex and create 

additional compliance burdens, especially for community banks.  The Basel III Final Rules require bank holding companies and 

their subsidiaries, such as the Corporation and the Bank, to maintain significantly more capital as a result of higher required capital 

levels and more demanding regulatory capital risk weightings and calculations.  As a result of the Basel III Final Rules, many 

community banks could be forced to limit banking operations, activities and growth of loan portfolios, in order to focus on retention 

of earnings to improve capital levels.  The Corporation believes that it maintains sufficient levels of Tier 1 and Common Equity Tier 

1 capital to comply with the Basel III Final Rules.  However, the Corporation can offer no assurances with regard to the ultimate 
effect of the Basel III Final Rules, and satisfying increased capital requirements imposed by the Basel II Final Rules may require the 

Corporation to limit its banking operations, retain net income or reduce dividends to improve regulatory capital levels, which could 

negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 

If the Corporation were to require additional capital as a result of phasing in the Basel III Final Rules, it could be required to access 

the capital markets on short notice and in relatively weak economic conditions, which could result in banks raising capital that 

significantly dilutes existing shareholders. Additionally, the Corporation could be forced to limit banking operations and activities, 

and growth of loan portfolios and interest income, to focus on retention of earnings to improve capital levels. Higher capital levels 
may also lower the Corporation’s  return on equity. 
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Our hedging strategies do not completely eliminate risks associated with interest rates and we may incur losses due to 

changes in interest rates that are not effectively hedged. 

 

We use various derivative financial instruments to provide a level of protection against interest rate risks, but no hedging strategy 
can protect us completely, and we cannot assure you that our hedging strategy and use of derivatives will offset the risks related to 

changes in interest rates.  When rates change, we expect to record a gain or loss on derivatives that would be offset by an inverse 

change in the value of loans held for sale and mortgage-related securities. We utilize a third party consulting firm to manage our 

hedging activities and we typically hedge 80% of our loan pipeline and 100% of our loans being warehoused.  The derivative 

financial instruments used to hedge the interest rate risk of our loan pipeline and warehoused loans are forward sales of 15 year and 

30 year mortgage backed securities.  The notional amount and fair value of these derivatives are disclosed in Note 8 of the financial 

statements.   

 
The primary risks related to our hedging activities relate to incorrect assumptions regarding pull through and the amount of the 

pipeline being hedged.  A hedging policy and hedging management committee are in place to control, monitor and manage risks 

associated with our hedging activity.  The hedging policy quantifies risk tolerance thresholds that ensure the economic risk taken is 

not material to the Corporation’s financial condition or operating performance. See “Item 7 - Management’s Discussion and 

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Critical Accounting Policies” and “Item 7A - Quantitative and 

Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.” 

 

The profitability of the Mortgage Division will be significantly reduced if we are not able to sell mortgages. 
 

Currently, we generally sell all of the mortgage loans originated by the Mortgage Division. We only underwrite mortgages that we 

reasonably expect will have more than one potential purchaser.  The profitability of our Mortgage Division depends in large part 

upon our ability to originate or purchase a high volume of loans and to quickly sell them in the secondary market.  Thus, we are 

dependent upon (i) the existence of an active secondary market and (ii) our ability to sell loans into that market.   

 

The Mortgage Division’s ability to sell mortgage loans readily is dependent upon the availability of an active secondary market for 

single-family mortgage loans, which in turn depends in part upon the continuation of programs currently offered by Fannie Mae and 
Freddie Mac and other institutional and non-institutional investors.  These entities account for a substantial portion of the secondary 

market in residential mortgage loans.  Some of the largest participants in the secondary market, including Fannie Mae and Freddie 

Mac, are government-sponsored enterprises with substantial market influence whose activities are governed by federal law. Any 

future changes in laws that significantly affect the activity of these government-sponsored enterprises and other institutional and 

non-institutional investors or any impairment of our ability to participate in such programs could, in turn, adversely affect our 

operations.  

 

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have reported past substantial losses and a need for substantial amounts of additional capital. Such 
losses were due to these entities’ business models being tied extensively to the U.S. housing market which severely contracted 

during the recent economic downturn.  In response to the deteriorating financial condition of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac from the 

U.S. housing market contraction, Congress and the U.S. Treasury undertook a series of actions to stabilize these entities.  The 

Federal Housing Finance Agency, or FHFA, was established in July 2008 pursuant to the Regulatory Reform Act in an effort to 

enhance regulatory oversight over Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.  FHFA placed Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac into federal 

conservatorship in September 2008.  Both Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have returned to profitability as a result of the housing 

market recovery, but their long-term financial viability is highly dependent on governmental support.  If the governmental support is 

inadequate, these companies could fail to offer programs necessary to an active secondary market. In addition, future policies that 
change the relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the U.S. government, including those that result in their winding 

down, nationalization, privatization, or elimination may have broad adverse implications for the residential mortgage market, the 

mortgage-backed securities market and the Mortgage Division’s business, operations and financial condition.  If this were to occur, 

the Mortgage Division’s ability to sell mortgage loans readily could be hampered, and the profitability of the Bank could be 

significantly reduced.  
 

Our net income may be adversely affected if representations and warranties related to loans sold by the Mortgage Division 

are breached and we must pay related claims. 
 

The Mortgage Division makes representations and warranties that loans sold to investors meet their program’s guidelines and that 

the information provided by the borrowers is accurate and complete and that the loan documents are complete and executed by the 

borrowers. In the event of a default on a loan sold, the investor may make a claim for losses due to document deficiencies, program 

compliance, early payment default, and fraud or borrower misrepresentations.  The Mortgage Division maintains a reserve in other 

liabilities for potential losses on mortgage loans sold.  Net income may be impacted if this reserve is insufficient to cover claims 

from the investors.   
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Our net income, capital, and reputation may be adversely affected if our efforts to protect or authenticate customers’ 

information or customers’ transactions fails.   
 

Identity theft and data breaches are on the rise. To date, our losses have been immaterial due in part to our client awareness program, 
systems and controls.  While we regularly review activity and adopt new practices when warranted to control exposure, we have no 

way of predicting when a compromise may occur and the magnitude or liability arising from such a compromise.  In particular, the 

occurrence of identity theft or data breaches could expose the Corporation to risks of data loss or data misuse, could damage the 

Corporation’s reputation and result in the loss of customers and business, could subject the Corporation to additional regulatory 

scrutiny or could expose the Corporation to civil litigation, possible financial liability and costly remedial measures. Any of these 

occurrences could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial condition and results of operations. 

 

 

An economic downturn may adversely affect our operating results and financial condition because our small to medium 

sized business target market may have fewer financial resources to weather an economic downturn. 

 

We target our commercial development and marketing strategy primarily to serve the banking and financial services needs of small 

and medium sized businesses.  These businesses generally have fewer financial resources in terms of capital or borrowing capacity 

than larger entities and, therefore, may be more vulnerable in an economic downturn.  If general economic conditions negatively 

impact this economic sector in the markets in which we operate, our results of operations and financial condition may be adversely 

affected.  In addition, the success of a small or medium sized business often depends on the management talents and efforts of one or 
two persons or a small group of persons, and the death, disability or resignation of one or more of these persons could have a 

material adverse effect on the business and its ability to repay a loan. 

 

Negative public opinion could damage our reputation and the strength of our Access National brand and adversely impact 

our business, client relationships and net income. 

 

Reputation risk, or the risk to our businesses’ (including our primary commercial banking business and secondary mortgage lending 

business) net income and capital from negative public opinion, is inherent in our business.  Negative public opinion can result from 
our actual or alleged conduct in any number of activities, including lending practices, corporate governance and acquisitions, and 

from actions taken by government regulators and community organizations in response to those activities.  Negative public opinion 

can adversely affect our ability to keep and attract clients and employees or our access to the capital markets and can expose us to 

litigation and regulatory action.   

 

Virtually all of our businesses operate under the “Access National” brand.  Any actual or alleged conduct by one of our businesses 

could result in negative public opinion about our other businesses under the Access National brand.  Because our businesses rely on 

and leverage the strength of the Access National brand any negative public opinion that tarnishes our Access National brand may 
negatively impact our business, client relationships and financial performance.  Although we take steps to minimize our reputation 

risk in dealing with our clients and communities, due to the nature of the commercial banking and mortgage lending businesses we 

will always face some measure of reputational risk.  

 

If the U.S. financial system were to destabilize again, the financial condition of our target markets may suffer, which could 

adversely affect our business. 

 

In response to the financial crises beginning in 2008 that affected the banking system and financial markets and going concern 
threats to investment banks and other financial institutions, various branches and agencies of the U.S. government put in place laws, 

regulations, and programs to address capital and liquidity issues in the banking system. There can be no assurance, however, as to 

the actual long-term impact that such laws, regulations, and programs will have on the financial markets.  

 

Among many other contributing factors, the recent recession was triggered by instability of financial institutions and large measures 

of volatility and fear in the financial markets.  This financial instability led to an economic downturn and current stagnant recovery 

which, in turn, has harmed the financial condition and performance of our small to medium sized business target market.  If despite 

such laws, regulations, and programs the financial markets again destabilize, or recent financial market conditions deteriorate rather 
than continuing to improve or remain steady, the financial condition of our small to medium sized business target market would 

suffer and could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and the trading price of our 

common stock. 
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Significant reductions in U.S. government spending may have an adverse effect on our local economy and customer base. 

 

The Corporation’s success depends significantly on the general economic conditions in the markets in which it operates.  The 

economy of our primary market, the greater Washington, D.C. Metropolitan Area is significantly affected by federal government 
spending.  In particular, Fairfax County, Virginia receives more federal procurement dollars than any other county in Virginia.  

Some of our customers may be particularly sensitive to the level of federal government spending, which is affected by many factors, 

including macroeconomic conditions, administrative and congressional priorities and the ability of the federal government to enact 

relevant appropriations bills and other legislation. Any of these or other factors could result in future cuts in, or uncertainty with 

respect to, federal spending, which could have a severe negative impact on individuals and businesses in our primary market areas. 

Any related increase in unemployment rates or reduction in business development activities in the greater Washington, D.C. 

Metropolitan Area could lead to increases in loan delinquencies, problem assets and foreclosures and reductions in loan collateral 

values, as well as other adverse implications that we cannot predict, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our 
financial performance and financial condition. 

 

We have substantial counterparty risk due to our transactions with financial institution counterparties and the soundness of 

such counterparties could adversely affect us. 

 

Our ability to engage in routine funding transactions could be adversely affected by the actions and commercial soundness of other 

financial institutions. Financial services institutions are interrelated as a result of trading, clearing, counterparty, or other 

relationships. We have exposure to many different counterparties, and we routinely execute transactions with counterparties in the 
financial services industry, including brokers, dealers, commercial banks, investment banks, and government sponsored enterprises. 

Many of these transactions expose us to credit risk in the event of default of our counterparty. In addition, our credit risk may be 

exacerbated when the collateral held by us cannot be realized or is liquidated at prices not sufficient to recover the full amount of the 

loan or other obligation due us. There is no assurance that any such losses would not materially and adversely affect our financial 

condition and results of operations.  

 

Risks Associated With The Corporation’s Common Stock 

 

Our ability to pay dividends is subject to regulatory restrictions, and we may be unable to pay future dividends.   

 

Our ability to pay dividends is subject to regulatory restrictions and the need to maintain sufficient consolidated capital.  Also, our 

only source of funds with which to pay dividends to our shareholders is dividends we receive from our Bank, and the Bank’s ability 

to pay dividends to us is limited by its own obligations to maintain sufficient capital and regulatory restrictions.  If these regulatory 

requirements are not satisfied, we will be unable to pay dividends on our common stock.  We have paid quarterly cash dividends 

since our first cash dividend on February 24, 2006. We cannot guarantee that dividends will not be reduced or eliminated in future 

periods.   
 

Certain provisions under our articles of incorporation and applicable law may make it difficult for others to obtain control 

of our Corporation even if such a change in control may be favored by some shareholders. 

 

Certain provisions in our articles of incorporation and applicable Virginia corporate and banking law may have the effect of 

discouraging a change of control of our company even if such a transaction is favored by some of our shareholders and could result 

in shareholders receiving a substantial premium over the current market price of our shares.  The primary purpose of these 

provisions is to encourage negotiations with our management by persons interested in acquiring control of our Corporation.  These 
provisions may also tend to perpetuate present management and make it difficult for shareholders owning less than a majority of the 

shares to be able to elect even a single director. 

 

The ownership position of certain shareholders, directors and officers may permit them to exert a major influence on the 

election of directors and other corporate actions that require a shareholder vote, including change in control transactions. 

 

As of December 31, 2015, our chairman of the board, executive officers and directors and one other principal shareholder 

collectively beneficially owned approximately 30.7% of the outstanding shares of our common stock.  Our executive officers and 
directors collectively beneficially owned approximately 23.6% of our common stock and one other individual shareholder has 

declared beneficial ownership of an additional 7.1% of our common stock.  This concentration of ownership may allow our 

directors, acting in their role as substantial shareholders, to exert a major influence over the election of their nominees as directors, 

especially if voting together with our officers and other significant shareholders.  Our directors, officers, and major shareholders 

could exercise similar influence over other corporate actions that require a shareholder vote, including change in control 

transactions.  
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The trading volume in the corporation’s common stock is less than that of other larger financial services companies. 

 

Although the Corporation’s common stock is listed for trading on the NASDAQ Stock Exchange, the trading volume in its common 

stock is less than that of other, larger financial services companies. A public trading market having the desired characteristics of 
depth, liquidity and orderliness depends on the presence in the marketplace of willing buyers and sellers of the Corporation’s 

common stock at any given time. This presence depends on the individual decisions of investors and general economic and market 

conditions over which the Corporation has no control. Given the lower trading volume of the Corporation’s common stock, 

significant sales of the Corporation’s common stock, or the expectation of these sales, could cause the Corporation’s stock price to 

fall. 
  

ITEM 1B - UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 
 

None. 
 

ITEM 2 - PROPERTIES 

 

The Bank leases offices that are used in the normal course of business. The principal executive office of the Corporation, Bank, 

Access Real Estate, ACM and Mortgage Division is owned by Access Real Estate, a subsidiary of the Bank, and is located at 1800 

Robert Fulton Drive, Reston, Virginia. The Bank leases offices in Chantilly, Tysons , Leesburg, and Manassas, Virginia. The 

Mortgage Division leases offices in Fairfax, McLean, and Reston in Virginia as well as Hagerstown, Maryland. The Mortgage 

Division also leases offices in Indiana, Georgia, Tennessee and Florida. All of the Mortgage Division’s leases are month to month 
leases and can be terminated with thirty days notice. Access Real Estate owns an undeveloped commercial lot in Fredericksburg that 

was purchased for future expansion of the Bank.  During the third quarter 2014, management decided to sell the land in 

Fredericksburg and listed the property for sale. The land was transferred from premises and equipment to other assets, at which time 

the carrying value of the land was written down to its appraised value less costs to sell.  See Note 4 for further information regarding 

this transaction.   

 

All of the owned and leased properties are in good operating condition and are adequate for the Corporation’s present and 

anticipated future needs. 

 

 

ITEM 3 – LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

 

The Corporation, and the Bank are from time to time parties to legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business.  

Management is of the opinion that these legal proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial 

condition or results of operations.  From time to time the Bank and the Corporation may initiate legal actions against borrowers in 

connection with collecting defaulted loans.  Such actions are not considered material by management unless otherwise disclosed. 
 

 

ITEM 4 – MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

 

None. 
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PART II 

 

ITEM 5 – MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES  

In July 2004, the Corporation’s common stock became listed on the NASDAQ Global Market of the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC 

and is quoted under the symbol of “ANCX”. Set forth below is certain financial information relating to the Corporation’s common 

stock price history.  Prices reflect transactions executed on NASDAQ.  

High Low Dividends High Low Dividends

First Quarter 19.75$      16.80$      0.49$            17.62$      14.10$      0.11$            

Second Quarter 23.29        18.35        0.15              17.26        13.38        0.12              

Third Quarter 21.64        18.27        0.15              17.00        14.82        0.13              

Fourth Quarter 22.22$      19.58$      0.15$            18.15$      16.17$      0.14$            

2015 2014

 

As of March 11, 2016, the Corporation had 10,559,226 outstanding shares of Common Stock, par value $0.835 per share, held by 

approximately 443 registered shareholders of record and the price for the Corporation’s common stock on the NASDAQ Global 

Market was $19.58.   Included in the above shares numbers are 31,517 shares of unregistered, restricted stock issued during 2015 

and 2014. 

The Corporation paid its forty-first consecutive quarterly cash dividend on February 25, 2016 to shareholders of record as of 

February 5, 2016. Payment of dividends is at the discretion of the Corporation’s Board of Directors, and is also subject to various 

federal and state regulatory limitations.  Future dividends are dependent upon the overall performance and capital requirements of 

the Corporation.  See “Item 1 - Business - Supervision and Regulation - Dividends" for a discussion of regulatory requirements 

related to dividends.   

In addition to the ordinary quarterly dividends paid in 2014, on December 19, 2014, the Corporation declared a special non-routine 

cash dividend of $0.35 per share to shareholders of record as of December 30, 2014, which was paid on January 16, 2015.   

The Corporation’s dividend strategy is to pay routine quarterly dividends equal to 40% to 50% of core earnings, provided a 

minimum tangible common equity ratio of 8.00% is maintained.  Special dividends are excluded from this target.  Special dividends 

may be considered when the tangible common equity to asset ratio exceeds 10.50%. 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities for the Quarter Ended December 31, 2015 

The following table details the Corporation’s purchases of its common stock during the fourth quarter pursuant to a Share 

Repurchase Program announced on March 20, 2007. On June 22, 2010 the number of shares authorized for repurchase under the 

Share Repurchase Program was increased from 2,500,000 to 3,500,000 shares. The Share Repurchase Program does not have an 

expiration date. 

 (c) Total Number of (d) Maximum Number 

Shares Purchased as of Shares that may 

(a) Total Number of (b) Average Price Part of Publicly yet be Purchased 

Period Shares Purchased Paid Per Share Announced Plan Under the Plan

October 1 - October 31, 2015 -                           -$                     -                              768,781                       

November 1 - November 30, 2015 -                           -                       -                              768,781                       

December 1 - December 31, 2015 -                           -                       -                              768,781                       

-                           -$                     -                              768,781                       

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
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Stock Performance 

 

The following graph compares the Corporation’s cumulative total shareholder return on its common stock for the five year period 

ended December 31, 2015 with the cumulative return of a broad equity market index and the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index (“S&P 
500 Index”).   This presentation assumes $100 was invested in shares of the Corporation and each of the indices on December 31, 

2010, and that dividends, if any, were immediately reinvested in additional shares.   The graph plots the value of the initial $100 

investment at one-year intervals from December 31, 2010 through December 31, 2015. 
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ITEM 6 – SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA  
 

The following consolidated selected financial data is derived from the Corporation’s audited financial statements for the five years 

ended December 31, 2015.  This information should be read in conjunction with the following Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto. 

 

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Income Statement Data:

Net interest income 39,547$        35,228$       32,164$        31,551$        28,117$       

Provision for loan losses 150               -               675               1,515            1,149           

Noninterest income 26,065          19,300         28,150          54,794          36,429         

Noninterest expense 41,866          33,018         39,198          56,399          45,722         

Income taxes 8,177            7,585           7,234            10,708          6,287           

Net Income 15,419$        13,925$       13,207$        17,723$        11,388$       

Per Share Data: 

Earnings per share

Basic 1.46              1.33             1.28              1.73              1.11             

Diluted 1.46              1.33             1.27              1.71              1.10             

Cash dividends paid 
(1)

0.95              0.50             1.11              0.95              0.13             

Book value at period end 10.35            9.45             8.79              8.85              8.13             

Balance Sheet Data:

Total assets 1,178,548$   1,052,880$  847,182$      863,914$      809,758$     

Loans held for sale 44,135          45,026         24,353          111,542        95,126         

Loans held for investment 887,478        776,603       687,055        616,978        569,400       

Total investment securities 174,449        139,389       92,829          80,711          85,824         

Total deposits 913,744        755,443       572,972        671,496        645,013       

Shareholders' equity 109,138$      98,904$       91,134$        91,267$        82,815$       

Average shares outstanding, basic 10,513,008   10,424,067  10,319,802   10,253,656   10,277,801  

Average shares outstanding, diluted 10,581,871   10,466,841  10,403,155   10,363,267   10,344,325  

Performance Ratios:

Return on average assets 1.39% 1.45% 1.55% 2.15% 1.50%

Return on average equity 14.83% 14.47% 14.00% 19.68% 14.80%

Dividend payout ratio 
(2)

41.10% 63.91% 86.72% 54.91% 11.71%

Equity to assets ratio 9.34% 10.04% 11.04% 10.90% 10.14%

Net interest margin 
(3)

3.68% 3.80% 3.85% 3.94% 3.82%

Efficiency Ratios:

Access National Bank 50.41% 48.96% 49.50% 51.71% 52.92%

Access National Mortgage Division 78.08% 67.57% 79.79% 70.19% 80.78%

Access National Corporation 63.81% 60.55% 64.99% 65.32% 70.84%

Asset Quality Ratios:

Allowance to period end loans 1.53% 1.73% 1.91% 2.03% 2.06%

Allowance to non-performing loans 182.86% 826.08% 518.19% 455.71% 175.12%

Net charge-offs to average loans 0.00% -0.04% 0.01% 0.13% 0.01%

(1)
 Cash dividends paid includes the $0.35 special dividend declared at December 31, 2014 and paid in January 2015.

(2)
 Adjusted for the special dividend payment of $0.35 declared in 2014 but paid in 2015.

(3)
 Net interest income divided by total average earning assets.

Selected Financial Data

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands, Except for Share and Per Share Data)

 
 

Table continued on next page 
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ITEM 6 – SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA continued 
 

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Average Balance Sheet Data:

Total assets 1,112,470$   958,067$   854,572$   826,233$   758,994$  

Investment securities 156,010        128,446     97,260       105,520     105,042    

Loans held for sale 42,076          31,288       42,667       78,543       51,774      

Loans held for investment 824,288        721,863     648,744     583,724     520,062    

Allowance for loan losses 13,456          13,221       12,924       11,994       11,123      

Total deposits 866,695        715,385     678,531     672,693     565,450    

Junior subordinated debentures -               -             3,135         6,186         6,186        

Total shareholders' equity 103,948        96,227       94,352       90,047       76,969      

Capital Ratios:

Tier 1 risk-based capital 11.14% 11.16% 12.05% 14.10% 14.33%

Common equity tier 1 capital 11.14%

Total risk-based capital 12.39% 12.41% 13.30% 15.35% 15.59%

Leverage capital ratio 9.34% 9.70% 10.93% 11.50% 10.78%

Tangible common equity ratio 9.12% 9.25% 10.76% 10.56% 10.23%

(In Thousands, Except for Share and Per Share Data)

Year Ended December 31,

Not Reported

 
 

 

ITEM 7 - MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION  

    AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

The following discussion and analysis is intended to provide an overview of the significant factors affecting the Corporation and its 

subsidiaries financial condition at December 31, 2015 and 2014 and the results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015, 

2014, and 2013. The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes should be read in conjunction with this discussion 

and analysis. 

Forward-Looking Statements 

In addition to historical information, this Annual Report on Form 10-K may contain forward-looking statements.  For this purpose, 

any statements contained herein, including documents incorporated by reference, that are not statements of historical fact may be 

deemed to be forward-looking statements.  Examples of forward-looking statements include discussions as to our expectations, 

beliefs, plans, goals, objectives and future financial or other performance or assumptions concerning matters discussed in this 

document.  Forward-looking statements often use words such as “believes,” “expects,” “plans,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “projects,” 
“contemplates,” “ anticipates,” “forecasts,” “intends” or other words of similar meaning.  You can also identify them by the fact that 

they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts.  Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, 

without limitation, statements regarding the Corporation’s beliefs regarding the future strength of the economy and labor markets 

and anticipated interest rates and the effect of such rates on the Corporation’s performance and net interest margin and the volume of 

future mortgage refinancing, as well as the Corporation’s expectations concerning operating losses and the profitability of its 

mortgage segment.  Forward-looking statements are subject to numerous assumptions, risks and uncertainties, and actual results 

could differ materially from historical results or those anticipated by such statements.  Factors that could have a material adverse 

effect on the operations and future prospects of the Corporation include, but are not limited to, changes in: collateral values, 
especially in the real estate market; stagnation, continued challenging conditions or deterioration in general business and economic 

conditions and in the financial markets; the impact of any policies or programs implemented pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act or 

other legislation or regulation; unemployment levels; branch expansion plans; interest rates; general economic conditions; monetary 

and fiscal policies of the U.S. Government, including policies of the Comptroller, U.S. Treasury and the Federal Reserve Board; the 

economy of Northern Virginia, including governmental spending and real estate markets; the quality or composition of the loan or 

investment portfolios; demand for loan products; deposit flows; competition; the liquidity of the Corporation and accounting 

principles, policies, and guidelines.  These risks and uncertainties should be considered in evaluating the forward-looking statements 

contained herein, and readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such statements.  Any forward-looking statement speaks 
only as of the date on which it is made, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or 

circumstances after the date on which it is made.  For additional discussion of risk factors that may cause our actual future results to 

differ materially from the results indicated within forward-looking statements, please see “Item 1A – Risk Factors” herein.  

 

  



 26 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The Corporation’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 

in the United States. In preparing the Corporation’s financial statements management makes estimates and judgments that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses. Our significant accounting policies are presented in Note 1 to the 

consolidated financial statements.  Management believes that the most significant subjective judgments that it makes include the 

following: 

 

Allowance for Loan Losses 

 

The allowance for loan losses is an estimate of the losses that may be sustained in our loan portfolio.  The allowance is based on two 

basic principles of accounting: (i) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) No. 450-10 Contingencies, which requires that losses be 
accrued when they are probable of occurring and estimable and (ii) ASC 310-10, Receivables, which requires that losses be accrued 

based on the differences between the value of collateral, present value of future cash flows or values that are observable in the 

secondary market and the loan balance. 

An allowance for loan losses is established through a provision for loan losses based upon industry standards, known risk 
characteristics, and management’s evaluation of the risk inherent in the loan portfolio and changes in the nature and volume of loan 

activity.  Such evaluation considers, among other factors, the estimated market value of the underlying collateral and current 

economic conditions.  For further information about our practices with respect to allowance for loan losses, please see the subsection 

“Allowance for Loan Losses” below. 

Other Than Temporary Impairment of Investment Securities 

Securities in the Bank’s investment portfolio are classified as either held-to-maturity or available-for-sale.  Securities classified as 

held-to-maturity are recorded at cost or amortized cost.  Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value.  The estimated fair 

value of the available-for-sale portfolio fluctuates due to changes in market interest rates and other factors. Changes in estimated fair 

value are recorded in shareholders’ equity as a component of other comprehensive income. Securities are monitored to determine 

whether a decline in their value is other than temporary.  Management evaluates the investment portfolio on a quarterly basis to 

determine the collectability of amounts due per the contractual terms of the investment security.  A decline in the fair value of an 

investment below its amortized cost attributable to factors that indicate the decline will not be recovered over the anticipated holding 
period of the investment will cause the security to be considered other than temporarily impaired. Other than temporary impairments 

result in reducing the security’s carrying value by the amount of the estimated credit loss. The credit component of the other than 

temporary impairment loss is realized through the statement of income and the remainder of the loss remains in other comprehensive 

income.  At December 31, 2015 there were no securities in the securities portfolio with other than temporary impairment. 

Income Taxes   

The Corporation uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. This method results in the recognition of deferred tax 
assets and liabilities that are reflected at currently enacted income tax rates applicable to the period in which the deferred tax assets 

or liabilities are expected to be realized or settled. As changes in tax laws or rates are enacted, deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

adjusted through the provision for income taxes. The deferred provision for income taxes is the result of the net change in the 

deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the year. This amount combined with the current taxes payable or 

refundable results in the income tax expense for the current year. Our evaluation of the deductibility or taxability of items included 

in the Corporation’s tax returns has not resulted in the identification of any material uncertain tax positions. 

 

Fair Value  
 

Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant market information and other assumptions. Fair value estimates 

involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment regarding interest rates, credit risk, prepayments and other factors, 

especially in the absence of broad markets for particular items.  Changes in assumptions or in market conditions could significantly 

affect the estimates.  The fair value estimates of existing on and off-balance sheet financial instruments do not include the value of 

anticipated future business or the values of assets and liabilities not considered financial instruments. For additional information 
about our financial assets carried at fair value, refer to Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Executive Summary 

 

The Corporation completed its sixteenth year of operation and recorded net income of $15.4 million or $1.46 per diluted common 

share in 2015 compared to $13.9 million or $1.33 per diluted common share and $13.2 million or $1.27 per diluted common share in 
2014 and 2013, respectively.   The increase in net interest income before provision over last year of $4.3 million reflects the 

continued growth in the loans held for investment portfolio and the investment securities portfolio as well as the continued 

environment of low cost funding sources.  During 2015, loan origination volumes in the Mortgage Division increased, from $408 

million in 2014 to $485 million in 2015, which led to higher gain on sale of loans, from $15.1 million in 2014 to $19.6 million in 

2015.  Also adding to the increased income in the Mortgage Division when comparing 2015 to 2014 were the gains recognized on 

hedging activities as well as the fair value marks, from a loss of $690 thousand in 2014 to a gain of $333 thousand in 2015.  When 

comparing 2014 to 2013, the decrease in net income was due to reduced loan origination volumes in the Mortgage Division, from 

$575 million in 2013 to $408 million in 2014, as well as losses recognized on hedging activities and the fair value marks, from a 
gain of $2.9 million in 2013 to a loss of $690 thousand in 2014.  These decreases were positively impacted by a $3.25 million pretax 

release of reserves on mortgage loans held for sale.   

 

At December 31, 2015, assets totaled $1.18 billion compared to $1.05 billion at December 31, 2014, an overall increase of $125.7 

million.  An increase in loans held for investment of $110.9 million and a $35.1 million growth in investment securities accounted 

for the increase and was mainly offset by a $21.6 million decrease in interest-bearing deposits.  During 2015, loan growth was 

reflected in all categories of the loans held for investment portfolio. The largest dollar growth occurred in the commercial loan 

portfolio due in part to our focus on small to medium sized businesses and providing credit facilities in conjunction with the U.S. 
Small Business Administration’s (“SBA”) guaranteed loan program.  The SBA lending activity is an important component of our 

focus on small businesses and expanding our core business relationships.   

Investment securities totaled $174.4 million at December 31, 2015 compared to $139.4 million at December 31, 2014 as the 
Corporation continues to build its portfolio judiciously in a manner that is consistent with the Corporation’s planned liquidity and 

asset management goals.   

Deposits totaled $913.7 million at December 31, 2015 compared to $755.4 million at December 31, 2014.  The $158.3 million 
increase was due mainly to increases in demand deposits of $54.9 million, savings and money market deposits of $48.6 million, time 

deposits of $28.5 million, and a net increase in wholesale funding of $14.9 million. Management continues to focus on expanding 

business banking relationships as evidenced by the 21.7% annual growth in demand deposits.    

Non-performing assets (“NPA”) totaled approximately $7.4 million or 0.63% of total assets at December 31, 2015, up from $1.6 

million or 0.15% of total assets at December 31, 2014.  NPAs are comprised of non-accrual loans solely at December 31, 2015, and 

2014, as the Bank did not have any other real estate owned. Included in non-accrual loans at December 31, 2015 is a restructured 

residential lot loan, categorized as a construction loan, to one borrower with an outstanding balance of $1.0 million.  The allowance 

for loan losses totaled $13.6 million or 1.5% of total loans held for investment as of December 31, 2015, compared to $13.4 million 

or 1.7% at December 31, 2014.  

During 2014, ARE transferred an undeveloped commercial lot in Fredericksburg, that was originally purchased for possible banking 

center expansion to other real estate owned when management decided to market the land for sale. The land, originally purchased for 

$1.2 million was written down to its appraised value less costs to sell and is included in other assets at $500 thousand. 

The economy continues to show signs of improvement with unemployment rates declining, and we are continuing to see price 

appreciation in the local residential real estate market. Notwithstanding the foregoing, there is no guarantee that these positive trends 

will continue.  Although we believe that the credit quality of our primary business and professional customers has stabilized and 

improved, we will continue to focus on improving the credit quality of our loan portfolio with special attention paid to the non-
performing assets. The Corporation is optimistic going into 2016 with a strong capital base and being positioned for continued 

growth. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS                                                        

 

Net income for 2015 totaled $15.4 million, or $1.46 per diluted common share compared to $13.9 million or $1.33 per diluted 

common share in 2014.  Net income in 2015 was favorably impacted by an increase in net interest income of $4.3 million as average 
earning assets increased $147 million, from $928 million to $1.08 billion as of December 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively.  The 

increase in noninterest income from $19.3 million to $26.1 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively, was offset by an 

increase in noninterest expense of $8.9 million, from $33.0 million to $41.9 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively.  

The increase in noninterest expense, such as compensation due to the increased mortgage production volume, coupled with the 

mortgage reserve release in 2014 of $3.25 million, worked to offset the $6.8 million or 35.1% increase in noninterest income 

between 2015 and 2014.  

 

Net income for 2014 totaled $13.9 million, or $1.33 per diluted common share compared to $13.2 million or $1.27 per diluted 
common share in 2013.  Net income in 2014 was favorably impacted by an increase in interest income, a decrease in interest 

expense, a decrease in the provision for loan losses, and a decrease in total noninterest expense. The decrease in noninterest expense 

includes the nonrecurring pretax release of $3.25 million in reserves on mortgage loans held for sale which was offset by the 

nonrecurring pretax impairment charge of $707 thousand recorded on the ARE land transferred to other real estate owned.  During 

2014 average loans held for investment increased $73.1 million and average loans held for sale decreased $11.4 million when 

comparing to 2013. 

 

Net Interest Income  
 

Net interest income is the amount of income generated by earning assets (primarily loans and investment securities) less the interest 

expense incurred on interest-bearing liabilities (primarily deposits) used to fund earning assets. Net interest income and margin are 

influenced by many factors, primarily the volume and mix of earning assets, funding sources, yields on earning assets and interest 

rate fluctuations. Net interest income totaled $39.5 million in 2015, up from $35.2 million in 2014.  Average noninterest-bearing 

deposits increased $65.5 million in 2015.  Net interest margin was 3.68% in 2015 and 3.80% in 2014, with the decrease primarily 

due to the weighted average rate earned on interest-earning assets decreasing 9 basis points to 4.06% in 2015 from 4.15% in 2014.  

 
During 2015, average earning assets increased $147.4 million or 15.9%.  Average loans held for investment increased by $102.4 

million or 14.2%, average securities increased $26.4 million or 20.4%, average loans held for sale increased $10.8 million or 34.5%, 

and average interest-bearing balances increased $7.8 million or 17.3%. On the funding side total average interest-bearing deposits 

increased by $85.8 million or 18.0%.   

  

Net interest income totaled $35.2 million in 2014, up from $32.2 million in 2013.  Average noninterest-bearing deposits increased 

$45.4 million in 2014.  Net interest margin was 3.80% in 2014 and 3.85% in 2013, with the decrease primarily due to the weighted 

average rate earned on interest-earning assets decreasing 14 basis points to 4.15% in 2014 from 4.29% in 2013.   
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The table below, Yield on Average Earning Assets and Rates on Average Interest-Bearing Liabilities, summarizes the major 

components of net interest income for the past three years and also provides yields, rates, and average balances. 

 

Average Income / Yield / Average Income / Yield / Average Income / Yield /

Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate

Assets:

Interest earning assets:

Securities 156,204$          3,482$        2.23% 129,755$       2,697$       2.08% 98,501$       1,928$      1.96%

Loans held for sale 42,076              1,650          3.92% 31,288           1,297         4.15% 42,667         1,505        3.53%

Loans
(1)

824,288            38,405        4.66% 721,863         34,405       4.77% 648,744       32,336      4.98%

Interest-bearing balances and federal funds sold 52,716              129             0.24% 44,939           102            0.23% 46,217         107           0.23%

Total interest earning assets 1,075,284         43,666        4.06% 927,845         38,501       4.15% 836,129       35,876      4.29%

Noninterest earning assets:

Cash and due from banks 10,650              8,925             9,852           

Premises, land and equipment 6,882                7,995             8,480           

Other assets 33,110              26,523           13,035         

Less: allowance for loan losses (13,456)            (13,221)         (12,924)       

Total noninterest earning assets 37,186              30,222           18,443         

Total Assets 1,112,470$       958,067$       854,572$     

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity:

Interest-bearing deposits:

Interest-bearing demand deposits 119,732$          265$           0.22% 114,853$       256$          0.22% 75,706$       148$         0.20%

Money market deposit accounts 126,850            264             0.21% 115,192         232            0.20% 120,307       282           0.23%

Savings accounts 13,606              66               0.49% 3,884             14              0.36% 2,483           5               0.20%

Time deposits 302,924            3,053          1.01% 243,338         2,479         1.02% 287,364       3,051        1.06%

Total interest-bearing deposits 563,112            3,648          0.65% 477,267         2,981         0.62% 485,860       3,486        0.72%

Borrowings:

FHLB Advances 91,992              231             0.25% 115,471         271            0.23% 43,077         97             0.23%

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase and federal funds purchased 22,017              21               0.10% 21,129           21              0.10% 25,524         26             0.10%

FHLB Long-term borrowings 18,890              219             1.16% -                -             0.00% -              -            0.00%

Subordinated Debentures -                   -             0.00% -                -             0.00% 3,135           103           3.29%

Total borrowings 132,899            471             0.35% 136,600         292            0.21% 71,736         226           0.32%

Total interest-bearing deposits and borrowings 696,011            4,119          0.59% 613,867         3,273         0.53% 557,596       3,712        0.67%

Noninterest-bearing liabilities:

Demand deposits 303,583            238,118         192,671       

Other liabilities 8,928                9,855             9,953           

Total liabilities 1,008,522         861,840         760,220       

Shareholders' Equity 103,948            96,227           94,352         

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 1,112,470$       958,067$       854,572$     

Interest Spread
(2)

3.47% 3.62% 3.63%

Net Interest Margin
(3)

39,547$      3.68% 35,228$     3.80% 32,164$    3.85%

(2)
 Interest spread is the average yield earned on earning assets, less the average rate incurred on interest-bearing liabilities.

(3) 
Net interest margin is net interest income, expressed as a percentage of average earning assets.

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2013

Yield on Average Earning Assets and Rates on Average Interest-Bearing Liabilities

For the Year Ended

(Dollars In Thousands)

December 31, 2014

(1) 
Loans placed on nonaccrual status are included in loan balances
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The following table shows fluctuations in net interest income attributable to changes in the average balances of assets and liabilities 

and the yields earned or rates paid for the years ended December 31: 

 

Increase / Increase / Increase /

(Decrease) Volume Rate (Decrease) Volume Rate (Decrease) Volume Rate

Interest Earning Assets:

  Investments 785$            580$       205$         769$          643$     126$          (338)$         (142)$     (196)$         

  Loans 4,353           5,250 (897) 1,861         2,952    (1,091)        (530)           1,475      (2,005)        

  Interest-bearing deposits 27                22 5 (5)               (3)          (2)               28              30           (2)               

Total increase (decrease) in interest income 5,165           5,852      (687)          2,625 3,592    (967)           (840) 1,363      (2,203)        

Interest-Bearing Liabilities:

  Interest-bearing demand deposits 9                  9             -            108            85         23              (23)             30           (53)             

  Money market deposit accounts 32                21           11             (50)             (12)        (38)             (202)           3             (205)           

  Savings accounts 52                45           7               9                4           5                1                -         1                

  Time deposits 574              599         (25)            (572)           (452)      (120)           (819)           (580)       (239)           

            Total interest-bearing deposits 667 674         (7)              (505) (375)      (130)           (1,043) (547)       (496)           

  FHLB Advances (40) (60)          20             174 170       4                32 92           (60)             

  Securities sold under agreements to repurchase -              -          -            (5) (4)          (1)               (12) (2)           (10)             

  Long-term borrowings 219              219         -            -             -        -             (212) (106)       (106)           

  FDIC Term note -              -          -            -             -        -             (98)             (49)         (49)             

  Trust preferred -              -          -            (103) (52)        (51)             (120) (102)       (18)             

Total (decrease) increase in interest expense 846 833         13 (439) (261)      (178) (1,453) (714)       (739)

Increase (decrease) in net interest income 4,319$         5,019$    (700)$        3,064$       3,853$  (789)$         613$          2,077$    (1,464)$      

(In Thousands)

2013 compared to 2012

Change Due To:

2015 compared to 2014

Change Due To:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 compared to 2013

Change Due To:

 

Provision for Loan Losses 
 

In 2015, the Bank charged $150 thousand to operating expenses for the loan loss reserve compared to no provision for loan losses in 

2014 and $675 thousand in 2013.  The amount of the provision is determined by management to restore the allowance for loan 

losses to a level believed to be adequate to absorb inherent losses in the loan portfolio based on evaluations as of December 31, 

2015.   

 

Noninterest Income 

 
Noninterest income consists of revenue generated from gains on sale of loans, service fees on deposit accounts, and other charges 

and fees.  The Mortgage Division provides the most significant contributions towards noninterest income and is subject to wide 

fluctuations due to the general interest rate environment and economic conditions. Total noninterest income was $26.1 million in 

2015 compared to $19.3 million in 2014.  Gains on the sale of loans originated by the Mortgage Division totaled $19.6 million in 

2015 compared to $15.1 million in 2014 due to the mortgage loan volume increase in 2015, from $408 million in 2014 to $485 

million in 2015.  Adding to this increase in revenue were the gains recognized on hedging activities as well as the fair value marks 

associated with the origination of mortgage loans held for sale.  In 2015, the Mortgage Division recorded a gain of $333 thousand 

compared to a loss of $690 thousand in 2014 increasing other income by $1.0 million when comparing 2015 to 2014. 
 

Total noninterest income was $19.3 million in 2014 compared to $28.2 million in 2013.  Gains on the sale of loans originated by the 

Mortgage Division totaled $15.1 million in 2014 compared to $21.1 million in 2013 due mainly to the mortgage loan volume 

decrease in 2014, to $408 million from $575 million in 2013.  Adding to this decrease in revenue were the losses recognized on 

hedging activities as well as the fair value marks associated with the origination of mortgage loans held for sale.  In 2014, the 

Mortgage Division recorded a loss of $690 thousand compared to a gain of $2.9 million in 2013 reducing other income by $3.6 

million when comparing 2014 to 2013. 
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Noninterest Expense 

 

Noninterest expense totaled $41.9 million in 2015 compared to $33.0 million in 2014. Compensation and employee benefits, the 

largest component of noninterest expense, totaled $27.0 million in 2015 compared to $22.7 million in 2014, an increase of $4.3 
million or 19.0% due mainly to the addition of staffing in the Banking Division and increased group health costs as well as increased 

variable compensation paid in the Mortgage Division as a direct result of the increased mortgage volumes between 2015 and 2014.  

Other operating expense totaled $11.9 million in 2015, up from $7.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, due in part to 

increased activity in the Mortgage Division as a direct result of the increase in mortgage production volume as well as the $3.25 

million mortgage reserve release recognized in 2014 and included in other noninterest expense.  A further breakdown of other 

operating expenses is provided for in Note 15 of the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Noninterest expense totaled $33.0 million in 2014 compared to $39.2 million in 2013. Compensation and employee benefits, the 
largest component of noninterest expense, totaled $22.7 million in 2014 compared to $25.3 million in 2013, a decrease of $2.6 

million or 10.4% due mainly to the decreased variable compensation paid in the Mortgage Division as a direct result of the 

decreased mortgage volumes between 2014 and 2013.  Other operating expense totaled $7.5 million in 2014, down from $11.3 

million for the year ended December 31, 2013, a decrease of $3.8 million, or 33.4%.   
 

 

Income Taxes  

 

Income tax expense totaled $8.2 million in 2015 compared to $7.6 million in 2014 and $7.2 million in 2013, an increase of $600 

thousand and $400 thousand, respectively. The increase in taxes between 2015 and 2014 as well as 2014 to 2013 was due to the 

increase in pre-tax earnings for those years.  Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements shows the components of federal income 

tax. 
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Quarterly Results (unaudited) 

The following is a summary of the results of operations for each quarter of 2015, 2014, and 2013. 

  

First Second Third Fourth Total

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter YTD

10,276$       10,787$       11,156$       11,447$   43,666$       

834              980              1,059           1,246       4,119           

9,442           9,807           10,097         10,201     39,547         

-              150              -              -          150              

9,442           9,657           10,097         10,201     39,397         

6,305           7,081           6,412           6,267       26,065         

10,246         10,654         10,479         10,487     41,866         

1,928           2,100           2,086           2,063       8,177           

3,573$         3,984$         3,944$         3,918$     15,419$       

Earnings Per Share:

Basic 0.34$           0.38$           0.37$           0.37$       1.46$           

Diluted 0.34$           0.38$           0.37$           0.37$       1.46$           

First Second Third Fourth Total

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter YTD

8,945$         9,502$         9,915$         10,139$   38,501$       

804              839              831              799          3,273           

8,141           8,663           9,084           9,340       35,228         

8,141           8,663           9,084           9,340       35,228         

3,256           5,316           5,213           5,515       19,300         

7,657           9,218           6,683           9,460       33,018         

1,326           1,697           2,682           1,880       7,585           

2,414$         3,064$         4,932$         3,515$     13,925$       

Earnings Per Share:

Basic 0.23$           0.29$           0.47$           0.34$       1.33$           

Diluted 0.23$           0.29$           0.47$           0.34$       1.33$           

First Second Third Fourth Total

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter YTD

9,156$         9,086$         8,741$         8,893$     35,876$       

1,067           1,034           830              781          3,712           

8,089           8,052           7,911           8,112       32,164         

225              -              450              -          675              

7,864           8,052           7,461           8,112       31,489         

10,844         8,023           5,079           4,204       28,150         

12,655         10,533         8,637           7,373       39,198         

2,369           2,018           1,098           1,749       7,234           

3,684$         3,524$         2,805$         3,194$     13,207$       

Earnings Per Share:

Basic 0.36$           0.34$           0.27$           0.31$       1.28$           

Diluted 0.35$           0.34$           0.27$           0.31$       1.27$           

Net income

(In Thousands, Except for Per Share Data)

2014

Total interest income

Total interest expense

Net interest income

Total noninterest expense

(In Thousands, Except for Per Share Data)

2013

Total interest income

Total interest expense

Net interest income

Net interest income after provision for loan losses

Total noninterest income

Total noninterest expense

Income tax expense

Net interest income after provision for loan losses

Total noninterest income

Total noninterest expense

Income tax expense

Net income

Provision for loan losses

Income tax expense

Net income

(In Thousands, Except for Per Share Data)

2015

Total interest income

Total interest expense

Net interest income

Provision for loan losses

Net interest income after provision for loan losses

Total noninterest income
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FINANCIAL CONDITION 

 

Summary  

 
Total assets at December 31, 2015 were $1.18 billion compared to $1.05 billion at December 31, 2014, an increase of $125.7 

million.  An increase in loans held for investment of $110.9 million and a $35.1 million growth in investment securities accounted 

for the majority of this increase and were partially offset by a $21.6 million decrease in interest-bearing balances. 

 

The following discussions by major categories explain the changes in financial condition.  

 

Cash and Due From Banks 

 
Cash and due from banks represents cash and noninterest-bearing balances at other banks and cash letters in process of collection at 

the Federal Reserve Bank.  At December 31, 2015 cash and due from banks totaled $11.3 million compared to $9.8 million at 

December 31, 2014.  The balance fluctuates depending on the volume of cash letters in process of collection at the Federal Reserve 

Bank. 

 

Interest-Bearing Deposits in Other Banks and Federal Funds Sold 

 

At December 31, 2015 interest-bearing balances in other banks totaled $24.6 million compared to $46.2 million at December 31, 
2014.  These balances are maintained at the FRB and the FHLB of Atlanta and provide liquidity for managing daily cash inflows 

and outflows from deposits and loans.  

 

Investment Securities   

 

The Corporation’s investment securities portfolio is comprised of U.S. Government Agency securities, municipal securities, CRA 

mutual fund, mortgage backed securities issued by U.S. government sponsored agencies, corporate bonds, and other asset backed 

securities. The investment portfolio is used to provide liquidity and as a tool for managing interest sensitivity in the balance sheet, 
while generating income.   

 

At December 31, 2015, securities totaled $174.4 million compared to $139.4 million at December 31, 2014, an increase of $35.1 

million. The increase is in response to management’s planned liquidity and asset management goals.  The securities portfolio at 

December 31, 2015 is comprised of $160.2 million in securities classified as available-for-sale and $14.3 million in securities 

classified as held-to-maturity. Securities classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair market value.  Unrealized gains and losses 

are recorded directly to a separate component of shareholders' equity. Held-to-maturity securities are carried at cost or amortized 

cost.   
 

The following tables present the types, amounts and maturity distribution of the investment securities portfolio. 

 

Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield

Investment securities available-for-sale 
(1)

   US Government Agency -$           -          4,005$     1.63% 14,899$ 1.93% -$         -        18,904$   1.86%

   Mortgage backed -             -          10,846     1.98% 40,901   2.28% 44,330     2.13% 96,077     2.18%

   Corporate bonds -             -          8,959       1.97% -         -                -           -        8,959       1.97%

   Asset Backed Securities -             -          1,967       2.23% 3,002     0.99% 11,029     1.27% 15,998     1.34%

   Municipals -             -          -          -        3,632     1.99% 15,182     3.34% 18,814     3.08%

-$           -          25,777$   1.94% 62,434$ 2.11% 70,541$   2.26% 158,752$ 2.15%

Investment securities Held-to-maturity

   US Government Agency -$           -          5,000$     1.75% 4,987$   3.03% -$         -        9,987$     2.39%

   Municipals -             -          -          -        1,486     3.31% 2,814       3.85% 4,300       3.66%

-$           -          5,000$     1.75% 6,473$   3.09% 2,814$     3.85% 14,287$   2.77%

(1) 
Excludes

 
FRB Stock, and FHLB Stock, and CRA Mutual Fund

(Dollars In Thousands)

Within But Within But Within and

One Year Five Years Ten Years Over Total

Maturity Schedule of  Investment Securities 

Year Ended December 31, 2015

After One Year After Five Years After Ten Years
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Loans 

 

Loans held for investment totaled $887.5 million at December 31, 2015 compared to $776.6 million at December 31, 2014.  During 

2015, loan demand increased over 2014 as local economic conditions improved.  Commercial loans increased $32.2 million during 
2015 while commercial real estate – non-owner occupied loans increased $22.1 million and commercial real estate – owner occupied 

loans increased $20.4 million from year end 2014.   

 

The Bank concentrates on providing banking services to small and medium sized businesses and professionals in our market area. 

As of December 31, 2015 we did not have any exposure to builders or developers in our commercial real estate portfolio. Our loan 

officers maintain a professional relationship with our clients and are responsive to their financial needs.  They are directly involved 

in the community, and it is this involvement and commitment that leads to referrals and continued growth.  The composition and 

growth of our loan portfolio reflects our success in deployment of this strategy.  
 

Loans held for sale totaled $44.1 million at December 31, 2015 compared to $45.0 million at December 31, 2014, a decrease of $891 

thousand.  The level of loans held for sale fluctuates with the volume of loans originated during the month and the timing of loans 

purchased by investors.  Loan origination volume including brokered loans totaled $484.7 million in 2015 compared to $408.3 

million in 2014 as interest rates on residential mortgage loans continued to remain at historic lows.    

 

The following tables present the major classifications and maturity distribution of loans held for investment at December 31: 

 

Amount

Percentage 

of Total Amount

Percentage 

of Total Amount

Percentage 

of Total Amount

Percentage 

of Total Amount

Percentage 

of Total

Commercial real estate - owner occupied 219,877$   24.77         % 199,442$   25.68         % 196,804$  28.65            % 182,655$  29.60           % 171,599$  30.14          %

Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 147,580     16.63         125,442     16.15         90,676      13.20            107,213    17.38           104,976    18.44          

Residential real estate 201,447     22.70         194,213     25.01         173,639    25.27            144,521    23.43           128,485    22.56          

Commercial 242,527     27.33         210,278     27.08         182,220    26.52            149,389    24.21           131,816    23.15          

Real estate construction 66,003       7.44           41,080       5.29           38,842      5.65              30,038      4.87             29,705      5.22            

Consumer 10,044       1.13           6,148         0.79           4,874        0.71              3,162        0.51             2,819        0.49            

Total loans 887,478$   100.00       % 776,603$   100.00       % 687,055$  100.00          % 616,978$  100.00         % 569,400$  100.00        %

2015

Composition of Loan Portfolio

 Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars In Thousands)

2014 2013 2012 2011

 

Three Months or Over Three Months Over One Year Over

Less Through One Year Through Five Years Five Years Total

Commercial real estate - owner occupied 2,443$                  10,926$                    39,089$                     167,419$                 219,877$                 

Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 9,164                    15,330                      48,386                       74,700                     147,580                   

Residential real estate 3,053                    16,631                      56,303                       125,460                   201,447                   

Commercial 22,985                  67,830                      80,747                       70,965                     242,527                   

Real estate construction 17,300                  32,924                      14,404                       1,375                       66,003                     

Consumer and other 23                         703                           6,236                         3,082                       10,044                     

Total 54,968$                144,344$                  245,165$                   443,001$                 887,478$                 

Loans with fixed interest rates 21,006$                51,822$                    127,963$                   180,296$                 381,087$                 

Loans with floating interest rates 33,962                  92,522                      117,202                     262,705                   506,391                   

Total 54,968$                144,344$                  245,165$                   443,001$                 887,478$                 

Loan Maturity Distribution

Year Ended December 31, 2015

(In Thousands)

 
Allowance for Loan Losses 

 

The allowance for loan losses totaled $13.6 million at December 31, 2015 compared to $13.4 million at year end 2014.  The 

allowance for loan losses was equivalent to 1.5% of total loans held for investment at December 31, 2015 and 1.7% at December 31, 

2014. Adequacy of the allowance is assessed and increased as determined necessary by management by provisions for loan losses 

charged to expense no less than quarterly.  Charge-offs are taken when a loan is identified as uncollectible. 

 

The methodology by which we systematically determine the amount of our allowance is set forth by the Board of Directors in our 
Loan Policy and implemented by management.  The results of the analysis are documented, reviewed and approved by the Board of 

Directors no less than quarterly.   
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The level of the allowance for loan losses is determined by management through an ongoing, detailed analysis of historical loss rates 

and risk characteristics. During each quarter, management evaluates the collectability of all loans in the portfolio and ensures an 

accurate risk rating is assigned to each loan. The risk rating scale and definitions jointly adopted by the Federal banking regulators 

are used within the framework prescribed by the Bank’s Loan Policy. Any loan that is deemed to have potential or well defined 
weaknesses that may jeopardize collection in full is then analyzed to ascertain its level of weakness. If appropriate, the loan may be 

charged-off or a specific reserve may be assigned if the loan is deemed to be impaired.  

 

During the risk rating verification process, each loan identified as inadequately protected by the current sound worth and paying 

capacity of the obligor or of the collateral pledged is considered impaired and is placed on non-accrual status. On these loans, 

management analyzes the potential impairment of the individual loan and may set aside a specific reserve. Any amounts deemed 

uncollectible during that analysis are charged-off.  

  
For the remaining loans in each segment, management calculates the probability of loss as a group using the risk rating for each of 

the following loan types:  Commercial Real Estate – owner occupied, Commercial Real Estate – non-owner occupied, Residential 

Real Estate, Commercial, Real Estate Construction, and Consumer.  Management calculates the historical loss rate in each group by 

risk rating using a period of at least six years. This historical loss rate may then be adjusted based on management’s assessment of 

internal and external environmental factors. This adjustment is meant to account for changes between the historical economic 

environment and current conditions and for changes in the ongoing management of the portfolio which affects the loans’ potential 

losses. 

 
Once complete, management compares the condition of the portfolio using several different characteristics as well as its experience 

to the experience of other banks in its peer group in order to determine if it is directionally consistent with others’ experiences in our 

area and line of business. Based on that analysis, management aggregates the probabilities of loss of the remaining portfolio based 

on the specific and general allowances and may provide additional amounts to the allowance for loan losses as needed. Since this 

process involves estimates, the allowance for loan losses may also contain an immaterial amount that is not allocated to a specific 

loan or to a group of loans but is deemed necessary to absorb additional losses in the portfolio.  

 

Management and the Board of Directors subject the reserve adequacy and methodology to review on a regular basis to internal 
auditors and bank regulators, and such reviews have not resulted in any material adjustment to the reserve.   

 

The following tables present an analysis of the allowance for loan losses for the periods indicated. 

 

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Balance, beginning of year 13,399$    13,136$     12,500$     11,738$     10,527$       

Provision for loan losses 150           -             675            1,515         1,149           

Charge-offs:

  Commercial real estate - owner occupied -            -             -             429            344              

  Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied -            -             -             103            -              

  Residential real estate -            21              97              790            596              

  Commercial 185           22              444            808            292              

  Real estate construction -            -             -             -             -              

  Consumer -            -             -             35              -              

Total charge-offs 185           43              541            2,165         1,232           

Recoveries:

  Commercial real estate - owner occupied -            -             -             -             405              

  Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied -            -             199            416            234              

  Residential real estate 61             213            111            410            89                

  Commercial 102           93              179            566            536              

  Real estate construction 36             -             -             -             30                

  Consumer -            -             13              20              -              

Total recoveries 199           306            502            1,412         1,294           

Net (charge-offs) recoveries 14             263            (39)             (753)           62                

Balance, end of year 13,563$    13,399$     13,136$     12,500$     11,738$       

Ratio of net charge-offs during the period to

  average loans outstanding during the period 0.00% -0.04% 0.01% 0.13% -0.01%

Allowance for Loan Losses

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands)
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2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Commercial real estate - owner occupied 3,042$     22.43    % 3,229$     24.10    % 3,763$     28.65    % 3,701$     29.61     % 3,634$      30.96     %

Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 1,862       13.73    1,894       14.14    1,734       13.20    2,173       17.39     1,747        14.88     

Residential real estate 2,862       21.10    3,308       24.69    3,320       25.27    2,924       23.39     2,874        24.48

Commercial 4,612       34.00    4,284       31.97    3,484       26.52    3,028       24.22     3,021        25.74

Real estate construction 1,056       7.79      596          4.45      743          5.66      610          4.88       423           3.60

Consumer 129          0.95      88            0.65      92            0.70      64            0.51       39             0.34

Total 13,563$   100.00  % 13,399$   100.00  % 13,136$   100.00  % 12,500$   100.00   % 11,738$    100.00   %

(Dollars In Thousands)

Percentage 

of total

Percentage 

of total

Allocation of the Allowance for Loan Losses

Year Ended December 31,

Percentage 

of total

Percentage 

of total

Percentage 

of total

 
 

Non-performing Assets And Loans Past Due   

 

The following table presents information with respect to non-performing assets and 90 day delinquencies as of the dates indicated.   

 
         

 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Non-accrual loans:

Commercial real estate - owner occupied -$              -$              -$         -$            2,694$          

Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 5,486            -                -           -              321               

Residential real estate 163               129               871           922             2,249            

Commercial 722               1,493            1,664        1,821          1,439            

Real estate construction 1,046            -                -           -              -               

Consumer -                -                -           -              -               

Total non-accrual loans 7,417            1,622            2,535        2,743          6,703            

Other real estate owned ("OREO") -                -                -           -              -               

Total non-performing assets 7,417$          1,622$          2,535$      2,743$        6,703$          

Restructured loans included above in non-accrual loans 1,046$          698$             931$         759$           1,428$          

Ratio of non-performing assets to:

Total loans plus OREO 0.84% 0.21% 0.37% 0.44% 1.18%

Total assets 0.63% 0.15% 0.30% 0.32% 0.83%

Accruing past due loans:

90 or more days past due -$              -$              -$         -$            -$             

Year Ended December 31,

Non-performing Assets and Accruing Loans Past Due 90 Days or More

(Dollars In Thousands)

 
 

Non-accrual loans totaled $7.4 million at December 31, 2015 and were comprised of six borrowers.  The loans are carried at the 
current net realizable value after consideration of $115 thousand in specific reserves.  Included in non-accrual loans at December 31, 

2015 is a restructured construction loan in the amount of $1,046 thousand. There were no restructured loans prior to 2010. The Bank 

considers restructurings of loans to troubled borrowers when it is deemed to be beneficial to the borrower and improves the 

prospects for complete recovery of the debt.  

 

The accrual of interest is discontinued at the time a loan is 90 days delinquent unless the credit is well-secured and in process of 

collection. When a loan is placed on non-accrual, accrued and unpaid interest is reversed from interest income.  Subsequent receipts 

on non-accrual loans are recorded as a reduction to the principal balance. Interest income is recorded only after principal recovery is 
complete. 

 

The loss potential for each loan has been evaluated, and in management’s opinion, the risk of loss is adequately reserved against.  

Management actively works with the borrowers to maximize the potential for repayment and reports on the status to the Board of 

Directors monthly.  

 

Not included in the table above is other real estate owned in the amount of $500 thousand.  During 2014, ARE transferred an 

undeveloped commercial lot that was originally purchased for possible future banking center expansion to other assets available for 
sale when management listed the property for sale.  The land, originally purchased for $1.2 million, was recorded at its appraised 

value less costs to sell. As such,  ARE recorded an impairment charge of $707 thousand in the third quarter of 2014.  
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Deposits 

Deposits totaled $913.7 million at December 31, 2015 and were comprised of noninterest-bearing demand deposits in the amount of 
$307.8 million, savings and interest-bearing deposits in the amount of $293.7 million, and time deposits in the amount of $312.2  

million.  Total deposits increased $158.3 million from December 31, 2014.  Noninterest-bearing deposits increased $54.9 million 

from $252.9 million at December 31, 2014 to $307.8 million at December 31, 2015.  This increase in noninterest-bearing accounts is 

due to a combination of new accounts and increased balances in existing commercial accounts at year end.  Savings and interest-

bearing deposit accounts increased $59.9 million from $233.8 million at December 31, 2014 to $293.7 million at December 31, 

2015.  Time deposits increased $43.4 million and totaled $312.2 million at December 31, 2015 compared to $268.8 million in 2014.     

We use wholesale funding or brokered deposits to supplement traditional customer deposits for liquidity and to maintain our desired 

interest rate risk position. Together with FHLB borrowings we use brokered deposits to fund the short-term cash needs associated 
with the LHFS activities discussed under “Loans” as well as other funding needs. Brokered deposits totaled $191.9 million at 

December 31, 2015, which included $88.5 million in CDARS/ICS deposits as compared to $177.0 million at December 31, 2014, 

which included $163.6 million in CDARS/ICS deposits.  

 

Through CDARS our depositors are able to obtain FDIC insurance of up to $50 million.  The FDIC currently classifies CDARS 

deposits as brokered deposits, even though the deposits originate from our customers.  These deposits are placed at other 

participating financial institutions to obtain FDIC insurance, and we receive a reciprocal amount in return from these financial 

institutions.  
 

True brokered deposits have increased from $13.3 million at December 31, 2014 to $103.4 million at December 31, 2015.   Brokered 

deposits are viewed by many as being volatile and unstable; however, unlike retail certificates of deposit, there are no early 

withdrawal options on brokered certificates of deposit for any reason other than death of the underlying depositors.  Brokered 

deposits provide funding flexibility and can be renewed at maturity, allowed to roll off or increased or decreased without any impact 

on core deposit relationships. 

 

We manage the roll over risk of all deposits by maintaining liquid assets in the form of interest-bearing balances at the FRB and 
FHLB as well as investment securities available-for-sale and loans held for sale.  In addition we also maintain lines of credit with the 

FHLB, FRB, and correspondent banks.  At December 31, 2015 there was $120.0 million available under these lines of credit. 

 

Depositors have been reluctant to extend maturities on certificates of deposits due to the low interest rate environment which has 

resulted in an increase in certificates of deposits maturing in the one year or less category.  We anticipate that we will renew these 

certificates of deposits depending on our current funding needs.  Our Asset Liability Committee monitors the level of re-pricing 

assets and liabilities and establishes pricing guidelines to maintain net interest margins. 

  
The daily average balances and weighted average rates paid on deposits for each of the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 

2013 are presented below. 

 

   

Average Income / Yield / Average Income / Yield / Average Income / Yield /

Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate

Interest-bearing demand deposits 119,732$         265$        0.22% 114,853$         256$        0.22% 75,706$         148$          0.20%

Money market deposit accounts 126,850           264          0.21% 115,192           232          0.20% 120,307         282            0.23%

Savings accounts 13,606             66            0.49% 3,884               14            0.36% 2,483             5                0.20%

Time deposits 302,924           3,053       1.01% 243,338           2,479       1.02% 287,364         3,051         1.06%

            Total interest-bearing deposits 563,112$         3,648$     0.65% 477,267$         2,981$     0.62% 485,860$       3,486$       0.72%

Noninterest-bearing demand deposits 303,583           238,118           192,671         

            Total deposits 866,695$         715,385$         678,531$       

Average Deposits and Average Rates Paid

2014 20132015

(Dollars In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
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The table below presents the maturity distribution of time deposits at December 31, 2015. 

 

Three months Over three Over

or less through twelve months twelve months Total

Less than $100,000 3,170$            10,967$                         15,437$                    29,574$        

Greater than or equal to $100,000 41,201            123,268                         118,193                    282,662        

 44,371$          134,235$                       133,630$                  312,236$      

     Certificate of Deposit Maturity Distribution

Year Ended December 31, 2015

     (In Thousands)

 
 

Borrowings 

 

Borrowed funds generally consist of advances from the FHLB, securities sold under agreements to repurchase, and federal funds 

purchased. At December 31, 2015 borrowed funds totaled $146.1 million, compared to $185.6 million at December 31, 2014.  

 

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase represent overnight investment of funds from commercial checking accounts 

pursuant to sweep agreements which enable our corporate clients to receive interest on their excess funds. 

The following table provides a breakdown of all borrowed funds. 

2015 2014 2013

Borrowings:

At Period End

FHLB short-term 70,000$       160,000$   145,000$     

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 21,129         25,635       27,855         

FHLB long-term borrowings 55,000         -             -               

Total at period end 146,129$     185,635$   172,855$     

2015 2014 2013

Borrowings:

Average Balances

FHLB short-term 91,992$       115,471$   43,077$       

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 21,853         21,071       25,524         

FHLB long-term borrowings 18,890         -             -               

Subordinated debentures -               -             3,135           

Federal funds purchased 164              58              -               

Total average balance 132,899$     136,600$   71,736$       

Average rate paid on all borrowed funds 0.35% 0.21% 0.32%

Year Ended December 31,

Borrowed Funds Distribution

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars In Thousands)

(Dollars In Thousands)

 
 

Average rate paid on all borrowed funds Average Balances Expense Yield Average Balances Expense Yield

FHLB advances and other borrowings 110,882$              450$        0.41% 115,471$              271$        0.23%

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 21,853                  20            0.09% 21,071                  20            0.09%

Fed funds purchased 164                       1              0.01% 58                         1              0.01%

132,899$              471$        0.35% 136,600$              292$        0.21%

Year Ended December 31,  

2015 2014

                                              (Dollars In Thousands)
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Maximum balances at any given month-end during the periods of analysis are reflected in the following table: 

 

    Maximum Balance at     Maximum Balance at      Maximum Balance at

         any month-end          any month-end          any month-end

FHLB borrowings 160,000$    January 161,000$     November 145,000$    December

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 26,242        January 33,980         April 32,531        February

Subordinated debentures -              -               6,186          June

Fed funds purchased -              10,000         September -              

(Dollars In Thousands)

2013

Year Ended December 31,

2015 2014

 
 

Shareholders’ Equity 

 

Shareholders’ equity totaled $109.1 million at December 31, 2015, compared to $98.9 million at December 31, 2014. Major changes 

in shareholders’ equity during 2015 include net income of $13.2 million, $773 thousand from proceeds of stock options exercised, 

and stock based compensation of $195 thousand, an unrealized comprehensive loss on available-for-sale securities of  $2.1 million, 

and cash dividends paid of $11.5 million.  The 2015 dividends paid include the special non-routine cash dividend of $0.35 per share 

discussed in more detail under “Item 5 – Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases 
of Equity Securities”.   

 

Banking regulators have defined minimum regulatory capital ratios that the Corporation and the Bank are required to maintain.  

These risk-based capital guidelines take into consideration risk factors, as defined by the banking regulators, associated with various 

categories of assets, both on and off the balance sheet.  Both the Corporation and Bank are classified as well capitalized, which is the 

highest rating.  The Corporation’s capital strategy is to remain well capitalized under regulatory standards and maintain a minimum 

tangible common equity to asset ratio of 8.00% but less than 10.50%. 
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The table below presents an analysis of risk-based capital and outlines the regulatory components of capital and risk-based capital 

ratios for the Corporation.  

 

2015 2014 2013

(Dollars In Thousands)

Tier 1 Capital:

Common stock 8,805$         8,742$        8,659$        

Additional paid in capital 19,953         18,538        17,320        

Retained earnings 81,385         72,168        67,121        

Less: Disallowed goodwill and other disallowed intangible assets (1,380)         (1,491)        -             

Less: Disallowed servicing assets and loss on equity security (280)            (244)           (313)           

Total Tier 1 Capital 108,483$     97,713$      92,787$      

Allowance for loan losses 12,200         10,980        9,680          

Total Risk Based Capital 120,683$     108,693$    102,467$    

Risk weighted assets 973,908$     875,862$    770,276$    

Quarterly average assets 1,161,080$  1,007,628$ 848,886$    

Risk-Based Capital Ratios:

Common equity tier 1 capital ratio 11.14% NA NA

Tier 1 capital ratio 11.14% 11.16% 12.05%

Total capital ratio 12.39% 12.41% 13.30%

Leverage Capital Ratio:

Tier 1 leverage ratio 9.34% 9.70% 10.93%

Risk Based Capital Analysis

 Year Ended December 31,

 
 

Liquidity Management  

Liquidity is the ability of the Corporation to meet current and future cash flow requirements.  The liquidity of a financial institution 
reflects its ability to convert assets into cash or cash equivalents without significant loss and to raise additional funds by increasing 

liabilities.  Liquidity management involves maintaining the Corporation’s ability to meet the daily cash flow requirements of both 

depositors and borrowers.  

Asset and liability management functions not only serve to assure adequate liquidity in order to meet the needs of the Corporation’s 

customers, but also to maintain an appropriate balance between interest sensitive assets and interest sensitive liabilities so that the 

Corporation can earn an appropriate return for its shareholders.  

The asset portion of the balance sheet provides liquidity primarily through loan principal repayments and maturities of investment 

securities.  Other short-term investments such as federal funds sold and interest-bearing deposits with other banks are additional 

sources of liquidity funding.  At December 31, 2015, overnight interest-bearing balances totaled $24.6 million and securities 

available-for-sale totaled $160.2 million.  

The liability portion of the balance sheet provides liquidity through various interest-bearing and noninterest-bearing deposit 

accounts, federal funds purchased, securities sold under agreement to repurchase and other short-term borrowings.  At December 31, 

2015, the Bank had a line of credit with the FHLB totaling $335.3 million with short-term borrowings of $70 million and long-term 

borrowings of $55 million leaving approximately $210.3 million available on the line.  In addition to the line of credit at the FHLB, 

the Bank issues repurchase agreements.  As of December 31, 2015, outstanding repurchase agreements totaled $21.1 million.  The 
interest rate on these instruments is variable and subject to change daily.  The Bank also maintains federal funds lines of credit with 

its correspondent banks and, at December 31, 2015, available credit under these lines amounted to $60.5 million.     

The Bank relies on deposits and other short and long-term resources for liquidity from a variety of sources that substantially reduces 
reliance upon any single provider. The Corporation expects its short and long-term sources of liquidity and capital to remain 

adequate to support expected growth.   
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Contractual Obligations 

The following table summarizes the Corporation’s significant fixed and determinable contractual obligations to make future 

payments as of December 31, 2015.  

Less Than  1 - 3 More Than

1 Year Years 3 Years Total

  Certificates of deposit 178,606$       120,850$   12,780$    312,236$   

  FHLB Advances 70,000           35,000       20,000      125,000     

  Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 21,129           -             -           21,129       

  Leases 362                603            1,189        2,154         

            Total 270,097$       156,453$   33,969$    460,519$   

December 31, 2015

(In Thousands)

 

The Corporation generates sufficient cash flows and has adequate resources to meet its contractual obligations.  We anticipate that 

substantially all of the maturing certificates of deposit will be renewed with the exception of certain brokered deposits that we 

intentionally will not be renewing.  Securities sold under agreements to repurchase are likely to remain substantially the same as this 

item represents funds from overnight sweep agreements with our commercial checking customers. 

Off Balance Sheet Items  

During the ordinary course of business, the Bank issues commitments to extend credit and, at December 31, 2015, these 

commitments amounted to $365.7 million.  Included in this balance are $7.6 million in performance standby letters of credit. These 

commitments do not necessarily represent cash requirements, since many commitments are expected to expire without being drawn 

on.  

The Mortgage Division had open forward contracts at December 31, 2015 totaling $49.0 million.  See Notes 8 and 9 to the 

consolidated financial statements for further information. 

The Mortgage Division has agreements with a variety of counterparties to whom mortgage loans are sold on a non-recourse basis. 

As customary in the industry, the agreements require the Mortgage Division to extend representations and warranties with respect to 
program compliance, borrower misrepresentation, fraud, and early payment performance.  Under the agreements, the counterparties 

are entitled to make loss claims and repurchase requests of the Mortgage Division for loans that contain covered deficiencies.  The 

Mortgage Division has adopted a reserve methodology whereby provisions are made to an expense account to fund a reserve 

maintained as a liability account on the balance sheet for potential losses. The amount of the provision and adequacy of the reserve 

is recommended by management and approved by the Board no less than quarterly.  Management estimates the reserve based upon 

an analysis of historical loss experiences and actual settlements with our counterparties. A schedule of expected losses on loans with 

claims or indemnifications is maintained to ensure the reserve equals or exceeds the estimate of loss.  Claims in process are 

recognized in the period received, actively  monitored and subject to validation prior to payment.  Often times, claims are not 
factually validated and the claim is rescinded.  Once claims are validated and the actual or potential loss is agreed upon with the 

counterparty, the reserve is charged and a cash payment is made to settle the claim.  The loan performance data of sold loans is not 

always made available to the Mortgage Division by the counterparties, thereby making it difficult to estimate the timing and amount 

of claims until such time as claims are actually presented.  During the third quarter of 2014, $3.25 million in reserves were released 

in connection with  management’s on-going analysis of reserve requirements.  Through careful monitoring and conservative 

estimates, the balance of the reserve has adequately provided for all claims since established. At December 31, 2015 and 2014 the 

balance in this reserve totaled approximately $1.0 million and $1.2 million, respectively, and is included in “Other liabilities and 

accrued expenses” on the balance sheet.  
 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

 

Refer to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. 

  



 42 

ITEM 7A – QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

The Corporation’s market risk is composed primarily of interest rate risk.  The Asset Liability Committee is responsible for  

reviewing the interest rate sensitivity position and establishes policies to monitor and coordinate the Corporation’s sources , uses, and 

pricing of funds. 

Interest Rate Sensitivity Management  

The Corporation uses a simulation model to analyze, manage and formulate operating strategies that address net interest income 

sensitivity to movements in interest rates.  The simulation model projects net interest income based on various interest rate scenarios 

over a twelve month period.  The model is based on the actual maturity and re-pricing characteristics of rate sensitive assets and 

liabilities.  The model incorporates certain assumptions which management believes to be reasonable regarding the impact of 

changing interest rates and the prepayment assumption of certain assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2015.  The model assumes 

changes in interest rates without any management intervention to change the composition of the balance sheet.  According to the 

model run for the period ended December 31, 2015, over a twelve month period an immediate 100 basis points increase in interest 
rates would result in an increase in net interest income by 1.5%.  An immediate 200 basis points increase in interest rates would 

result in an increase in net interest income by 3.4%.  A 100 basis points decrease in interest rates would result in a negative variance 

in net interest income and is considered unlikely given current interest rate levels. While management carefully monitors the 

exposure to changes in interest rates and takes actions as warranted to decrease any adverse impact, there can be no assurance about 

the actual effect of interest rate changes on net interest income. 

 

The Corporation’s net interest income and the fair value of its financial instruments are influenced by changes in the level of interest 

rates. The Corporation manages its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates through policies established by its Asset Liability 
Committee. The Asset Liability Committee meets monthly and has responsibility for formulating and implementing strategies to 

improve balance sheet positioning and net income and reviewing interest rate sensitivity.   

 

The Mortgage Division is party to mortgage rate lock commitments to fund mortgage loans at interest rates previously agreed 

(locked) by both the Mortgage Division and the borrower for specified periods of time. When the borrower locks his or her interest 

rate, the Mortgage Division effectively extends a put option to the borrower, whereby the borrower is not obligated to enter into the 

loan agreement, but the Mortgage Division must honor the interest rate for the specified time period.   The Mortgage Division is 

exposed to interest rate risk during the accumulation of interest rate lock commitments and loans prior to sale. The Mortgage 
Division utilizes either a best efforts sell forward or a mandatory sell forward commitment to economically hedge the changes in fair 

value of the loan due to changes in market interest rates.  Failure to effectively monitor, manage, and hedge the interest rate risk 

associated with the mandatory commitments subjects the Mortgage Division to potentially significant market risk. 

 

Throughout the lock period the changes in the market value of interest rate lock commitments, best efforts and mandatory sell 

forward commitments are recorded as unrealized gains and losses and are included in the consolidated statement of income under 

other noninterest income. The Mortgage Division utilizes a third party and its proprietary simulation model to assist in identifying 

and managing the risk associated with this activity.   

 

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices 

 

A bank’s asset and liability structure is substantially different from that of a non-financial company in that virtually all assets and 

liabilities of a bank are monetary in nature.  The impact of inflation on financial results depends upon the Bank’s ability to react to 

changes in interest rates and, by such reaction, reduce the inflationary impact on performance.  Interest rates do not necessarily move 

in the same direction, or at the same magnitude, as the prices of other goods and services.  Management seeks to manage the 

relationship between interest-sensitive assets and liabilities in order to protect against wide interest rate fluctuations, including those 
resulting from inflation. 
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ITEM 8 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 

Board of Directors and Shareholders 

Access National Corporation 
Reston, Virginia 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Access National Corporation as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 

and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each 

of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s 

management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 

free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

Access National Corporation at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three 

years in the period ended December 31, 2015, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 

America. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Access 

National Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 

(COSO) and our report dated March 15, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  

 

/S/ BDO USA, LLP 

 

BDO USA, LLP 

Richmond, Virginia 

March 15, 2016 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 

Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Access National Corporation 
Reston, Virginia 
 
We have audited Access National Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established 
in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the 
COSO criteria).  Access National Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting 
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Corporation’s internal control over financial 
reporting based on our audit. 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects.  Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on 
the assessed risk.  Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.  We believe that 
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles.  A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 
In our opinion, Access National Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2015, based on the COSO criteria. 
 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets of Access National Corporation as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of 
income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 
2015, and our report dated March 15, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 
 

 

/S/ BDO USA, LLP 

 

BDO USA, LLP 
Richmond, Virginia 

March 15, 2016 
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Assets 2015 2014

Cash and due from banks 11,291$          9,804$            

Interest-bearing deposits in other banks and federal funds sold 24,598            46,225            

Securities available-for-sale, at fair value 160,162          125,080          

Securities held-to-maturity, at amortized cost (fair value of $14,314 and $14,378) 14,287            14,309            

Total investment securities 174,449          139,389          

Restricted stock 7,259              8,961              

Loans held for sale 44,135            45,026            

Loans, net of allowance for loan losses 2015 - $13,563; 2014 - $13,399 873,915          763,204          

Premises and equipment, net 6,689              6,926              

Accrued interest receivable and other assets 36,212            33,345            

Total assets 1,178,548$     1,052,880$     

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Liabilities

Deposits

Noninterest-bearing demand deposits 307,797$        252,875$        

Savings and interest-bearing deposits 293,711          233,773          

Time deposits 312,236          268,795          

Total deposits 913,744          755,443          

Short-term borrowings 91,129            185,635          

Long-term borrowings 55,000            -                  

Other liabilities and accrued expenses 9,537              12,898            

Total liabilities 1,069,410       953,976          

Shareholders' Equity

Common stock, par value $0.835, authorized 60,000,000 shares,

issued and outstanding, 2015 - 10,544,751 and 2014 - 10,469,569 8,805              8,742              

Additional paid-in capital 19,953            18,538            

Retained earnings 81,385            72,168            

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net (1,005)             (544)                

Total shareholders' equity 109,138          98,904            

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 1,178,548$     1,052,880$     

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

December 31,

ACCESS NATIONAL CORPORATION

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In Thousands, Except for Share and Per Share Data) 
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2015 2014 2013

Interest and Dividend Income

Loans 40,055$              35,702$              33,841$              

Interest-bearing deposits and federal funds sold 129                     102                     107                     

Securities 3,482                  2,697                  1,928                  

Total interest and dividend income 43,666                38,501                35,876                

Interest Expense

Deposits 3,648                  2,981                  3,486                  

Short-term borrowings 252                     292                     123                     

Long-term borrowings 219                     -                      -                      

Subordinated debentures -                      -                      103                     

Total interest expense 4,119                  3,273                  3,712                  

Net interest income 39,547                35,228                32,164                

   Provision for loan losses 150                     -                      675                     

Net interest income after provision for

loan losses 39,397                35,228                31,489                

Noninterest Income

Service fees on deposit accounts 903                     695                     691                     

Gain on sale of loans 19,633                15,146                21,109                

Other income 5,529                  3,459                  6,350                  

Total noninterest income 26,065                19,300                28,150                

Noninterest Expense

Compensation and employee benefits 26,966                22,654                25,289                

Occupancy 1,594                  1,602                  1,660                  

Furniture and equipment 1,446                  1,219                  919                     

Other 11,860                7,543                  11,330                

Total noninterest expense 41,866                33,018                39,198                

Income before income taxes 23,596                21,510                20,441                

Provision for income taxes 8,177                  7,585                  7,234                  

Net Income 15,419$              13,925$              13,207$              

Earnings per common share:

Basic 1.46$                  1.33$                  1.28$                  

Diluted 1.46$                  1.33$                  1.27$                  

Average outstanding shares:

Basic 10,513,008         10,424,067         10,319,802         

Diluted 10,581,871         10,466,841         10,403,155         

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Year Ended December 31,

 ACCESS NATIONAL CORPORATION

(In Thousands, Except for Share and Per Share Data)

Consolidated Statements of Income
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2015 2014 2013

Net income 15,419$              13,925$             13,207$             

Other comprehensive income:

Unrealized gains (losses) on securities

Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during period (528)                   2,206                 (3,168)                

Less: reclassification adjustment for gains included in 

net income (188)                   (18)                     -                     

Tax effect 255                     (766)                   1,109                 

   Net of tax amount (461)                   1,422                 (2,059)                

Comprehensive income 14,958$              15,347$             11,148$             

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Year Ended December 31,

ACCESS NATIONAL CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In Thousands)
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Accumulated

Other

Additional Compre-

Common Paid in Retained hensive

Stock Capital Earnings Income (Loss)   Total

Balance, December 31, 2012 8,615$         17,155$        65,404$    93$                   91,267$         

Comprehensive income:

Net income -               -                13,207      -                    13,207           

Other comprehensive loss -               -                -            (2,059)               (2,059)            

Stock options exercised (113,107 shares) 95                678               -            -                    773                

    Repurchase of common stock under share 

repurchase program (61,454 shares) (51)               (714)              -            -                    (765)               

Excess tax benefits from stock based payment arrangements 6                   6                    

    Cash dividends ($1.11 per share) -               -                (11,490)     -                    (11,490)          

    Stock-based compensation

 expense recognized in earnings -               195               -            -                    195                

Balance, December 31, 2013 8,659$         17,320$        67,121$    (1,966)$             91,134$         

Comprehensive income:

Net income -               -                13,925      -                    13,925           

Other comprehensive income -               -                -            1,422                1,422             

Stock options exercised (76,132 shares) 63                617               -            -                    680                

Issuance of restricted common stock (24,017 shares) 20                365               -            -                    385                

    Cash dividends ($0.50 per share) -               -                (5,214)       -                    (5,214)            

    Cash dividend declared ($0.35 per share) -               -                (3,664)       -                    (3,664)            

    Stock-based compensation

 expense recognized in earnings -               236               -            -                    236                

Balance, December 31, 2014 8,742$         18,538$        72,168$    (544)$                98,904$         

Comprehensive income:

Net income -               -                15,419      -                    15,419           

Other comprehensive loss -               -                -            (461)                  (461)               

Stock options exercised (29,975 shares) 26                354               -            -                    380                

Issuance of restricted common stock (7,500 shares) 6                  122               -            -                    128                

    Dividend reinvestment plan shares issued

from reserve (37,707 shares) 31                607               -            -                    638                

    Cash dividends ($0.58 per share) -               -                (6,202)       -                    (6,202)            

    Stock-based compensation

 expense recognized in earnings -               332               -            -                    332                

Balance, December 31, 2015 8,805$         19,953$        81,385$    (1,005)$             109,138$       

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

 ACCESS NATIONAL CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity

(In Thousands, Except for Share and Per Share Data)
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2015 2014 2013

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net income 15,419$                  13,925$                  13,207$                  

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities:

Provision for loan losses 150             -              675             

Provision for (recapture of provision for) losses on mortgage loans sold -              (3,250)         388             

Provision for off balance sheet losses 109             5                 153             

Writedown of other real estate owned -              707             -              

Income from bank-owned life insurance (460)            (332)            -              

Gain on sale of securities 89                           47                           -                          

Excess tax benefits -                          -                          6                             

Deferred tax benefit (534)            866             89               

Stock-based compensation 332             236             195             

Valuation allowance on derivatives (383)            205             370             

Net amortization (accretion) on securities 1,077          790             383             

Depreciation and amortization 507             485             478             

(Gain) loss on disposal of assets -              2                 (1)                

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in valuation of loans held for sale carried at fair value 240                         (1,210)                     4,147                      

Originations of loans held for sale (484,747)                 (408,346)                 (574,951)                 

Proceeds from sales of loans held for sale 485,398      388,883      657,993      

Decrease (increase) in other assets (1,470)     (3,342)     901         

Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 382         1,944      (1,690)     

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 16,109                    (8,385)                     102,343                  

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Proceeds from maturities and calls of securities available for sale 33,725                25,008                30,518                

Proceeds from sale of available for sale securities 31,151                26,613                -                      

Purchases of securities available for sale (100,107)             (99,178)               (79,196)               

Proceeds from maturities and calls of securities held to maturity -                      5,000                      30,000                    

Purchase of securities held to maturity -                      (3,055)                 (1,315)                 

Purchase of bank owned life insurance -                      (15,000)               -                      

Net increase in loans (110,861)             (89,285)               (70,116)               

Proceeds from sale of equipment -                      1                         10                       

Purchases of premises and equipment (232)                    (211)                    (338)                    

Net cash used in investing activities (146,324)                 (150,107)                 (90,437)                   

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net increase in demand, interest-bearing demand and savings deposits 114,860              96,544                37,947                

Net (decrease) increase in time deposits 43,441                85,927                (136,471)             

Decrease in securities sold under agreement to repurchase (4,506)                 (2,220)                 (10,236)               

Net (decrease) increase in other short-term borrowings (90,000)               15,000                100,000              

Net (decrease) increase in long-term borrowings 55,000                -                      (6,186)                 

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 1,146                  1,065                  773                     

Repurchase of common stock -                      -                      (765)                    

Dividends paid (9,866)                 (5,214)                 (11,490)               

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities 110,075                  191,102                  (26,428)                   

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (20,140)                   32,610                    (14,522)                   

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Beginning 56,029                23,419                37,941                

Ending 35,889$              56,029$              23,419$              

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information

Cash payments for interest 4,094$                3,202$                3,811$                

Cash payments for income taxes 8,769$                6,089$                8,451$                

Supplemental Disclosures of Noncash Investing Activities

Unrealized gain (loss) on securities available for sale (709)$                  2,188$                (3,168)$               

Purchased land transferred to other assets held for sale -$                    1,207$                -$                    

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Years Ended December 31

 (In Thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

 ACCESS NATIONAL CORPORATION
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ACCESS NATIONAL CORPORATION 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

       

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
       

Nature of Operations - Access National Corporation (the “Corporation “) is a bank holding company incorporated under the laws of the 

Commonwealth of Virginia. The holding company was formed on June 15, 2002. The Corporation owns all of the stock of its subsidiary 

Access National Bank (the “Bank”). The Bank is an independent commercial bank chartered under federal laws as a national banking 

association.  

 

The Bank has three active wholly-owned subsidiaries: Access Real Estate LLC, a real estate company; ACME Real Estate LLC, a real 

estate holding company of foreclosed property; and Access Capital Management Holding, LLC, a holding company for Capital Fiduciary 
Advisors, L.L.C., Access Investment Services, L.L.C. and Access Insurance Group, L.L.C. 

 

Basis of Presentation - The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Access National Corporation and its 

wholly-owned subsidiary, Access National Bank.  All significant inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated in 

consolidation. The accounting and reporting policies of the Corporation and its subsidiaries conform to accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America and to predominant practices within the banking industry. 

 

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions based on available information.  These estimates and 

assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 

financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 

estimates. Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change in the near term relate to the determination of the 

allowance for loan losses, the fair values and impairments of financial instruments, the status of contingencies and the valuation of 

deferred tax assets.  

 

Cash Flow Reporting - For purposes of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash and due from banks, 
federal funds sold and interest-bearing deposits at other banks.  

 

Restrictions on Cash and Cash Equivalents - As a member of the Federal Reserve System, the Bank is required to maintain certain 

average reserve balances. Those balances include usable vault cash and amounts on deposit with the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond 

(“FRB”). At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the amount of daily average required balances was approximately $38.7 million and $30.6 

million, respectively. The Mortgage Division held escrow deposits in conjunction with mortgage loans totaling $269 thousand and $237 

thousand at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

 
Securities - Debt securities that management has both the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as “held-to-

maturity” and are recorded at amortized cost. Securities not classified as held-to-maturity, including equity securities with readily 

determinable fair values, are classified as “available-for-sale” and recorded at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses excluded from 

net income and reported in other comprehensive income. 

       

Purchase premiums and discounts are recognized in interest income using the effective interest method over the terms of the securities or 

call dates if applicable. Declines in the fair value of held-to-maturity and available-for-sale securities below their cost that are deemed to 

be other than temporary are reflected in net income as realized losses. Gains and losses on the sale of securities are recorded on the trade 
date and are determined using the specific identification method.  

 

Restricted Stock 

 

Restricted stock consists of Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (“FHLB”) stock and FRB stock.  These stocks are classified as restricted 

stocks because their ownership is restricted to certain types of entities and they lack a market.  Restricted stock is carried at cost on the 

Corporation's financial statements. Dividends are paid semiannually on FRB stock and quarterly on FHLB stock.  
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
Other Than Temporary Impairment of Investment Securities – Securities are evaluated quarterly for potential other than temporary 

impairment. Management considers the facts of each security including the nature of the security, the amount and duration of the loss, 

credit quality of the issuer, the expectations for that security’s performance, and the Corporation’s intent and ability to hold the security 

until recovery. Declines in equity securities that are considered to be other than temporary are recorded as a charge to net income in the 

Consolidated Statements of Income. Declines in debt securities that are considered to be other than temporary are separated into (1) the 

amount of the total impairment related to credit loss and (2) the amount of the total impairment related to all other factors. The amount of 

the total other than temporary impairment related to the credit loss is recognized in net income. The amount of the total impairment related 

to all other factors is recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 

Loans - The Corporation grants commercial, real estate, and consumer loans to customers in the community in and around the Greater 

Washington D.C. Metropolitan Area. The loan portfolio is well diversified and generally collateralized by assets of the customers. The 

loans are expected to be repaid from cash flow or proceeds from the sale of selected assets of the borrowers. The ability of the 

Corporation’s debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real estate and general economic conditions in the Corporation’s 

market area.  

 

Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or pay-off generally are reported at 
their outstanding unpaid principal balances less the allowance for loan losses and any deferred fees or costs on originated loans. Interest 

income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. Loan origination fees, net of certain direct origination costs, are deferred and 

recognized as an adjustment of the related loan yield using the effective interest method.  

 

The accrual of interest on mortgage and commercial loans is discontinued at the time the loan is 90 days delinquent unless the credit is 

well-secured and in process of collection. Consumer loans are typically charged off no later than 180 days past due. In all cases, loans are 

placed on non-accrual status or charged-off at an earlier date if collection of principal or interest is considered doubtful.  All interest 

accrued but not collected for loans that are placed on non-accrual status or charged-off is reversed against interest income. The interest on 
these loans is accounted for on the cash-basis or cost-recovery method, until qualifying for return to accrual. Loans are returned to accrual 

status when all of the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future payments are reasonably assured.  

 

Interest Income on Loans - Interest on loans is accrued and credited to income based on the principal amount outstanding. The accrual of 

interest on loans is discontinued when, in the opinion of management, there is an indication that the borrower may be unable to meet 

payments as they become due. Upon such discontinuance, all unpaid accrued interest is reversed. 

 

Loans Held for Sale - The Corporation accounts for all one to four unit residential loans originated and intended for sale in the secondary 
market in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 825-10.  Loans 

held for sale are recorded at fair value, determined individually, as of the balance sheet date.   

 

Allowance for Loan Losses - The allowance for loan losses is established as losses are estimated to have occurred through a provision for 

loan losses charged to net income. Loan losses are charged against the allowance when management believes the uncollectibility of a loan 

balance is confirmed. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance.  

 

The allowance represents an amount that, in management’s judgment, will be adequate to absorb any losses on existing loans that may 
become uncollectible. Management’s judgment in determining the adequacy of the allowance is based on evaluations of the collectability 

of loans while taking into consideration such factors as changes in the nature and volume of the loan portfolio, current economic 

conditions which may affect a borrower’s ability to repay, overall portfolio quality, and review of specific potential losses. This evaluation 

is inherently subjective, as it requires estimates that are susceptible to significant revision as more information becomes available.  

 

The allowance consists of specific and general components. The specific component relates to loans that are classified as doubtful, 

substandard or special mention. For such loans that are also classified as impaired, an allowance is established when the discounted cash 

flows (or collateral value or observable market price) of the impaired loan is lower than the carrying value of that loan. The general 
component covers non-classified loans and is based on historical loss experience adjusted for qualitative factors. 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
A loan is considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Corporation will be unable to collect 

the scheduled payments of principal or interest when due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Factors considered by 

management in determining impairment include payment status, collateral value, and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and 

interest payments when due. Loans that experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not classified as 

impaired. Management determines the significance of payment delays and payment shortfalls on a case-by-case basis, taking into 

consideration all of the circumstances surrounding the loan and the borrower, including the length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, 

the borrower’s prior payment record, and the amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed. Impairment is measured 

on a loan by loan basis by either the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate, the 
loan’s obtainable market price, or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent.  

 

Derivative Financial Instruments - The Mortgage Division enters into commitments to fund residential mortgage loans with the 

intention of selling them in the secondary market. The Mortgage Division also enters into forward sales agreements for certain funded 

loans and loan commitments. The Mortgage Division records unfunded commitments intended for loans held for sale and forward sales 

agreements at fair value with changes in fair value recorded as a component of other income. Loans originated and intended for sale in the 

secondary market are carried at fair value. For pipeline loans which are not pre-sold to an investor, the Mortgage Division manages the 

interest rate risk on rate lock commitments by entering into forward sale contracts of mortgage backed securities, whereby the Mortgage 
Division obtains the right to deliver securities to investors in the future at a specified price. Such contracts are accounted for as derivatives 

and are recorded at fair value in derivative assets or liabilities, with changes in fair value recorded in other income.  

     

The Mortgage Division has determined these derivative financial instruments do not meet the hedging criteria required by FASB ASC 815 

and has not designated these derivative financial instruments as hedges.  Accordingly, changes in fair value are recognized currently in 

income.  

       

Premises and Equipment - Premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Premises and equipment are 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives; leasehold improvements are amortized over the lives of the respective leases or the estimated 

useful life of the leasehold improvement, whichever is less. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated 

useful lives of 39 years for office buildings and 3 to 15 years for furniture, fixtures, and equipment. Costs of maintenance and repairs are 

expensed as incurred; improvements and betterments are capitalized. When items are retired or otherwise disposed of, the related costs 

and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gains or losses are included in the determination of net 

income.  

 

Real Estate Owned - Real estate properties acquired through loan foreclosures are recorded initially at fair value, less expected sales 
costs.  Subsequent valuations are performed by management, and the carrying amount of a property is adjusted by a charge to expense to 

reflect any subsequent declines in estimated fair value.  Fair value estimates are based on recent appraisals and current market conditions.  

Gains or losses on sales of real estate owned are recognized upon disposition.  Real estate owned is included in other assets.  At December 

31, 2015 and 2014 the Corporation did not have any real estate owned due to foreclosure.  The Corporation did have one property at 

December 31, 2015 and 2014 which had previously been included in premises and equipment reclassified to other real estate owned when 

it was determined by management the land, originally purchased for potential banking center expansion, would not be used for those 

purposes.  

       
Income Taxes - Income tax expense is the total of the current year income tax due or refundable, the change in deferred tax assets and 

liabilities, and any adjustments related to unrecognized tax benefits.  Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined using the 

balance sheet method. Under this method, the net deferred tax asset or liability is determined based on the tax effects of the temporary 

differences between the book and tax bases of the various balance sheet assets and liabilities and gives current recognition to changes in 

tax rates and laws. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than 

not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Corporation has not identified any material uncertain tax 

positions. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation Plans – The Corporation uses the modified prospective method.  In accordance with FASB ASC 718-10, the 

Corporation measures the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the fair value of the 

award on the grant date.  That cost is recognized over the period during which the employee is required to provide service in exchange for 

the award, the requisite service period.  No compensation expense is recognized for equity instruments for which employees do not render 

the requisite service.  The Corporation determines the fair value of the employee stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing 

model.  
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
Earnings Per Share - Basic earnings per share represents income available to common shareholders divided by the weighted-average 

number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect additional common shares that would have been 

outstanding if dilutive potential common shares had been issued, as well as any adjustment to income that would result from the assumed 

issuance. Common equivalent shares are excluded from the computation if their effect is anti-dilutive.  

 

Fair Value Measurements - The Corporation records certain of its assets and liabilities at fair value. Fair value is defined as the 

exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous 

market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Fair value measurements 
are classified within one of three levels in a valuation hierarchy based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or 

liability as of the measurement date. The three levels are defined as follows: 

 

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has the ability to access as of the                                                

measurement date. 

 

Level 2 - Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices  

in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. 
 

Level 3 - Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a company’s own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would 

use in pricing an asset or liability. 

 

A financial instrument’s categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement.  See Note 16 - Fair Value Measurements. 

 

Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase - Securities sold under agreements to repurchase are accounted for as collateralized 
financing transactions and are recorded at the amounts at which the securities were sold plus accrued interest. Securities, generally 

U.S. government and federal agency securities, pledged as collateral under these financing arrangements cannot be sold or re-pledged by 

the secured party.  

 

Advertising Costs - The Corporation charges the costs of advertising to expense as incurred.  

 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers: Topic 606”.  This ASU supersedes the revenue 

recognition requirements in Topic 605, “Revenue Recognition” as well as most industry-specific guidance.  The amendments also create a 

new Subtopic 340-40 “Other Assets and Deferred Costs – Contracts with Customers”.  In summary, entities are to recognize revenue to 

depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be 

entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The provisions of ASU 2014-09 are effective for annual periods beginning after 

December 15, 2016 and interim periods within 2017.  The adoption of this guidance should not have a material effect on the Corporation’s 

financial condition or results of operations.   

 
In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-11, “Transfers and Servicing (Topic 860)” which changes the accounting for repurchase 

financing arrangements.  It also requires additional disclosures about repurchase agreements and other similar transactions.  Under this 

ASU, transactions would all be accounted for as secured borrowings as the guidance eliminates sale accounting for repurchase-to-maturity 

transactions.  The amendments in the ASU require new disclosures for transactions that are economically similar to repurchase 

agreements in which the transferor retains substantially all of the exposure to the economic return on the transferred financial assets 

throughout the transaction term as well as expanded disclosures on the nature of pledged collateral in repurchase agreements.  The 

provisions of ASU 2014-11 are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2014.  The adoption of this guidance did not 

have a material effect on the Corporation’s financial condition or results of operations. 
 

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-12, “Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718)”. The amendments in this ASU require 

a performance target that affects vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance 

condition. The performance target should not be reflected in estimating the grant-date fair value of the award, and compensation cost 

should be recognized in the period in which it becomes probable that the performance target will be achieved and should represent the 

compensation cost attributable to the period(s) for which the requisite service has already been rendered. The amendments in the ASU are 

effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. The adoption of this guidance should not have a material effect on the 

Corporation’s financial condition or results of operations.  
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements (continued) 
 

In January 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-01, “Income Statement – Extraordinary and Unusual Items (Subtopic 225-20)”.  This ASU 

eliminates extraordinary items from US GAAP and will align more closely with International Accounting Standards 1, “Presentation of 

Financial Statements”.    The amendments in the ASU are effective beginning after December 15, 2015.  The adoption of this guidance 

should not have a material effect on the Corporation’s financial condition or results of operations. 

 

In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-02, “Consolidation (Topic 810)”.  This ASU focuses on the consolidation evaluation for 

reporting organizations that are required to evaluate consolidation of certain legal entities by reducing the number of consolidation models 
from four to two and is intended to improve current GAAP. The amendments in the ASU are effective beginning after December 15, 

2016.  The adoption of this guidance should not have a material effect on the Corporation’s financial condition or results of operations. 

 

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, “Interest – Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30)”.  This ASU requires debt issuance 

costs be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of debt liability.  The amendments in the ASU are 

effective beginning after December 15, 2015.  The adoption of this guidance should not have a material effect on the Corporation’s 

financial condition or results of operations. 

 
In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-15, “Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30)”.  This ASU adds language 

clarifying the Securities and Exchange Commission’s views regarding the presentation and subsequent measurement of debt issuance 

costs associated with line-of-credit arrangements. The amendments in the ASU are effective beginning after December 15, 2015.  The 

adoption of this guidance should not have a material effect on the Corporation’s financial condition or results of operations. 

 

In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-16, “Business Combinations (Topic 805)”.  This ASU requires an acquirer 

retrospectively adjust provisional amounts recognized in a business combination during the measurement period, in the reporting period in 

which the adjustment is determined as well as present separately on the face of the income statement or as a disclosure in the notes to the 
financial statements the portion of the amount recorded in current period earnings that would have been recorded in previous reporting 

periods if the adjustment to the provisional amounts had been recognized as of the acquisition date. The amendments in the ASU are 

effective beginning after December 15, 2015.  The adoption of this guidance should not have a material effect on the Corporation’s 

financial condition or results of operations. 

 

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, “Financial Instruments – Overall (Subtopic 825-10)”.  This ASU requires all equity 

investments to be measured at fair value with changes in the fair value recognized through net income (other than those accounted for 

under equity method of accounting or those that result in consolidation of the investee).  The amendments in this update also require an 
entity to present separately in other comprehensive income the portion of the total change in the fair value of a liability resulting from a 

change in the instrument-specific credit risk when the entity has elected to measure the liability at fair value in accordance with the fair 

value option for financial instruments.   The amendments in the ASU are effective beginning after December 15, 2017.  The adoption of 

this guidance should not have a material effect on the Corporation’s financial condition or results of operations. 
 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)”.  This ASU specifies the accounting for leases in an effort to 

increase transparency and comparability among organizations.  The amendments in the ASU are effective beginning after December 15, 

2018.  While the adoption of this guidance should not have a material effect on the Corporation’s financial condition or results of 

operations, management has yet to quantify the impact of this ASU. 
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Note 2. Securities 

 
The following table provides the amortized cost and fair value for the categories of available-for-sale securities and held-to-maturity 

securities at December 31, 2015 and 2014.  Held-to-maturity securities are carried at amortized cost, which reflects historical cost, 

adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts.  Available-for-sale securities are carried at estimated fair value with net 

unrealized gains or losses reported on an after tax basis as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in shareholders’ 

equity. The estimated fair value of available-for-sale securities is impacted by interest rates, credit spreads, market volatility, and liquidity. 

 

Amortized Cost

Gross 

Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 

Unrealized 

(Losses)

Estimated    

Fair Value

Available-for-sale:

U.S. Government agencies 19,124$             5$                  (225)$          18,904$         

Mortgage backed securities 97,270               31                  (1,224)         96,077           

Corporate bonds 8,967                 20                  (28)              8,959             

Asset Backed Securities 16,288               18                  (308)            15,998           

Municipals - nontaxable 11,885               152                (32)              12,005           

Municipals 6,674                 135                -              6,809             

CRA Mutual fund 1,500                 -                 (90)              1,410             

161,708$           361$              (1,907)$       160,162$       

Held-to-maturity:

U.S. Government agencies 9,987$               50$                (32)$            10,005$         

Municipals 4,300                 43                  (34)              4,309             

14,287$             93$                (66)$            14,314$         

Amortized Cost

Gross 

Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 

Unrealized 

(Losses)

Estimated    

Fair Value

Available-for-sale:

U.S. Government agencies 18,998$             -$               (473)$          18,525$         

Mortgage backed securities 70,001               136                (439)            69,698           

Corporate bonds 13,304               95                  (27)              13,372           

Asset Backed Securities 18,072               83                  (172)            17,983           

Municipals - nontaxable 4,042                 24                  (1)                4,065             

CRA Mutual fund 1,500                 -                 (63)              1,437             

125,917$           338$              (1,175)$       125,080$       

Held-to-maturity:

U.S. Government agencies 9,985$               46$                (25)$            10,006$         

Municipals - nontaxable 1,697                 10                  (3)                1,704             

Municipals 2,627                 41                  -              2,668             

14,309$             97$                (28)$            14,378$         

December 31, 2015

(In Thousands)

December 31, 2014

(In Thousands)
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Note 2. Securities (continued) 

    
The amortized cost and estimated fair value of securities as of December 31, 2015 by contractual maturities are shown below.  Actual 

maturities may differ from contractual maturities because the securities may be called or prepaid without any penalties.  

 

 

 
The estimated fair value of securities pledged to secure public funds, securities sold under agreements to repurchase, and for other 

purposes amounted to $147.9 million and $102.6 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  

       

Restricted Stock 

 

The Corporation’s restricted stock consists of FHLB stock and FRB stock.  The amortized costs of the restricted stock as of December 31, 

2015 and 2014 are as follows: 

 
 

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

Restricted Stock:

Federal Reserve Bank stock 999$                             999$                             

FHLB stock 6,260                            7,962                            

7,259$                          8,961$                          

(In Thousands)

 

Estimated

Amortized Fair

Cost Value

Available-for-sale:

US Treasury and Agencies:

   Due after one through five years 4,000$                4,005$               

   Due after five through ten years 15,124                14,898               

Municipals - nontaxable:

   Due after five through ten years 3,607                  3,633                 

   Due after ten through fifteen years 4,882                  4,980                 

   Due after fifteen years 3,396                  3,393                 

Municipals:

   Due after ten through fifteen years 2,327                  2,383                 

   Due after fifteen years 4,347                  4,427                 

Asset Backed Securities:

   Due after one through five years 1,976                  1,967                 

   Due after five through ten years 3,101                  3,002                 

   Due after fifteen years 11,211                11,029               

Corporate bonds:

   Due after one through five years 8,967                  8,959                 

Mortgage backed securities:

   Due after one through five years 10,913                10,845               

   Due after five through ten years 41,313                40,901               

   Due after ten through fifteen years 14,796                14,511               

   Due after fifteen years 30,248                29,819               

CRA Mutual fund 1,500                  1,410                 

161,708$            160,162$           

Held-to-maturity:

US Treasury and Agencies:

   Due after one through five years 5,000$                5,050$               

   Due after five through ten years 4,987                  4,954                 

Municipals:

   Due after five through ten years 1,486$                1,499$               

   Due after ten through fifteen years 1,129                  1,145                 

Municipals - nontaxable:

   Due after ten through fifteen years 1,404                  1,387                 

   Due after fifteen years 281                     279                    

14,287$              14,314$             

December 31, 2015

(In Thousands)
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Note 2. Securities (continued) 

 
Investment securities available-for-sale and held-to-maturity that had an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 

2014 are detailed below. 

December 31, 2015 Estimated Estimated Estimated

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

Investment securities available-for-sale:

Mortgage backed securities 63,327$         (774)$             29,375$         (450)$             92,702$         (1,224)$          

U.S. Government agencies 5,040             (85)                 9,858             (140)               14,898           (225)               

Municipals 1,452             (13)                 2,244             (19)                 3,696             (32)                 

Corporate bonds -                 -                 7,066             (28)                 7,066             (28)                 

Asset backed securities 1,967             (9)                   9,531             (299)               11,498           (308)               

CRA Mutual fund -                 -                 1,410             (90)                 1,410             (90)                 

Total 71,786$         (881)$             59,484$         (1,026)$          131,270$       (1,907)$          

Investment securities held-to-maturity:

U.S. Government agencies -$               -$               4,954$           (32)$               4,954$           (32)$               

Municipals - nontaxable -                 -                 3,266             (34)                 3,266             (34)                 

Total -$               -$               8,220$           (66)$               8,220$           (66)$               

December 31, 2014 Estimated Estimated Estimated

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

Investment securities available-for-sale:

Mortgage backed securities 19,252$         (74)$               17,141$         (365)$             36,393$         (439)$             

U.S. Government agencies -                 -                 18,525           (473)               18,525           (473)               

Municipals - nontaxable 2,271             (1)                   -                 -                 2,271             (1)                   

Corporate bonds 4,480             (27)                 -                 -                 4,480             (27)                 

Asset backed securities 6,289             (71)                 2,995             (101)               9,284             (172)               

CRA Mutual fund -                 -                 1,437             (63)                 1,437             (63)                 

Total 32,292$         (173)$             40,098$         (1,002)$          72,390$         (1,175)$          

Investment securities held-to-maturity:

U.S. Government agencies -$               -$               4,960.00$      (25.00)$          4,960$           (25)$               

Municipals -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Municipals - nontaxable 842                (3)                   -                 -                 842                (3)                   

Total 842$              (3)$                 4,960$           (25)$               5,802$           (28)$               

Total

(In Thousands)

Securities in a loss Securities in a loss

Position for less than Position for 12 Months 

12 Months or Longer

Total

(In Thousands)

Securities in a loss Securities in a loss

Position for less than Position for 12 Months 

12 Months or Longer

 
The Corporation evaluates securities for other than temporary impairment (“OTTI”) on a quarterly basis and more frequently when 

economic or market conditions warrant such evaluation.  Consideration is given to various factors in determining whether the Corporation 

anticipates a recovery in fair value such as: the length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than cost, and the financial 

condition and underlying credit quality of the issuer.  When analyzing an issuer’s financial condition, the Corporation may consider 
whether the securities are issued by the federal government or its agencies, the sector or industry trends affecting the issuer, and whether 

any recent downgrades by bond rating agencies have occurred.  

 

Mortgage-backed  

The Corporation’s unrealized losses on available-for-sale mortgage backed securities were caused by interest rate fluctuations. At 

December 31, 2015, thirty-two securities had unrealized losses of $1.2 million.  All thirty-two securities are backed by the United States 

Government or a Government Sponsored Entity.  The Corporation’s intent is to hold these securities until a market price recovery or 

maturity, and it has been determined that it is more likely than not that the Corporation will not be required to sell these securities before 
their anticipated recovery.  As such, the Corporation does not consider these investments other than temporarily impaired. 

 

US Government agencies 

The Corporation’s unrealized losses on U.S. Government Agency obligations were caused by interest rate fluctuations. On December 31, 

2015, one held-to-maturity security had unrealized losses of $32 thousand while three available for sale securities had unrealized losses of 

$226 thousand. The severity and duration of these unrealized losses will fluctuate with interest rates in the economy. Based on the credit 

quality of the agencies, the Corporation’s intent to hold these securities until a market price recovery or maturity, and the determination 

that it is more likely than not that the Corporation will not be required to sell the securities before their anticipated recovery, the 
Corporation does not consider these investments other than temporarily impaired. 
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Note 2. Securities (continued) 

 
Corporate bonds 

The Corporation’s unrealized loss on corporate obligations was caused by interest rate fluctuations. At December 31, 2015, two securities 

had unrealized losses of $28 thousand. Based on the credit quality of the issuer, the Corporation’s intent to hold this security until a 

market price recovery or maturity, and the determination that it is more likely than not that the Corporation will not be required to sell the 

security before its anticipated recovery, the Corporation does not consider this investment other than temporarily impaired. 

 

Asset backed securities 

The Corporation’s unrealized loss on its other investments was caused by interest rate fluctuations.  At December 31, 2015, twelve 
securities had unrealized losses of $308 thousand.  Based on the credit quality of the issuers, the Corporation’s intent to hold these 

securities until a market price recovery, and the determination that it is more likely than not that the Corporation will not be required to 

sell the securities before their anticipated recoveries, the Corporation does not consider these investments other than temporarily impaired. 

 

Municipals 

The Corporation’s unrealized losses on its municipal investments were caused by interest rate fluctuations.  At December 31, 2015, four 

held-to-maturity municipals had unrealized losses of $35 thousand while two available-for-sale municipals had unrealized losses of $32 

thousand.  Based on the credit quality of the issuers, the Corporation’s intent to hold these securities until a market price recovery, and the 
determination that it is more likely than not that the Corporation will not be required to sell the securities before their anticipated recovery, 

the Corporation does not consider these investments other than temporarily impaired. 

 

Mutual fund 

The Corporation’s unrealized loss on its CRA mutual fund investment was caused by interest rate fluctuations. At December 31, 2015, 

one security had an unrealized loss of $90 thousand. Based on the credit quality of the issuer, the Corporation’s intent to hold this security 

until a market price recovery, and the determination that it is more likely than not that the Corporation will not be required to sell the 

security before its anticipated recovery, the Corporation does not consider this investment other than temporarily impaired. 
 

Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase (Repurchase Agreements) 

 

The Corporation enters into agreements under which it sells securities subject to an obligation to repurchase the same or similar securities. 

Under these arrangements, the Corporation may transfer legal control over the assets but still retain effective control through an agreement 

that both entitles and obligates the Corporation to repurchase the assets. As a result, these repurchase agreements are accounted for as 

collateralized financing agreements (i.e., secured borrowings) and not as a sale and subsequent repurchase of securities. The obligation to 

repurchase the securities is reflected as a liability in the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheets, while the securities underlying the 
repurchase agreements remain in the respective investment securities asset accounts. In other words, there is no offsetting or netting of the 

investment securities assets with the repurchase agreement liabilities. In addition, as the Corporation does not enter into reverse 

repurchase agreements, there is no such offsetting to be done with the repurchase agreements. 
 

The right of setoff for a repurchase agreement resembles a secured borrowing, whereby the collateral would be used to settle the fair value 

of the repurchase agreement should the Corporation be in default (e.g., fails to make an interest payment to the counterparty). The 

collateral is held by a third-party financial institution in the Corporation’s custodial account. The Corporation has the right to sell or 

repledge the investment securities.  The risks and rewards associated with the investment securities pledged as collateral (e.g. a decline or 
rise in the fair value of the investments) remains with the Corporation.   As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the obligations outstanding 

under these repurchase agreements totaled $21.1 million and $25.6 million, respectively, and were comprised of overnight sweep 

accounts.  The fair value of the securities pledged in connection with these repurchase agreements at December 31, 2015 was $24.3 

million in total and consisted of $6.7 million in municipal securities, $4.9 million in mortgage-backed securities, $6.2 million in corporate 

bonds, and $6.5 million in asset-backed securities.  The fair value of the securities pledged in connection with these repurchase 

agreements at December 31, 2014 was $26.1 million in total and consisted of $16.4 million in mortgage backed securities, $4.5 million in 

corporate bonds, and $5.2 million in asset-backed securities. 
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Note 3. Loans and the Allowance for Loan Losses 

       
The composition of net loans is summarized as follows: 

  

(Dollars In Thousands) 2015 2014

Commercial real estate - owner occupied 219,877$           24.77 % 199,442$           25.68 %

Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 147,580             16.63 125,442             16.15

Residential real estate 201,447             22.70 194,213             25.01

Commercial 242,527             27.33 210,278             27.08

Real estate construction 66,003               7.44 41,080               5.29

Consumer 10,044               1.13 6,148                 0.79

Total loans 887,478$           100.00 % 776,603$           100.00 %

Less allowance for loan losses 13,563               13,399               

Net loans 873,915$           763,204$           

Year Ended December 31,

Percentage of Total Percentage of Total

 
Unearned income and net deferred loan fees and costs totaled $2.0 million and $1.6 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  

Loans pledged to secure borrowings at the FHLB totaled $247.9 million and $215.8 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

 

Allowance for Loan Losses  
       

The allowance for loan losses totaled $13.6 million and $13.4 million at year end December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The 

allowance for loan losses was equivalent to 1.53% and 1.73% of total loans held for investment at December 31, 2015 and 2014, 

respectively. Adequacy of the allowance is assessed and the allowance is increased by provisions for loan losses charged to expense no 

less than quarterly.  Charge-offs are taken when a loan is identified as uncollectible. 

 

The methodology by which the Corporation systematically determines the amount of its allowance is set forth by the Board of Directors in 

its Loan Policy and implemented by management.  The results of the analysis are documented, reviewed, and approved by the Board of 
Directors no less than quarterly.   

 

The level of the allowance for loan losses is determined by management through an ongoing, detailed analysis of historical loss rates and 

risk characteristics. During each quarter, management evaluates the collectability of all loans in the portfolio and ensures an accurate risk 

rating is assigned to each loan. The risk rating scale and definitions commonly adopted by the Federal Banking Agencies is contained 

within the framework prescribed by the Bank’s Loan Policy. Any loan that is deemed to have potential or well defined weaknesses that 

may jeopardize collection in full is then analyzed to ascertain its level of weakness. If appropriate, the loan may be charged-off or a 

specific reserve may be assigned if the loan is deemed to be impaired.  
 

During the risk rating verification process, each loan identified as inadequately protected by the current sound worth and paying capacity 

of the obligor or of the collateral pledged is considered impaired and is placed on non-accrual status. On these loans, management 

analyzes the potential impairment of the individual loan and may set aside a specific reserve. Any amounts deemed uncollectible during 

that analysis are charged-off.  

  

For the remaining loans in each segment, the Bank calculates the probability of loss as a group using the risk rating for each of the 

following loan types:  Commercial Real Estate - Owner Occupied, Commercial Real Estate - Non-Owner Occupied, Residential Real 
Estate, Commercial, Real Estate Construction, and Consumer.  Management calculates the historical loss rate in each group by risk rating 

using a period of at least six years. This historical loss rate may then be adjusted based on management’s assessment of internal and 

external environmental factors. While management may consider other factors, the analysis generally includes factors such as 

unemployment, office vacancy rates, and any concentrations that exist within the portfolio.  This adjustment is meant to account for 

changes between the historical economic environment and current conditions and for changes in the ongoing management of the portfolio 

which affects the loans’ potential losses.   

 

Once complete, management compares the condition of the portfolio using several different characteristics, as well as its experience, to 
the experience of other banks in its peer group in order to determine if it is directionally consistent with others’ experience in our area and 

line of business.  Based on that analysis, management aggregates the probabilities of loss of the remaining portfolio based on the specific 

and general allowances and may provide additional amounts to the allowance for loan losses as needed. Since this process involves 

estimates, the allowance for loan losses may also contain an amount that is non-material which is not allocated to a specific loan or to a 

group of loans but is deemed necessary to absorb additional losses in the portfolio.  
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Note 3. Loans and the Allowance for Loan Losses (continued) 
 
Management and the Board of Directors subject the reserve adequacy and methodology to a review on a regular basis by internal auditors 

and bank regulators, and such reviews have not resulted in any material adjustment to the allowance.    

 

The following provides detailed information about the changes in the allowance for loan losses for the years ended December 31, 2015, 

2014 and 2013 as well as the recorded investment in loans at December 31, 2015 and 2014.  

       

      

Twelve months ended December 31, 2015

 Commercial real 

estate - owner 

occupied 

 Commercial real 

estate - non-owner 

occupied 

 Residential 

real estate Commercial

 Real estate 

construction  Consumer  Total 

Allowance for credit losses:

Beginning Balance 3,229$                        1,894$                        3,308$           4,284$          596$              88$                13,399$        

Charge-offs -                             -                             -                (186)              -                 -                (186)             

Recoveries -                             -                             61                  102               37                  -                200               

Provisions (187)                           (32)                             (507)              412               423                41                  150               

Ending Balance 3,042$                        1,862$                        2,862$           4,612$          1,056$           129$              13,563$        

Twelve months ended December 31, 2014

 Commercial real 

estate - owner 

occupied 

 Commercial real 

estate - non-owner 

occupied 

 Residential 

real estate Commercial

 Real estate 

construction  Consumer  Total 

Allowance for credit losses:

Beginning Balance 3,763$                        1,734$                        3,320$           3,484$          743$              92$                13,136$        

Charge-offs -                             -                             (21)                (22)                -                 -                (43)               

Recoveries -                             -                             213                93                 -                 -                306               

Provisions (534)                           160                             (204)              729               (147)               (4)                  -                

Ending Balance 3,229$                        1,894$                        3,308$           4,284$          596$              88$                13,399$        

Twelve months ended December 31, 2013

 Commercial real 

estate - owner 

occupied 

 Commercial real 

estate - non-owner 

occupied 

 Residential 

real estate Commercial

 Real estate 

construction  Consumer  Total 

Allowance for credit losses:

Beginning Balance 3,701$                        2,173$                        2,924$           3,028$          610$              64$                12,500$        

Charge-offs -                             -                             (97)                (444)              -                 -                (541)             

Recoveries -                             199                             111                179               -                 13                  502               

Provisions 62                               (638)                           382                721               133                15                  675               

Ending Balance 3,763$                        1,734$                        3,320$           3,484$          743$              92$                13,136$        

December 31, 2015

 Commercial real 

estate - owner 

occupied 

 Commercial real 

estate - non-owner 

occupied 

 Residential 

real estate Commercial

 Real estate 

construction  Consumer  Total 

Allowance

Ending balance: 3,042$                        1,862$                        2,862$           4,612$          1,056$           129$              13,563$        

Ending balance: individually evaluated for impairment -$                           -$                           -$              -$              200$              -$              200$             

Ending balance: collectively evaluated for impairment 3,042$                        1,862$                        2,862$           4,612$          856$              129$              13,363$        

Ending balance: loans acquired with deteriorated credit quality -$                           -$                           -$              -$              -$               -$              -$              

Loans

Ending balance 219,877$                    147,580$                    201,447$       242,527$      66,003$         10,044$         887,478$      

Ending balance: individually evaluated for impairment 349$                           5,487$                        346$              1,389$          1,046$           -$              8,617$          

Ending balance: collectively evaluated for impairment 219,528$                    142,093$                    201,101$       241,138$      64,957$         10,044$         878,861$      

Ending balance: loans acquired with deteriorated credit quality -$                           -$                           -$              -$              -$               -$              -$              

December 31, 2014

 Commercial real 

estate - owner 

occupied  

 Commercial real 

estate - non-owner 

occupied 

 Residential 

real estate Commercial

 Real estate 

construction  Consumer  Total 

Allowance

Ending balance: 3,229$                        1,894$                        3,308$           4,284$          596$              88$                13,399$        

Ending balance: individually evaluated for impairment -$                           -$                           -$              115$             -$               -$              115$             

Ending balance: collectively evaluated for impairment 3,229$                        1,894$                        3,308$           4,169$          596$              88$                13,284$        

Ending balance: loans acquired with deteriorated credit quality -$                           -$                           -$              -$              -$               -$              -$              

Loans

Ending balance: 199,442$                    125,442$                    194,213$       210,278$      41,080$         6,148$           776,603$      

Ending balance: individually evaluated for impairment 356$                           -$                           320$              1,515$          -$               -$              2,191$          

Ending balance: collectively evaluated for impairment 199,086$                    125,442$                    193,893$       208,763$      41,080$         6,148$           774,412$      

Ending balance: loans acquired with deteriorated credit quality -$                           -$                           -$              -$              -$               -$              -$              

(In Thousands)

(In Thousands)

Allowance for Loan Losses

(In Thousands)

(In Thousands)

Recorded Investment in Loans

(In Thousands)
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Note 3. Loans and the Allowance for Loan Losses (continued) 

 

Identifying and Classifying Portfolio Risks by Risk Rating 

 

At origination, loans are categorized into risk categories based upon original underwriting.  Subsequent to origination, management 

evaluates the collectability of all loans in the portfolio and assigns a proprietary risk rating on a quarterly basis as of the 15th of the last 

month in the quarter. Ratings range from the highest to lowest quality based on factors including measurements of ability to pay, collateral 

type and value, borrower stability, management experience, and credit enhancements.  These ratings are consistent with the bank 

regulatory rating system.  

 
A loan may have portions of its balance in one rating and other portions in a different rating. The Bank may use these “split ratings” when 

factors cause loan loss risk to exist for part but not all of the principal balance. Split ratings may also be used where cash collateral or a 

government agency has provided a guaranty that partially covers a loan.  

 

For clarity of presentation, the Corporation’s loan portfolio is profiled below in accordance with the risk rating framework that has been 

commonly adopted by the federal banking agencies.  The definitions of the various risk rating categories are as follows:  

 

Pass - The condition of the borrower and the performance of the loan is satisfactory or better. 
  

Special mention - A special mention asset has one or more potential weaknesses that deserve management’s close attention. If left 

uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the asset or in the institution’s credit 

position at some future date. 

 

Substandard - A substandard asset is inadequately protected by the current sound worth and paying capacity of the obligor or of the 

collateral pledged, if any. Assets so classified must have a well-defined weakness, or weaknesses, that jeopardize the liquidation of the 

debt. They are characterized by the distinct possibility that the bank will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected. 
 

Doubtful - An asset classified doubtful has all the weaknesses inherent in one classified substandard with the added characteristic that the 

weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions, and values, highly questionable and 

improbable. 

 

Loss - Assets classified loss are considered uncollectible and their continuance as bankable assets is not warranted. This classification 

does not mean that the asset has absolutely no recovery or salvage value, and a partial recovery may be effected in the future.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

 
The Bank did not have any loans classified as loss or doubtful at December 31, 2015 and 2014.  It is the Bank’s policy to charge-off any 

loan once the risk rating is classified as loss. 

 

The profile of the loan portfolio, as indicated by risk rating, as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 is shown below.   

 

Credit Risk Profile by Risk Rating
Pass Special Mention Substandard Doubtful Loss

Unearned 

Income Total Loans

Commercial real estate - owner occupied 214,613$             2,506$                 3,245$                 -$                    -$                    (487)$                  219,877$             

Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 142,146               316                      5,487                   -                      -                      (369)                    147,580               

Residential real estate 201,308               -                      346                      -                      -                      (207)                    201,447               

Commercial 213,559               11,653                 17,732                 -                      -                      (417)                    242,527               

Real estate construction 65,476                 -                      1,046                   -                      -                      (519)                    66,003                 

Consumer 10,042                 -                      -                      -                      -                      2                          10,044                 

Total 847,144$             14,475$               27,856$               -$                    -$                    (1,997)$               887,478$             

Credit Risk Profile by Risk Rating
Pass Special Mention Substandard Doubtful Loss

Unearned 

Income Total Loans

Commercial real estate - owner occupied 194,007$             2,115$                 3,767$                 -$                    -$                    (447)$                  199,442$             

Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 111,301               2,627                   11,751                 -                      -                      (237)                    125,442               

Residential real estate 191,512               2,100                   936                      -                      -                      (335)                    194,213               

Commercial 194,585               10,519                 5,540                   -                      -                      (366)                    210,278               

Real estate construction 41,253                 -                      -                      -                      -                      (173)                    41,080                 

Consumer 6,148                   -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      6,148                   

Total 738,806$             17,361$               21,994$               -$                    -$                    (1,558)$               776,603$             

2015

(In Thousands)

2014

(In Thousands)
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Note 3. Loans and the Allowance for Loan Losses (continued) 
 
Loans listed as non-performing are also placed on non-accrual status. The accrual of interest is discontinued at the time a loan is 90 days 

delinquent or when the credit deteriorates and there is doubt that the credit will be paid as agreed, unless the credit is well-secured and in 

process of collection. Once the loan is on non-accrual status, all accrued but unpaid interest is also charged-off, and all payments are used 

to reduce the principal balance.  Once the principal balance is repaid in full, additional payments are taken into income.  A loan may be 

returned to accrual status if the borrower shows renewed willingness and ability to repay under the term of the loan agreement.  The risk 

profile based upon payment activity is shown below. 

 

Credit Risk Profile Based on Payment Activity Performing Non-Performing Total Loans

Commercial real estate - owner occupied  $                   219,877  $                            -   219,877$                   

Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied                       142,094                           5,486 147,580                     

Residential real estate                       201,284                              163 201,447                     

Commercial                       241,805                              722 242,527                     

Real estate construction                         64,957                           1,046 66,003                       

Consumer                         10,044                                -   10,044                       

Total 880,061$                   7,417$                       887,478$                   

Credit Risk Profile Based on Payment Activity Performing Non-Performing Total Loans

Commercial real estate - owner occupied 199,442$                    $                            -   199,442$                   

Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 125,442                                                    -   125,442                     

Residential real estate 194,084                                                  129 194,213                     

Commercial 208,785                                               1,493 210,278                     

Real estate construction 41,080                                                      -   41,080                       

Consumer 6,148                                                     -   6,148                         

Total 774,981$                   1,622$                       776,603$                   

December 31, 2015

December 31, 2014

 

Loans are considered past due if a contractual payment is not made by the calendar day after the payment is due. For reporting purposes, 

however, loans past due 1 to 29 days are excluded. The delinquency status of the loans in the portfolio is shown below as of December 31, 

2015 and 2014.  Loans that were on non-accrual status are not included in any past due amounts. 

 

 30-59 Days 

Past Due 

 60-89 Days 

Past Due 

 Greater than 

90 Days 

 Total Past 

Due 

 Non-accrual 

Loans 

 Current 

Loans 

 Total 

Loans 

 Commercial real estate - owner occupied  $                -    $                -    $                 -    $                  -   -$                $     219,877 219,877$   

 Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied                    -                      -                       -                        -                 5,486         142,094       147,580 

 Residential real estate                    -                      -                       -                        -                    163         201,284       201,447 

 Commercial                    -                      -                       -                        -                    722         241,805       242,527 

 Real estate construction                    -                      -                       -                        -                 1,046           64,957         66,003 

 Consumer                    -                      -                       -                        -                      -             10,044         10,044 

 Total  $                -    $                -    $                 -    $                  -    $           7,417  $     880,061  $   887,478 

 30-59 Days 

Past Due 

 60-89 Days 

Past Due 

 Greater than 

90 Days 

 Total Past 

Due 

 Non-accrual 

Loans 

 Current 

Loans 

 Total 

Loans 

 Commercial real estate - owner occupied  $                -    $                -    $                 -    $                  -   -$                    $     199,442 199,442$   

 Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied                    -                      -                       -                        -                      -           125,442       125,442 

 Residential real estate                    -                   217                     -                     217                  129         193,867       194,213 

 Commercial                    -                      -                       -                        -                 1,493         208,785       210,278 

 Real estate construction                    -                      -                       -                        -                      -             41,080         41,080 

 Consumer                    -                      -                       -                        -                      -               6,148           6,148 

 Total  $                -    $             217  $                 -    $               217  $           1,622  $     774,764  $   776,603 

 Age Analysis of Past Due Loans 

December 31, 2015

 (In Thousands) 

December 31, 2014

 (In Thousands) 
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Note 3. Loans and the Allowance for Loan Losses (continued) 
 

Impaired Loans 

A loan is classified as impaired when it is deemed probable by management’s analysis  that the Bank will be unable to collect all amounts 

due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement, or the recorded investment in the impaired loan is greater than the present 

value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the loan's effective interest rate. In the case of an impaired loan, management conducts 

an analysis which identifies if a quantifiable potential loss exists, and takes the necessary steps to record that loss when it has been 

identified as uncollectible.  

 

As the ultimate collectability of the total principal of an impaired loan is in doubt, the loan is placed on nonaccrual status with all 
payments applied to principal under the cost-recovery method.  As such, the Bank did not recognize any interest income on its impaired 

loans for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013. 

 

The table below shows the results of management’s analysis of impaired loans as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.  

 

 Recorded 

investment 

 Unpaid principal 

balance 

 Related 

allowance 

 Recorded 

investment 

 Unpaid principal 

balance 

 Related 

allowance 

 With no specific related allowance recorded: 

 Commercial real estate - owner occupied -$              -$                        -$                   356$             356$                       -$                   

 Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 5,486            5,783                      -                     -                -                          -                     

 Residential real estate 163               163                         -                     320               362                         -                     

 Commercial 722               1,743                      -                     1,401            1,913                      -                     

 Real estate construction -                -                          -                     -                -                          -                     

 Consumer -                -                          -                     -                -                          -                     

 With a specific related allowance recorded: 

 Commercial real estate - owner occupied -$              -$                        -$                   -$              -$                        -$                   

 Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied -                -                          -                     -                -                          -                     

 Residential real estate -                -                          -                     -                -                          -                     

 Commercial -                -                          -                     114               120                         115                    

 Real estate construction 1,046            1,046                      200                    -                -                          -                     

 Consumer -                -                          -                     -                -                          -                     

 Total:  

 Commercial real estate - owner occupied -$              -$                        -$                   356$             356$                       -$                   

 Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 5,486            5,783                      -                     -                -                          -                     

 Residential real estate 163               163                         -                     320               362                         -                     

 Commercial 722               1,743                      -                     1,515            2,033                      115                    

 Real estate construction 1,046            1,046                      200                    -                -                          -                     

 Consumer -                -                          -                     -                -                          -                     

7,417$          8,735$                    200$                  2,191$          2,751$                    115$                  

Impaired Loans

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

 (In Thousands) 

 

The table below shows the average recorded investment in impaired loans for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013. 

 

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

 Average Recorded 

Investment 

 Average Recorded 

Investment 

 Average Recorded 

Investment 

 Commercial real estate - owner occupied -$                             360$                            366$                            

 Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied 5,572                           -                               -                               

 Residential real estate 163                              324                              942                              

 Commercial 917                              1,590                           2,083                           

 Real estate construction 1,086                           -                               -                               

 Consumer -                               -                               -                               

7,738$                         2,274$                         3,391$                         

Twelve Months Ended

 (In Thousands) 
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Note 3. Loans and the Allowance for Loan Losses (continued) 

 

Troubled Debt Restructurings  

 

A troubled debt restructuring ("TDR") is a formal restructure of a loan when the Bank, for economic or legal reasons related to the 

borrower's financial difficulties, grants a concession to a borrower.  The Bank classifies these transactions as a TDR if the transaction 

meets the following conditions: an existing credit agreement must be formally renewed, extended and/or modified; the borrower must be 

experiencing financial difficulty; and the Bank has granted a concession that it would not otherwise consider. ASU 2011-02 requires 

public companies to identify and account for TDRs for interim and annual periods beginning on or after June 15, 2011. 

 
Once identified as TDRs, a loan is considered to be impaired, and an impairment analysis is performed for the loan individually, rather 

than under a general loss allowance based on the loan type and risk rating.  Any resulting shortfall is charged off. This method is used 

consistently for all segments of the portfolio. 

 

Normally, loans identified as TDRs would be placed on non-accrual status and considered non-performing until sufficient history of 

timely collection or payment has occurred that allows them to return to performing status, generally 6 months. 

 

One construction loan totaling $1,046 thousand at the time of restructure was modified in connection with a troubled debt restructuring 
during the year ended December 31, 2015 during the fourth quarter. The modification granted the borrower reduced payments for a period 

of two years as well as a reduction in the interest rate.  There were no material financial effects as a direct result of this modification. 

There were no loans restructured for the year ended December 31, 2014.  

 

No payment defaults occurred during the year ended December 31, 2015 or December 31, 2014 for loans restructured during the 

preceding 12 month period.  

 

The table below shows the results of management’s analysis of  troubled debt restructurings as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.  

 

Number of 

loans

Outstanding 

balance

 Recorded 

investment

Number of 

loans

Outstanding 

balance

 Recorded 

investment

Performing

 Commercial real estate - owner occupied                         1  $                 349  $                 349                         1  $                 356  $                 356 

 Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied                        -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -   

 Residential real estate                         1                     225                     183                         1                     233                     191 

 Commercial                         1                     667                     667                         1                       23                       23 

 Real estate construction                        -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -   

 Consumer                        -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -   

Non-Performing

 Commercial real estate - owner occupied                        -    $                    -    $                    -                          -    $                    -    $                    -   

 Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied                        -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -   

 Residential real estate                        -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -   

 Commercial                        -                          -                          -                           1                     869                     698 

 Real estate construction                         1                  1,046                  1,046                        -                          -                          -   

 Consumer                        -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -   

Total                         4  $            2,287  $            2,245                         4  $            1,481  $            1,268 

Troubled Debt Restructurings

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014
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Note 4. Premises and Equipment  

       

Premises and equipment, net, are summarized as follows:  
       

2015 2014

Land 1,342$            1,342$            

Premises 5,832              5,824              

Leasehold improvements                1,228                1,213 

Furniture and equipment                3,914                3,705 

12,316            12,084            

Less accumulated depreciation              (5,627)              (5,158)

6,689$            6,926$            

December 31,

(In Thousands)

 
Depreciation and amortization expense included in operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2015, December 31, 2014, and 
December 31, 2013, was $507 thousand, $485 thousand, and $478 thousand, respectively.  

 

During the third quarter of 2014, ARE transferred land that was originally purchased for future banking center expansion to other assets 

available for sale when management listed the property for sale.  The land, originally purchased for $1.2 million, was recorded at its 

appraised value less costs to sell, being $500 thousand.  As such, ARE recorded an impairment charge of $707 thousand in the third 

quarter of 2014. 

 

       

Note 5. Deposits  

       

The composition of deposits is summarized as follows at December 31: 

 

Amount Amount

Interest-bearing demand deposits 127,980$        14.00             % 116,654$     15.44            %

Savings and money market 150,021          16.42             101,409       13.42            

CDARS - time deposits 73,017            7.99               148,142       19.61            

CDARS - money market 15,517            1.70               15,497         2.06              

Brokered deposits 103,390          11.31             13,344         1.77              

Time deposits 136,022          14.89             107,522       14.23            

Total interest-bearing deposits 605,947          66.31             502,568       66.53            

Noninterest-bearing demand deposits 307,797          33.69             252,875       33.47            

Total deposits 913,744$        100.00           % 755,443$     100.00          %

(Dollars In Thousands)

Percentage of 

Total

Percentage of 

Total

2015 2014

 
The aggregate amount of time deposits with a minimum denomination of $250,000 was $161 million for 2015 and $56 million for                                                                                                                                              

2014.  

 
At December 31, 2015, the scheduled maturities of time deposits were as follows:  

 

Year Amount

(In Thousands)

2016 178,606$          

2017 84,316              

2018 36,534              

2019 7,270                

2020 5,256                

Later years 254                   

312,236$          
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Note 5. Deposits (continued) 

 
Brokered deposits totaled $192 million and $177 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, which includes $89 million and 

$163 million, respectively, in CDARS deposits.       

 

 

Note 6. Borrowings  

       

The Bank is a member of the FHLB and may borrow funds based on criteria established by the FHLB.  The FHLB may call these 

borrowings if the adjusted collateral balance falls below the borrowing level.  The borrowing arrangements available from the FHLB 
could be either short-term or long-term borrowings, depending upon the Bank’s related cost and needs. 

 

Advances from the FHLB for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are summarized below:  

 

2015 2014

Balance outstanding at end of year 125,000$               160,000$               

Average balance outstanding 110,882$               115,471$               

Maximum outstanding at any month-end 160,000$               161,000$               

Average interest rate during the year 0.41% 0.22%

Average interest rate at end of year 0.75% 0.30%

(Dollars In Thousands)

 
The scheduled maturity dates and related fixed interest rates on advances from the FHLB at December 31, 2015 are summarized as 
follows (dollars in thousands): 

 

Maturity Date Interest Rate

 Outstanding 

Amount 

1/29/2016 0.35% 50,000$                 

2/29/2016 0.44% 20,000                   

10/2/2017 1.08% 15,000                   

3/27/2018 1.22% 10,000                   

10/2/2018 1.02% 10,000                   

10/2/2019 1.32% 10,000                   

10/2/2020 1.54% 10,000                   

125,000$               

 
Information concerning securities sold under agreements to repurchase and federal funds purchased for the years ended December 31, 

2015 and 2014 is summarized below: 

2015 2014

Balance outstanding at end of year 21,129$               25,635$            

Average balance outstanding 22,017$               21,129$            

Maximum outstanding at any month-end 26,242$               33,980$            

Average interest rate during the year 0.10% 0.10%

Average interest rate at end of year 0.10% 0.10%

(Dollars In Thousands)

 
Repurchase agreements totaled $21.1 million and $25.6 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  They are classified as 

secured borrowings and generally mature within one business day from the transaction date.  They are reflected as the amount of cash 

received in connection with the transaction.  In addition, $60.5 million in federal funds lines with other financial institutions were 

available at December 31, 2015, for short-term funding needs.  Federal funds purchased are overnight, unsecured borrowings.  

 

The Bank has remaining lines of credit available with the FHLB which totaled $210.3 million at December 31, 2015.  The FHLB 

advances are secured by a blanket floating lien on certain 1-4 family residential, HELOCS, second mortgages, and commercial mortgages 

with carrying values of $184.7 million at December 31, 2015.    
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Note 7. Income Taxes  

       
Net deferred tax assets consisted of the following components as of December 31, 2015 and 2014:  

 

2015 2014

Deferred tax assets:

Allowance for loan losses 4,838$              4,731$      

Deferred fees 713                   550           

Allowance for loan losses on mortgage loans sold 573                   575           

Allowance for off balance sheet losses 268                   226           

Stock options 52                     28             

Securities available for sale 551                   296           

Land impairment 252                   250           

Other 141                   48             

7,388$                 6,704$         

Deferred tax liability:

Depreciation 173                   229           

Other 58                     107           

231                      336              

Net deferred tax assets

included in other assets 7,157$                 6,368$         

December 31,

(In Thousands)

 
The provision for income taxes charged to operations for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 consisted of the following: 
 

2015 2014 2013

Current tax expense 8,711$                 6,691$         7,323$         

Deferred tax (benefit) (534)                     894              (89)              

8,177$                 7,585$         7,234$         

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands)

 
The income tax provision differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the U.S. Federal income tax rate to pretax 
income for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 as follows:  

 

2015 2014 2013

Computed "expected" tax expense 8,259$                 7,529$         7,155$         

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:

State income taxes 92                     62             125          

Tax exempt income and interest (257)                  (164)          (6)             

Other 83                     158           (40)           

8,177$                 7,585$         7,234$         

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands)

 
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Corporation did not have any unrecognized tax benefits.  The Corporation does not expect a 

significant increase or decrease in the next 12 months of unrecognized tax benefits.  The Corporation recognizes interest and penalties 

related to unrecognized tax benefits as Interest Expense and Other Noninterest Expense, respectively, and not as part of the tax provision.  

The Corporation did not recognize a material amount of interest expense or penalties for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 

2013.  In addition, there were no interest or penalties accrued at December 31, 2015 or 2014.  The Corporation is no longer subject to 
examination for federal and state purposes for tax years prior to 2012.    



 68 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Note 8. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities  

       
The Corporation is committed under non-cancelable and month-to-month operating leases for its office locations. Rent expense associated 

with these operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 totaled $807 thousand, $850 thousand, and $961 

thousand, respectively.  

       

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining lease terms 

in excess of one year.  

 

Year Amount

(In Thousands)

2016 362$                      

2017 335                        

2018 268                        

2019 275                        

2020 217                        

Thereafter 697                        

2,154$                    
 

In the normal course of business, there are outstanding various commitments and contingent liabilities, which are not reflected in the 

accompanying financial statements. The Corporation does not anticipate any material loss as a result of these transactions.  See Note 9 for 

additional information. 

 
As part of its mortgage banking activities, the Mortgage Division enters into interest rate lock commitments, which are commitments to 

originate loans whereby the interest rate on the loan is determined prior to funding and the customers have locked into that interest rate. 

The Mortgage Division then either locks the loan and rate in with an investor and commits to deliver the loan if settlement occurs (“Best 

Efforts”) or commits to deliver the locked loan in a binding (“Mandatory”) delivery program with an investor. Certain loans under rate 

lock commitments are covered under forward sales contracts of mortgage backed securities (“MBS”).  Forward sales contracts of MBS 

are recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in noninterest income.  Interest rate lock commitments and commitments to 

deliver loans to investors are considered derivatives.  The market value of interest rate lock commitments and best efforts contracts are not 

readily ascertainable with precision because they are not actively traded in stand-alone markets.  The Mortgage Division determines the 
fair value of rate lock commitments and delivery contracts by measuring the fair value of the underlying asset, which is impacted by 

current interest rates and taking into consideration the probability that the rate lock commitments will close or will be funded. 

  

Since the Mortgage Division’s derivative instruments are not designated as hedging instruments, the fair value of the derivatives are 

recorded as a freestanding asset or liability with the change in value being recognized in current net income during the period of change.  
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Note 8. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (continued) 

 
At December 31, 2015 and 2014 the Mortgage Division had open forward contracts with a notional value of $49.0 million and $45.3 

million, respectively. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Mortgage Division did not have any open mandatory delivery contracts. The 

open forward delivery contracts are composed of forward sales of MBS. The fair value of these open forward contracts was ($54) 

thousand and ($349) thousand at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  Certain additional risks arise from these forward delivery 

contracts in that the counterparties to the contracts may not be able to meet the terms of the contracts.  The Mortgage Division does not 

expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligation.  Additional risks inherent in mandatory delivery programs include the risk that if the 

Mortgage Division does not close the loans subject to interest rate risk lock commitments, they will be obligated to deliver MBS to the 

counterparty under the forward sales agreement.  Should this be required, the Mortgage Division could incur significant costs in acquiring 
replacement loans or MBS and such costs could have an adverse effect on mortgage banking operations in future periods. 

 

Interest rate lock commitments totaled $26.6 million and $23.5 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and included $6.2 

million and $5.3 million that were made on a Best Efforts basis at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Fair values of these best 

efforts commitments were $53 thousand and $39 thousand at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  The remaining hedged interest 

rate lock commitments totaling $20.4 million and $18.2 million at December 31 2015 and 2014 had a fair value of $275 thousand and 

$200 thousand, respectively.  

 
The Mortgage Division makes representations and warranties that loans sold to investors meet their program’s guidelines and that the 

information provided by the borrowers is accurate and complete. In the event of a default on a loan sold, the investor may make a claim 

for losses due to document deficiencies, program compliance, early payment default, and fraud or borrower misrepresentations.  The 

Mortgage Division maintains a reserve in other liabilities for potential losses on mortgage loans sold.  During the third quarter of 2014, 

$3.25 million in reserves were released in connection with  management’s on-going analysis of reserve requirements.  At December 31, 

2015 and 2014 the balance in this reserve totaled $1.0 million and $1.2 million, respectively.  

 

2015 2014

Balance at beginning of year 1,198$              4,645$              

Provision charged to (released from)

operating expense -                    (3,250)               

Recoveries -                    5                       

Charge-offs (169)                  (202)                  

Balance at end of year 1,029$              1,198$              

 Year Ended December 31,

Allowance For Losses on Mortgage Loans Sold

(In Thousands)

 
  

Note 9. Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk  

       
The Corporation is a party to financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing 

needs of its customers. These financial instruments consist primarily of commitments to extend credit. These instruments involve, to 

varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amount recognized in the balance sheet. The contract or notional amounts of those 

instruments reflect the extent of involvement the Corporation has in particular classes of financial instruments.  

       

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition established in the 

contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee by the 

customer. Since many of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not 
necessarily represent future cash requirements. The Corporation evaluates each customer’s creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. The 

amount of collateral, if any, deemed necessary by the Corporation upon extension of credit is based on management’s credit evaluation of 

the counterparty. Collateral normally consists of real property, liquid assets or business assets. The Corporation had approximately $53.2 

million and $16.8 million in outstanding commitments at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  
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Note 9. Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk (continued) 

 
The Corporation’s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for commitments 

to extend credit is represented by the contractual notional amount of those instruments. The Corporation uses the same credit policies in 

making commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments. The Corporation had approximately $304.9 

million and $249.4 million in unfunded lines of credit whose contract amounts represent credit risk at December 31, 2015 and 2014, 

respectively.  

 

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Corporation to guarantee the performance of a customer to a third 

party. Those letters of credit are primarily issued to support public and private borrowing arrangements. Essentially all letters of credit 
issued have expiration dates within one year. The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in 

extending loan facilities to customers. The Corporation generally holds collateral supporting those commitments if deemed necessary. The 

Corporation had standby letters of credit outstanding in the amount of $7.6 million and $4.2 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, 

respectively.  

 

In addition to the above, the Corporation is subject to risks related to the mortgage origination operations of the Mortgage Division of the 

Bank.  See Note 8 for a discussion of those risks. 
       
       

Note 10. Related Party Transactions  

       

The Corporation has had, and may be expected to have in the future, banking transactions in the ordinary course of business with 

directors, principal officers, their immediate families and affiliated companies in which they are principal shareholders (commonly 

referred to as related parties), on the same terms, including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable 

transactions with parties not related to the Corporation and which did not present more than the normal risk of collectability or other 

unfavorable terms.  These related parties were indebted to the Corporation for loans totaling $11.4 million at December 31, 2015 and 
2014. During 2015, total principal additions were $2.0 million and total principal payments and changes in related parties’ debt were $1.4 

million. The Corporation also has outstanding unused commitments to related parties amounting to $3.0 million at December 31, 2015.  

The aggregate amount of deposits at December 31, 2015 and 2014 from directors and officers or their immediate family members was 

$36.4 million and $34.8 million, respectively. 

  

 

Note 11. Stock Option Plan       

 
The Corporation established the Access National Corporation 2009 Stock Option Plan (“the Plan”) and it was approved by shareholders 

on May 19, 2009.  The Plan reserves 975,000 shares of the Corporation’s common stock, $0.835 par value, for issuance under the Plan.   

The Plan allows for incentive stock options to be granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value at the date of grant.  The 

expiration dates on options granted under this plan are generally five years from the grant date. 

 

Total compensation cost for share-based payment arrangements recognized in 2015, 2014, and 2013 was $332 thousand, $236 thousand, 

and $195 thousand, respectively. 

 
Cash received from option exercises under share-based payment arrangements for 2015, 2014, and 2013 was $380 thousand, $680 

thousand, and $773 thousand, respectively.   
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Note 11. Stock Option Plan (continued)     

 
Changes in the stock options outstanding under the Plan, for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 are summarized as 

follows:  

  

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Number of Average Number of Average Number of Average

Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning of year 316,423           14.02$               281,380           11.77$               274,800           7.72$                 

Granted 125,434           18.03                 123,000           15.96                 141,584           15.31                 

Exercised (29,975)           12.62                 (76,132)           8.95                   (113,107)         6.83                   

Lapsed or canceled (4,050)             16.40                 (11,825)           13.34                 (21,897)           9.33                   

Outstanding at end of year 407,832 15.33$               316,423 14.02$               281,380 11.77$               

Options exercisable at end of year 105,889 12.99$               43,697 11.88$               54,616 7.41$                 

Year Ended December 31,

2015 2014 2013

 
Options outstanding at year end 2015 were as follows: 

 

Weighted- Weighted-

Average Weighted Average Weighted

Range of Remaining Average Remaining Average

Exercise Number Contractual Exercise Intrinsic Number Contractual Exercise Intrinsic

Price Outstanding Life (in yrs) Price Value Exercisable Life (in yrs) Price Value

 

$7.55-$9.58 62,779           1.03 9.09$         713,550$    40,137           1.00 9.00$         459,506$    

$9.59-$25.00 345,053         3.13 16.47         1,377,646   65,752           2.45 15.43         331,022      

407,832         2.81 15.33$       2,091,196$ 105,889         1.90 12.99$       790,528$    

Options ExercisableOptions Outstanding

 
The fair value of stock options granted was estimated using the Black Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average 

assumptions:  

 

2015 2014 2013

Expected life of options granted 4.09 Years 4.07 Years 4.11 Years

Risk-free interest rate 1.06% 0.69% 0.36%

Expected volatility of stock 30% 36% 42%

Annual expected dividend yield 3% 3% 7%

Fair value of granted options 357,456$         305,143$         435,035$         

Nonvested Options 301,943           272,726           226,764           

Year Ended December 31,

 
 
The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 was $239 thousand, $525 

thousand, and $873 thousand, respectively.  The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the years 2015, 2014, 

and 2013 were $2.85, $2.48, and $3.07, respectively. 

 

The total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share based compensation arrangements granted under the plan as of 

December 31, 2015 was $476 thousand.  The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.41 years. 
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The Corporation (on a consolidated basis) and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal 

banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory - possibly additional discretionary - 
actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Corporation’s and the Bank’s financial statements. 

Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, the Corporation and the Bank must meet 

specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of the Corporation’s and the Bank’s assets, liabilities, and certain off-

balance-sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The Corporation’s and the Bank’s capital amounts and 

classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, and other factors.  

       

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Corporation and Bank to maintain minimum 

amounts and ratios (set forth in the table below) of total Tier 1, and Common Equity Tier 1 capital (as defined in the regulations) to risk-
weighted assets (as defined), and of Tier 1 capital (as defined) to average assets (as defined). Management believes, as of December 31, 

2015 and 2014, that the Corporation and the Bank meet all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject.  

       

At December 31, 2015 the Corporation and Bank exceeded the minimum required ratios for “well capitalized” as defined by the federal 

banking regulators. To be categorized as well capitalized, the Bank must maintain minimum total risk-based, Tier 1 risk-based, Common 

Equity Tier 1 risk-based and Tier 1 leverage ratios as set forth in the table. There are no conditions or events that management believes 

have changed the institutions’ category.  

 
The Corporation’s and Bank’s actual capital amounts and ratios as of December 31, 2015 and  2014 are presented in the table below:    

   

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

December 31, 2015

Total Capital

(to Risk-Weighted Assets)

Corporation 120,682$  12.39% 77,913$   8.00% 97,391$  10.00%

Bank 111,031$  11.41% 77,865$   8.00% 97,331$  10.00%

Tier 1 Capital

(to Risk-Weighted Assets)

Corporation 108,482$  11.14% 38,956$   6.00% 58,434$  8.00%

Bank 98,838$    10.15% 38,932$   6.00% 77,865$  8.00%

Tier 1 Capital

(to Risk-Weighted Assets)

Corporation 108,482$  9.34% 46,443$   4.50% 58,054$  5.00%

Bank 98,838$    8.53% 46,371$   4.50% 57,964$  5.00%

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital

(to Average Assets)

Corporation 108,482$  11.14% 38,956$   4.00% 63,304$  6.50%

Bank 98,838$    10.15% 38,932$   4.00% 63,265$  6.50%

December 31, 2014

Total Capital

(to Risk-Weighted Assets)

Corporation 108,693$  12.41% 70,069$   8.00% 87,586$  10.00%

Bank 101,883$  11.64% 70,025$   8.00% 87,531$  10.00%

Tier 1 Capital

(to Risk-Weighted Assets)

Corporation 97,713$    11.16% 35,034$   4.00% 52,552$  6.00%

Bank 90,903$    10.39% 35,012$   4.00% 52,519$  6.00%

Tier 1 Capital

(to Average Assets)

Corporation 97,713$    9.70% 40,305$   4.00% 50,381$  5.00%

Bank 90,903$    9.02% 40,305$   4.00% 50,381$  5.00%

(Dollars In Thousands)

Minimum

To Be Well

Capitalized Under

Minimum Capital Prompt Corrective

Actual Requirement Action Provisions
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Note 13. Earnings Per Share  

       
The following table shows the weighted average number of shares used in computing earnings per share and the effect on weighted 

average number of shares of potential diluted common stock. Potential dilutive common stock has no effect on income available to 

common shareholders.  

 

Net  Per Share Net  Per Share Net  Per Share

Income Shares Amount Income Shares Amount Income Shares Amount

Earnings per share

Basic 15,419$       10,513 1.46$       13,925$       10,424 1.33$       13,207$       10,320 1.28$       

Effect of dilutive securities:

   Stock options and warrants -               69          -           -               43          -           -              83          -           

Diluted -               -        1.46         -               -        1.33         -              -        1.27         

   Diluted earnings per share 15,419$       10,582   1.46$       13,925$       10,467   1.33$       13,207$       10,403   1.27$       

(In Thousands, Except for Per Share Data)

2015

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013

 
 

Note 14. Employee Benefits  

       

The Corporation maintains a Defined Contribution 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (the “401(k) Plan”), which authorizes a maximum voluntary 
salary deferral of up to IRS limitations. All full-time employees are eligible to participate after 6 months of employment. The Corporation 

reserves the right to make an annual discretionary contribution to the account of each eligible employee based in part on the Corporation’s 

profitability for a given year, and on each participant’s yearly earnings. Approximately $638 thousand, $540 thousand, and $533 thousand 

were charged to expense under the 401(k) Plan for 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively.  
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Note 15. Other Expenses  
   
The Corporation had the following other expenses for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013:  

 
2015 2014 2013

Management fees 1,151$          799$             1,619$          

Data processing 1,029            676               683               

Business and franchise tax 875               806               840               

Advertising and promotional expense 754               873               1,234            

FDIC insurance 634               444               437               

Consulting fees 618               481               529               

Accounting and auditing service 612               612               550               

Investor fees 570               453               772               

Director fees 395               492               327               

Legal fees 363               277               177               

Telephone 346               309               287               

Stock option expense 332               236               195               

Stationary and supplies 294               308               228               

Business development, meals, and travel 260               270               291               

Regulatory examinations 257               217               207               

Publication and subscription 249               251               276               

Employee education and development 198               96                 122               

Credit report 197               208               296               

Disaster recovery 190               241               197               

SBA guarantee fee 160               183               209               

FRB and Bank analysis charges 147               121               98                 

Early payoff 133               58                 152               

Dues and memberships 108               104               71                 

Verification fees 106               89                 117               

D&O liability insurance 104               127               104               

Common stock expense 97                 89                 79                 

Postage 93                 97                 128               

Courier 59                 93                 136               

Appraisal fees 50                 53                 66                 

Automotive 47                 49                 47                 

Conventions and meetings 34                 54                 20                 

Bank paid closing costs 33                 47                 32                 

Kitchen supplies 28                 31                 31                 

Impairment of long lived asset -                707               -               

Provision expense (release) for LHFS -                (3,250)          388               

Other 1,337            842               385               

11,860$        7,543$          11,330$        

(In Thousands)

 
 

Note 16. Fair Value Measurements  
 

FASB ASC 820-10 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (exit price) in 

the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the 

measurement date. FASB ASC 820-10 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable 

inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are 

recognized on the actual dates of the event or circumstances that caused the transfer, which generally coincides with the Corporation’s 

monthly and or quarterly valuation process.  The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair values: 
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Note 16. Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

 
Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has the ability to access as of the 

measurement date. 

 

Level 2 - Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices 

in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. 

 

Level 3 - Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a company’s own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would 

use in pricing an asset or liability. 
 

The Corporation used the following methods to determine the fair value of each type of financial instrument: 

 

Investment securities: The fair values for investment securities are determined by quoted market prices for similar securities from active 

markets (Level 2).  

 

Residential loans held for sale: The fair value of loans held for sale is determined using quoted prices for a similar asset, adjusted for 

specific attributes of that loan (Level 2). 
 

Derivative financial instruments:  Derivative instruments are used to hedge residential mortgage loans held for sale and the related 

interest-rate lock commitments and include forward commitments to sell mortgage loans and mortgage backed securities. The fair values 

of derivative financial instruments are based on derivative market data inputs as of the valuation date and the underlying value of 

mortgage loans for rate lock commitments (Level 3). 

 

Impaired loans:  The fair values of impaired loans are measured for impairment using the fair value of the collateral for collateral-

dependent loans on a non-recurring basis.  Collateral may be in the form of real estate or business assets including equipment, inventory 
and accounts receivable.  The use of discounted cash flow models and management’s best judgment are significant inputs in arriving at 

the fair value measure of the underlying collateral (Level 3). 

 

Other real estate owned:  The fair value of other real estate owned, which is included in other assets on the balance sheet, consists of real 

estate that has been foreclosed.  Foreclosed real estate is recorded at the lower of fair value less selling expenses or the book balance prior 

to foreclosure.  Write downs are provided for subsequent declines in value and are recorded in other noninterest expense (Level 2). 
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Note 16. Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

 
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value under FASB ASC 820-10 on a recurring and non-recurring basis, including financial assets 

and liabilities for which the Corporation has elected the fair value option, are summarized below: 

 

Carrying 

Value

Quoted Prices in 

Active Markets 

for Identical 

Assets (Level 1)

Other 

Observable 

Inputs (Level 2)

Significant 

Unobservable 

Inputs   (Level 3)

Financial Assets-Recurring

Available-for-sale investment securities

US Government agency 18,904$          -$                    18,904$               -$                     

Mortgage backed 96,077            -                      96,077                 -                       

Corporate bonds 8,959              -                      8,959                   -                       

Asset Backed Securities 15,998            -                      15,998                 -                       

Municipals - nontaxable 12,005            -                      12,005                 -                       

Municipals 6,809              -                      6,809                   -                       

CRA Mutual fund 1,410              -                      1,410                   -                       

Total available-for-sale investment securities 160,162          -                      160,162               -                       

Residential loans held for sale 44,135            -                      44,135                 -                       

Derivative assets 523                 -                      -                       523                       

Total Financial Assets-Recurring 204,820$        -$                    204,297$             523$                     

Financial Liabilities-Recurring

Derivative liabilities 250$               -$                    -$                     250$                     

Total Financial Liabilities-Recurring 250$               -$                    -$                     250$                     

Financial Assets-Non-Recurring

Impaired loans 
(1)

7,417$            -$                    -$                     7,417$                  

Total Financial Assets-Non-Recurring 7,417$            -$                    -$                     7,417$                  

Carrying 

Value

Quoted Prices in 

Active Markets 

for Identical 

Assets (Level 1)

Other 

Observable 

Inputs (Level 2)

Significant 

Unobservable 

Inputs   (Level 3)

Financial Assets-Recurring

Available-for-sale investment securities

US Government agency 18,525$          -$                    18,525$               -$                     

Mortgage backed 69,698            -                      69,698                 -                       

Corporate bonds 13,372            -                      13,372                 -                       

Asset Backed Securities 17,983            -                      17,983                 -                       

Municipals - nontaxable 4,065              -                      4,065                   -                       

CRA Mutual fund 1,437              -                      1,437                   -                       

Total available-for-sale investment securities 125,080          -                      125,080               -                       

Residential loans held for sale 45,026            -                      45,026                 -                       

Derivative assets 330                 -                      -                       330                       

Total Financial Assets-Recurring 170,436$        -$                    170,106$             330$                     

Financial Liabilities-Recurring

Derivative liabilities 440$               -$                    -$                     440$                     

Total Financial Liabilities-Recurring 440$               -$                    -$                     440$                     

Financial Assets-Non-Recurring

Impaired loans 
(1)

2,191$            -$                    -$                     2,191$                  

Total Financial Assets-Non-Recurring 2,191$            -$                    -$                     2,191$                  

(1)
  Represents the carrying value of loans for which adjustments are based on the appraised value of the collateral, if 

collateral dependent, or the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the loan's effective interest rate.

Fair Value Measurement 

at December 31, 2014 Using

Description

(In Thousands)

(1)
  Represents the carrying value of loans for which adjustments are based on the appraised value of the collateral, if 

collateral dependent, or the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the loan's effective interest rate.

Fair Value Measurement 

at December 31, 2015 Using

Description

(In Thousands)
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Note 16. Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

 
The changes in Level 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized as follows for the twelve month 

period ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

  

Net Derivatives

(In Thousands)

Balance January 1, 2015 (110)$                    

Realized and unrealized gains included in earnings 383                        

Unrealized gains (losses) included in other comprehensive income -                        

Purchases, settlements, paydowns, and maturities -                        

Transfer into Level 3 -                        

Balance December 31, 2015 273$                      

Net Derivatives

(In Thousands)

Balance January 1, 2014 95$                        

Realized and unrealized gains included in earnings (205)                      

Unrealized gains (losses) included in other comprehensive income -                        

Purchases, settlements, paydowns, and maturities -                        

Transfer into Level 3 -                        

Balance December 31, 2014 (110)$                    
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Note 16. Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

 
The following table presents qualitative information about level 3 fair value measurements for financial instruments measured at fair value 

at December 31, 2015 and 2014: 

 

Description

Fair Value 

Estimate

Valuation 

Techniques

Unobservable 

Input

Range (Weighted 

Average)

Financial Assets - Recurring

Derivative assets 523$         Market pricing (3) Estimated 

pullthrough 75% - 90% (86.2%)

Derivative liabilities 250$         Market pricing (3) Estimated 

pullthrough 75% - 90% (86.2%)

Financial Assets - Non-recurring

Impaired loans - Real estate secured 6,695$      Appraisal of 

collateral (1)

Liquidation 

expenses (2) 0% - 15% (14%)

Impaired loans - Non-real estate secured

722$         Cash flow basis 

Liquidation 

expenses (2) 0% - 10% (4%)

(1)

(2)

(3)

Description

Fair Value 

Estimate

Valuation 

Techniques

Unobservable 

Input

Range (Weighted 

Average)

Financial Assets - Recurring

Derivative assets 330$         Market pricing (3) Estimated 

pullthrough 75% - 90% (84.5%)

Derivative liabilities 440$         Market pricing (3) Estimated 

pullthrough 75% - 90% (84.5%)

Financial Assets - Non-recurring

Impaired loans - Real estate secured 676$         Appraisal of 

collateral (1)

Liquidation 

expenses (2)

0% - 20% (8%)

Impaired loans - Non-real estate secured

1,515$      Cash flow basis 

Liquidation 

expenses (2) 0% - 10% (0%)

(1)

(2)

(3)

2015

2014

Market pricing on derivative assets and liabilities is adjusted by management for the anticipated percent of derivative assets and liabilities 

that will create a realized gain or loss.  The range and weighted average of estimated pull-through is presented.

(In Thousands)

Fair value is generally determined through independent appraisals of the underlying collateral on real estate secured loans, which generally 

include various level 3 inputs which are not identifiable.

Valuations of impaired loans may be adjusted by management for qualitative factors such as liquidation expenses.  The range and weighted 

average of liquidation expense adjustments are presented as a percent of the appraisal.

(In Thousands)

Fair value is generally determined through independent appraisals of the underlying collateral on real estate secured loans, which generally 

include various level 3 inputs which are not identifiable.

Valuations of impaired loans may be adjusted by management for qualitative factors such as liquidation expenses.  The range and weighted 

average of liquidation expense adjustments are presented as a percent of the appraisal.

Market pricing on derivative assets and liabilities is adjusted by management for the anticipated percent of derivative assets and liabilities 

that will create a realized gain or loss.  The range and weighted average of estimated pull-through is presented.
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Note 16. Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

 

Financial instruments recorded using FASB ASC 825-10 

 

Under FASB ASC 825-10, the Corporation may elect to report most financial instruments and certain other items at fair value on an 

instrument-by-instrument basis with changes in fair value reported in net income. After the initial adoption, the election is made at the 

acquisition of an eligible financial asset, financial liability or firm commitment or when certain specified reconsideration events occur. 

The fair value election, with respect to an item, may not be revoked once an election is made.  

 

The following tables reflect the difference between the fair value carrying amount of residential mortgage loans held for sale, measured at 
fair value under FASB ASC 825-10, and the aggregate unpaid principal amount the Corporation is contractually entitled to receive at 

maturity.  

 

(In Thousands)

Aggregate 

Fair Value Difference

Contractual 

Principal

Residential mortgage loans held for sale 44,135$         1,673$           42,462$         

(In Thousands)

Aggregate 

Fair Value Difference

Contractual 

Principal

Residential mortgage loans held for sale 45,026$         1,914$           43,112$         

December 31, 2014

December 31, 2015

 
 

The Corporation has elected to account for residential loans held for sale at fair value to eliminate the mismatch that would occur by 
recording changes in market value on derivative instruments used to hedge loans held for sale while carrying the loans at the lower of cost 

or market.  

 

The following methods and assumptions not previously presented were used in estimating the fair value of financial assets and financial 

liabilities that are not measured and reported at fair value on a recurring basis or non-recurring basis:  

 

Cash and Short-Term Investments  
 
For those short-term instruments, the carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of fair value. As such they are classified as Level 1 for 

noninterest-bearing deposits and Level 2 for interest-bearing deposits due from banks or federal funds sold. 

 

Restricted Stock 
 

It is not practical to determine the fair value of restricted stock due to the restrictions placed on its transferability.  

 

Loans, Net of Allowance 
 

For certain homogeneous categories of loans, such as some residential mortgages, and other consumer loans, fair value is estimated using 

the quoted market prices for securities backed by similar loans, adjusted for differences in loan characteristics resulting in a Level 3 

classification. The fair value of other types of loans is estimated by discounting the future cash flows using the current rates at which 

similar loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and for the same remaining maturities resulting in a Level 3 

classification. 

     

Deposits and Borrowings  
 

The fair value of demand deposits, savings accounts, and certain money market deposits is the amount payable on demand at the reporting 

date resulting in a Level 1 classification. The fair value of fixed-maturity certificates of deposit is estimated using the rates currently 

offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities also resulting in a Level 1 classification. The fair value of all other deposits and 

borrowings is determined using the discounted cash flow method thereby resulting in a Level 2 classification. The discount rate was equal 

to the rate currently offered on similar products.  
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Note 16. Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

 

Accrued Interest  

 

The carrying amounts of accrued interest approximate fair value resulting in a Level 2 or Level 3 classification depending upon the level 

of the asset or liability, with which, the accrual is associated.  

 

Off-Balance-Sheet Financial Instruments  

 

The fair value of commitments to extend credit is estimated using the fees currently charged to enter similar agreements, taking into 
account the remaining terms of the agreements and the present creditworthiness of the counterparties. For fixed-rate loan commitments, 

fair value also considers the difference between current levels of interest rates and the committed interest rates. The fair value of stand-by 

letters of credit is based on fees currently charged for similar agreements or on the estimated cost to terminate them or otherwise settle the 

obligations with the counterparties at the reporting date. 

 

At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the majority of off-balance-sheet items are variable rate instruments or convert to variable rate 

instruments if drawn upon. Therefore, the fair value of these items is largely based on fees, which are nominal and immaterial.  

 
The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of financial instruments at December 31, 2015 and 2014 were as follows: 

 

Estimated Estimated

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Amount Value Amount Value

Financial assets:

Cash and short-term

  investments 35,889$          35,889$               56,029$          56,029$               

Securities available-for-sale 160,162          160,162               125,080          125,080               

Securities held-to-maturity 14,287            14,314                 14,309            14,378                 

Restricted stock 7,259              7,259                   8,961              8,961                   

Loans, net of allowance 918,050          982,811               808,230          837,937               

Derivatives 523                 523                      330                 330                      

Total financial assets 1,136,170$     1,200,958$          1,012,939$     1,042,715$          

Financial liabilities:

Deposits 913,744$        905,951$             755,443$        753,675$             

Short-term borrowings              91,129                  90,269            185,635                185,396 

Long-term borrowings 55,000            54,324                 -                  -                      

Derivatives 250                 250                      440                 440                      

Total financial liabilities 1,060,123$     1,050,794$          941,518$        939,511$             

2015

December 31,

(In Thousands)

2014
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Note 16. Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

 
Current accounting pronouncements require disclosure of the estimated fair value of financial instruments.  Effective January 1, 2008, fair 

value is defined in accordance with FASB ASC 820-10 as disclosed above.  Given the current market conditions, a portion of our loan 

portfolio is not readily marketable and market prices do not exist.  We have not attempted to market our loans to potential buyers, if any 

exist, to determine the fair value of those instruments in accordance with the definition of FASB ASC 820-10.  Since negotiated prices in 

illiquid markets depends upon the then present motivations of the buyer and seller, it is reasonable to assume that actual sales prices could 

vary widely from any estimate of fair value made without the benefit of negotiations.  Additionally, changes in market interest rates can 

dramatically impact the value of financial instruments in a short period of time.  Accordingly, the fair value measurements for loans 

included in the table above are unlikely to represent the instruments’ liquidation values. 
 

 

Note 17. Segment Reporting  

       

The Corporation has three reportable segments: traditional commercial banking, a mortgage banking business and a wealth management 

business. Revenues from commercial banking operations consist primarily of interest earned on loans and investment securities and fees 

from deposit services. Mortgage banking operating revenues consist principally of interest earned on mortgage loans held for sale, gains 

on sales of loans in the secondary mortgage market, and loan origination fee income. Wealth management operating revenues consist of 
transactional fees charged to clients as well as fees for portfolio asset management.  

       

The commercial banking segment provides the mortgage banking segment with the short-term funds needed to originate mortgage loans 

through a warehouse line of credit and charges the mortgage banking segment interest based on a premium over their cost to borrow 

funds. These transactions are eliminated in the consolidation process. 
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Note 17. Segment Reporting (continued) 

 
The following table presents segment information for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013. 

 
2015 Commercial Mortgage Wealth Consolidated

Banking Banking Management Other Eliminations Totals

Revenues:

   Interest income 42,763$            1,650$              -$                 16$                   (763)$               43,666$            

   Gain on sale of loans -                    19,633              -                   -                   -                   19,633              

   Other revenues 3,229                388                   2,671                1,391                (1,247)              6,432                

Total operating income 45,992              21,671              2,671                1,407                (2,010)              69,731              

Expenses:

   Interest expense 4,135                467                   -                   280                   (763)                 4,119                

   Salaries and employee benefits 13,519              11,470              1,977                -                   -                   26,966              

   Other expenses 7,732                5,087                1,116                2,362                (1,247)              15,050              

Total operating expenses 25,386              17,024              3,093                2,642                (2,010)              46,135              

Income (loss) before income taxes 20,606$            4,647$              (422)$               (1,235)$            -$                 23,596$            

          Total assets 1,133,916$       46,077$            3,205$              16,837$            (21,487)$          1,178,548$       

Capital expenditures 252$                 15$                   24$                   9$                     -$                 300$                 

2014 Commercial Mortgage Wealth Consolidated

Banking Banking Management Other Eliminations Totals

Revenues:

   Interest income 37,816$            1,297$              -$                 13$                   (625)$               38,501$            

   Gain on sale of loans -                    15,146              -                   -                   -                   15,146              

   Other revenues 2,454                (614)                 2,126                1,388                (1,200)              4,154                

Total operating income 40,270              15,829              2,126                1,401                (1,825)              57,801              

Expenses:

   Interest expense 3,264                281                   21                     332                   (625)                 3,273                

   Salaries and employee benefits 11,897              9,212                1,545                -                   -                   22,654              

   Other expenses 6,220                1,293                910                   3,141                (1,200)              10,364              

Total operating expenses 21,381              10,786              2,476                3,473                (1,825)              36,291              

Income (loss) before income taxes 18,889$            5,043$              (350)$               (2,072)$            -$                 21,510$            

          Total assets 1,006,576$       47,160$            1,624$              17,791$            (20,271)$          1,052,880$       

Capital expenditures 251$                 2$                     -$                 8$                     -$                 261$                 

2013 Commercial Mortgage Wealth Consolidated

Banking Banking Management Other Eliminations Totals

Revenues:

   Interest income 35,343$            1,505$              -$                 12$                   (984)$               35,876$            

   Gain on sale of loans 926                   20,183              -                   -                   -                   21,109              

   Other revenues 3,002                3,034                980                   1,574                (1,549)              7,041                

Total operating income 39,271              24,722              980                   1,586                (2,533)              64,026              

Expenses:

   Interest expense 3,620                577                   -                   499                   (984)                 3,712                

   Salaries and employee benefits 11,157              13,100              1,032                -                   -                   25,289              

   Other expenses 7,164                6,166                699                   2,104                (1,549)              14,584              

Total operating expenses 21,941              19,843              1,731                2,603                (2,533)              43,585              

Income (loss) before income taxes 17,330$            4,879$              (751)$               (1,017)$            -$                 20,441$            

          Total assets 821,201$          27,586$            990$                 13,821$            (16,416)$          847,182$          

Capital expenditures 179$                 114$                 -$                 45$                   -$                 338$                 

(In Thousands)

(In Thousands)

(In Thousands)
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Note 18. Parent Corporation Only Statements 

 

2015 2014

 Assets 

Cash 9,469$                       9,985$                       

Investment in subsidiaries 99,520                    92,515                    

Other assets 586                         598                         

Total assets 109,575$                   103,098$                   

 Liabilities 

Other liabilities 437$                       4,194$                    

Total liabilities 437                            4,194                         

 Shareholders' Equity 

Common stock 8,805                      8,742                      

Capital surplus 19,953                    18,538                    

Retained earnings 81,385                    72,168                    

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,005)                     (544)                        

Total shareholders' equity 109,138     98,904       

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 109,575$                   103,098$                   

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands)

ACCESS NATIONAL CORPORATION

(Parent Corporation Only)

Balance Sheets
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Note 18. Parent Corporation Only Statements (continued) 

 

2015 2014 2013

 Income 

    Dividends from subsidiaries  $        8,625  $        9,390  $      17,850 

    Interest                 15                 13                 12 

    Other 113             199             437             

           8,753            9,602          18,299 

 Expenses 

Interest expense on subordinated debentures -              -              103             

Other expenses 1,660          1,704          1,396          

Total expenses 1,660          1,704          1,499          

Income before income taxes and undistributed income of subsidiaries 7,093          7,898          16,800        

 Income tax (benefit)             (467)             (469)             (354)

Income before undistributed income of subsidiaries 7,560          8,367          17,154        

Undistributed income of subsidiaries 7,859          5,558          (3,947)         

Net income 15,419$      13,925$      13,207$      

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands)

ACCESS NATIONAL CORPORATION

(Parent Corporation Only)

Statements of Income

 
 

2015 2014 2013

Net income 15,419$              13,925$             13,207$             

Other comprehensive income:

Unrealized gains (losses) on securities

Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during period (528)                   2,205                 (3,168)                

Less: reclassification adjustment for gains included in 

net income (188)                   (18)                     -                     

Tax effect 255                     (765)                   1,109                 

   Net of tax amount (461)                   1,422                 (2,059)                

Comprehensive income 14,958$              15,347$             11,148$             

Year Ended December 31,

ACCESS NATIONAL CORPORATION

Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In Thousands)

(Parent Corporation Only)
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Note 18. Parent Corporation Only Statements (continued) 

 
 

Year Ended December 31,

2015 2014 2013

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net income 15,419$        13,925$        13,207$        

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating activities:

Undistributed income of subsidiaries (7,859)          (5,558)          3,947            

Excess tax benefits -               -               6                   

(Increase) decrease in other assets 12                 (6)                 1,302            

Increase (decrease) in other liabilities (75)               89                 (183)             

 Stock-based compensation 332               236               195               

Net cash provided by operating activities 7,829            8,686            18,474          

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Payments for investments in and advances to subsidiaries (592)             (433)             -               

 Sale or repayment of investments in and advances to subsidiaries 968               30                 -               

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 376               (403)             -               

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Repurchase of common stock -               -               (765)             

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 1,145            1,066            773               

Repayment of subordinated debentures -               -               (6,186)          

Dividends paid (9,866)          (5,214)          (11,490)        

Net cash used in financing activities (8,721)          (4,148)          (17,668)        

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (516)             4,135            806               

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Beginning 9,985            5,850            5,044            

Ending 9,469$          9,985$          5,850$          

ACCESS NATIONAL CORPORATION

(Parent Corporation Only)

Statements of Cash Flows

(In Thousands)

 
 

 

Note 19. Bank-Owned Life Insurance  

 

The Corporation had $15.8 million in bank-owned life insurance (“BOLI”) at December 31, 2015.  The Corporation recognized interest 

income, which is included in other noninterest income, of $460 thousand during 2015 and $332 thousand during 2014.   
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ITEM 9 - CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 

DISCLOSURE 

 

None. 
 

ITEM 9A - CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

 

The Corporation’s management evaluated, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the 

effectiveness of the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive 

Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of the end of the 

period covered by this report to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that the Corporation files or submits under 
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and 

that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Corporation’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and 

Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

 

Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that the Corporation’s 

disclosure controls and procedures will detect or uncover every situation involving the failure of persons within the Corporation to 

disclose material information required to be set forth in the Corporation’s periodic and current reports. 

 
The Corporation’s management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as 

defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). No changes in the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting occurred 

during the last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’s internal control 

over financial reporting. 

 

Report of Management’s Assessment of Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

 

The Corporation’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as 
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act.   

  

With the supervision and participation of its Chief Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer, management evaluated the 

effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, using the framework set forth by the 

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) and based on 

this assessment has concluded the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting is effective as of that date. 

 

No matter how well designed, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements.  Projection of the 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods is subject to risks, including but not limited to (a) controls may become inadequate due to 

changes in conditions; (b) a deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures; and (c) the possibility of control 

circumvention or override, any of which may lead to misstatements due to undetected error or fraud.  Effective internal control over 

financial reporting can provide only a reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and reporting. 

 

The Corporation’s independent registered public accounting firm, BDO USA, LLP, has audited the Consolidated Financial Statements 

included in this Annual Report and has issued an attestation report on the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting which is 

included in “Item 8 – Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” herein. 
 

ITEM 9B – OTHER INFORMATION 

 

None. 
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PART III 

 

ITEM 10 – DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

 
The information contained under the captions “Election of Directors,” “Executive Officers Who Are Not Directors,” “Corporate 

Governance and the Board of Directors,”  “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership 

Reporting Compliance" in the 2016 Proxy Statement that is required to be disclosed in this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference. 

 

The Corporation has adopted a Code of Ethics (the “Code”) that applies to its directors, executives and employees including the principal 

executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer and controller, or persons performing similar functions. This 

Code is posted on the Corporation’s Internet website at http://www.accessnationalbank.com under “Investor Relations – Governance 

Documents.” The Corporation will provide a copy of the Code to any person without charge upon written request to Access National 
Corporation, c/o Investor Relations, 1800 Robert Fulton Drive, Suite 300, Reston, Virginia 20191. The Corporation intends to provide any 

required disclosure of any amendment to or waiver of the Code that applies to its principal executive officer, principal financial officer, 

principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions, at http://www.accessnationalbank.com under “Investor 

Relations – Governance Documents” promptly following the amendment or waiver. The Corporation may elect to disclose any such 

amendment or waiver in a report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC either in addition to or in lieu of the website disclosure. The information 

contained on or connected to our Internet website is not incorporated by reference in this report and should not be considered part of this 

or any other report that the Corporation files with or furnishes to the SEC. 

 

ITEM 11 – EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

 

The information contained under the caption “Executive Compensation” in the 2016 Proxy Statement that is required to be disclosed in 

this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference.   

 

ITEM 12 – SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

 
The information contained under the captions “Security Ownership of Management”, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners” 

and “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans” in the 2016 Proxy Statement that is required to be disclosed 

in this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference.   

 

ITEM 13 – CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

 

The information regarding certain relationships between the Corporation and its directors and officers is contained under the captions 

“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and “Corporate Governance and the Board of Directors” in the 2016 Proxy Statement 
that is required to be disclosed in this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference.  

 

ITEM 14 – PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 

 

The information under the captions “Audit and Non-Audit Fees” and “Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies” in the 2016 Proxy 

Statement that is required to be disclosed in this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

http://www.accessnationalbank.com/


 88 

PART IV 

 

ITEM 15 – EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

 
 (a)  Exhibit Index:  

Exhibit No. Description 

3.1 

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Access National Corporation 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K filed July 18, 2006 (file 

number 000-49929)) 

3.1.1 

Articles of Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of 

Access National Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.1 to Form 10-

Q filed August 15, 2011 (file number 000-49929)) 

3.2 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Access National Corporation (incorporated by 

reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Form 8-K filed October 24, 2007 (file number 000-

49929)) 

4 
Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.0 to 
Form 10-KSB filed March 31, 2003) 

 

Certain instruments relating to long-term debt as to which the total amount of 

securities authorized thereunder does not exceed 10% of Access National 

Corporation’s total assets have been omitted in accordance with Item 601(b)(4)(iii) 

of Regulation S-K.  The registrant will furnish a copy of any such instrument to the 

Securities and Exchange Commission upon its request. 

10.5*+ Annual Compensation of Non-Employee Directors 

10.6*+ Base Salaries for Named Executive Officers 

10.10+ 

Access National Corporation 2009 Stock Option Plan, effective May 19, 2009 

(incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the definitive proxy statement filed 

April 15, 2009) 

10.10.1+ 
Form of Stock Option Agreement for Employee under 2009 Stock Option Plan 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10.1 to Form 8-K filed July 6, 2009) 

10.10.2+ 

Form of Stock Option Agreement for Non-employee Directors under 2009 Stock 

Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10.2 to Form 10-K filed March 

14, 2014). 

10.13+ 

Employment Agreement between Access National Bank and Michael W. Clarke 

2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Form 10-K filed March 18, 2013 
(file number 000-49929)) 

10.13.1+ 

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Access National Bank and Michael 

W. Clarke, dated as of November 19, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 

10.13.1 to Form 8-K filed November 25, 2013) 

10.14+ 

Employment Agreement between Access National Bank and Robert C. Shoemaker 

2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Form 10-K filed March 18, 2013 

(file number 000-49929)) 

10.14.1+ 

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Access National Bank and Robert 

C. Shoemaker, dated as of November 19, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 

10.14.1 to Form 8-K filed November 25, 2013) 

10.15+ 

Employment Agreement between Access National Bank and Dean Hackemer 2013 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Form 10-K filed March 18, 2013 (file 

number 000-49929)) 

10.15.1+ 
Amendment to Employment Agreement between Access National Bank and Dean 
Hackemer, dated as of November 19, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 

10.15.1 to Form 8-K filed November 25, 2013) 

10.16+ 

Employment Agreement between Access National Bank and Margaret M. Taylor 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Form 10-Q filed May 10, 2013 (file 

number 000-49929)) 
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10.16.1+ 

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Access National Bank and 

Margaret M. Taylor, dated as of November 19, 2013 (incorporated by reference to 

Exhibit 10.16.1 to Form 8-K filed November 25, 2013) 

21* Subsidiaries of Access National Corporation 

23* Consent of BDO USA, LLP 

24* Power of Attorney (included on the signature page of this report) 

31.1* CEO Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) 

31.2* CFO Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) 

32* 

 

CEO/CFO Certification Pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 

U.S.C. § 1350) 

101* The following materials from Access National Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 

10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, formatted in XBRL (Extensible 

Business Reporting Language), filed herewith: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) 

Consolidated Statements of Income,(iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive 

Income, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity, (v) 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial 

Statements. 

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document 

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema 

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase 

101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase 

101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase 

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase 

* filed herewith 

+ indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement 
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SIGNATURES 

 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 

signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

 

 Access National Corporation 

 (Registrant) 

  

Date: March 15, 2016 By:    /s/ Michael W. Clarke 

                Michael W. Clarke 

                 President and Chief Executive Officer 

  

Date: March 15, 2016                                                        By:   /s/ Margaret M. Taylor 

                Margaret M. Taylor 

               Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
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SIGNATURES 

 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 

 
Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Michael W. Clarke his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent 

with full power of substitution and re-substitution for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any or all 

amendments to this Form 10-K and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do fully and to all intents 

and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, and his 

substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. 

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

 

 

Signature Title Date 

 

/s/ Michael W. Clarke 

 

 
     Michael W. Clarke   President, Chief Executive Officer & Director                                            

(Principal Executive Officer) 

 

March 15, 2016 

/s/ John W. Edgemond IV  March 15, 2016 

     John W. Edgemond IV 

 

Director 

 

/s/ Martin S. Friedman    

     Martin S. Friedman Director March 15, 2016 

   

/s/  Michael G. Anzilotti   
      Michael G. Anzilotti Chairman & Director March 15, 2016 

   
/s/ Thomas M. Kody    

     Thomas M. Kody Director March 15, 2016 

   

/s/ Robert C. Shoemaker   

     Robert C. Shoemaker Director March 15, 2016 

   

/s/ J. Randolph Babbitt   

     J. Randolph Babbitt Director March 15, 2016 

   

/s/ Margaret M. Taylor   

     Margaret M. Taylor Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer                                    

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal 

Accounting Officer) 

March 15, 2016 
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Exhibit 10.5 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                 

Annual Compensation of Non-Employee Directors 
 

 

2016 2015 2014

Retainer Retainer Retainer

Martin S. Friedman, Non-Employee Director  $   36,000  $    36,000  $   36,000 

Thomas M. Kody, Non-Employee Director  $   36,000  $    36,000  $   36,000 

John W. Edgemond IV, Non-Employee Director  $   36,000  $    36,000  $   36,000 

J. Randolph Babbitt, Non-Employee Director  $   36,000  $    36,000  $   36,000 

James L. Jadlos, Chairman and Non-Employee Director (1)  $           -    $    33,000  $   48,000 

Michael G. Anzilotti, Chairman and Non-Employee Director (2)  $   48,000  $    42,000  $   33,000 

Name/Position

(1)  Effective June 18, 2015, Mr. Jadlos resigned as Chairman and as a Director.

(2)  Effective June 18, 2015, Mr. Anzilotti was elected as Chairman.

 
 

The Non-Employee Directors will be paid the 2016 retainer in monthly installments. 

 

In addition to the annual retainer, the Compensation Committee conducts an annual evaluation of the performance under criteria similar to 

that used for its executive officer cash bonuses for payment of annual incentives to the Non-Employee Directors.  Such incentives are paid 

in the following year in cash, stock option awards or some combination thereof. 
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Exhibit 10.6  

Base Salaries for Named Executive Officers 

 

 

As of January 1, 2016 the following are the base salaries (on an annual basis) of the named executive  

officers (as defined in Item 402(a)(3) of Regulation S-K) of Access National Corporation:

Michael W. Clarke 425,000$     

  President and Chief Executive Officer

Dean Hackemer 375,000$     

  President, Mortgage Division

Robert C. Shoemaker 325,000$     

   Executive Vice President and Chief Lending Officer

Margaret M. Taylor 305,000$     

   Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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 Exhibit 21 

Subsidiaries of Access National Corporation 

 

Subsidiary and Name Under Which 

Business is Done 
Jurisdiction of Incorporation 

or Organization 

  

Access National Bank United States 

     Access National Leasing Corporation (inactive) Virginia 

     Access Capital Management Holding, LLC Virginia 

          Capital Fiduciary Advisors, L.L.C. Virginia 

          Access Investment Services, L.L.C. Virginia 

          Access Insurance Group, L.L.C. (inactive) Virginia 

     Acme Real Estate LLC Virginia 

     Access Real Estate LLC Virginia 
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Exhibit 23 

 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 
 

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-131455) and Form S-8 (Nos. 

333-160867 and 333-118771) of Access National Corporation of our reports dated March 15, 2016, relating to the consolidated financial 

statements and the effectiveness of Access National Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting, which appear in this Annual 

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. 

 

 

/s/ BDO USA, LLP 
 

BDO USA, LLP 

Richmond, Virginia 

March 15, 2016 
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Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATIONS  

I, Michael W. Clarke, certify that:  

 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Access National Corporation; 

 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 

misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 

 

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 

subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report 

is being prepared; 

  

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 

the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles;  
 

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by 

this report based on such evaluation; and 

 

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 

the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 

has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and 

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 

performing the equivalent functions): 

 

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

 

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

  

 Date: March 15, 2016                                     

 

          /s/  Michael W. Clarke 
               Michael W. Clarke 

                                                                           President and Chief Executive Officer  
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Exhibit 31.2 

 CERTIFICATIONS 

 

I, Margaret M. Taylor, certify that:  
 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Access National Corporation; 

 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 

misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 

presented in this report; 

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 

subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report 

is being prepared; 

 

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 

the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles;  
 

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by 

this report based on such evaluation; and 

 

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 

the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 

has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and 

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 

performing the equivalent functions): 

 

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

 

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

   

 Date: March 15, 2016                                                   

         

         /s/  Margaret M. Taylor   
                                                                                                    Margaret M. Taylor 

                            Executive Vice President and Chief                                               

                           Financial Officer 
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Exhibit 32 

 

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 

as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the  

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

 

In connection with the Annual Report of Access National Corporation (the "Corporation") on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 

December 31, 2015 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Michael W. 

Clarke, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, and Margaret M. Taylor, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 

Officer of the Corporation, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of their knowledge: 

 
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 

 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations 

of the Corporation. 

 

It is not intended that this statement be deemed to be filed for purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

 

 
 

     /s/ Michael W. Clarke 

     Michael W. Clarke 

     President and Chief Executive Officer 

     March 15, 2016 

 

 

 
          

     /s/ Margaret M. Taylor 

     Margaret M. Taylor 

     Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

     March 15, 2016 
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Access National Corporation 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

Michael G. Anzilotti 
Chairman, Access National Corporation 
Retired  
 
J. Randolph Babbitt 
Senior Vice President of Labor Relations, Southwest Airlines Co.  
Managing Member, Babbitt & Associates, LLC  
 
Michael W. Clarke  
President, Chief Executive Officer, Access National Corporation 
President, Chief Executive Officer, Access National Bank 
 
John W. Edgemond 
Owner, President, GreenWorks Landscaping, Inc. 
 
Martin S. Friedman 
CEO, FJ Capital Management, LLC  
 
Thomas M. Kody 
Owner, Waldorf Ford, Inc.  
 
Robert C. Shoemaker 
Executive Vice President, Access National Corporation 
Executive Vice President, Chief Lending Officer, Access National Bank 
 
 
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 

Michael W. Clarke  
President, Chief Executive Officer, Access National Corporation 
President, Chief Executive Officer, Access National Bank 
 
Robert C. Shoemaker 
Executive Vice President, Access National Corporation 
Executive Vice President, Chief Lending Officer, Access National Bank 
 
Margaret M. Taylor  
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Access National Corporation 
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Access National Bank 
 
Dean F. Hackemer 
Senior Vice President, Access National Bank 
President, Access National Mortgage, a division of Access National Bank 



SPECIAL THANKS TO OUR DEDICATED TEAM.

Cynthia Caldwell • Michael Clarke • Sheila Linton • Robert Shoemaker • Theodore Lauer • Patricia 

Fisher • Robert Kraft • Dean Hackemer • William Cargill • Augie Zullo • Pamela Jones • Suzanne 

Jordan • Kimberly Clifford • Arezoo Flynn • Alicia Quintero • Andrew Kalin • Anthony Porto • William 

Matlock • Jona Payne • Doris Hambright • Edward Presler • Melissa Salisbury • Zach Evans • Dallas 

Dixon • Diane Holland • Karen Puleo • Susan Mangum • Jenifer Nadeem • Donald Wipf • Leonard 

Wright, Jr. • Rafael Martinez • David Linthicum • Marshall McCarty • Kirby Davis • Juanita Bogle • 

Jason Bare • Kristine Collins • Matthew Evans • Tracy Laflamme • John Yaremchuk • Julie Flanigan 

• Julie Wallace • Reneé Kirkpatrick • Martin Brula • Joseph Kelly • David Talebian • Stephanie Ogle 

• Andrea Ortuno • Sarala Pandey • Ambika Baptista • Michael Terpak • Benjamin Lawler • Jenna 

Scott • Christine Pollard • Ernest Argleben, Jr. • Jin Ah Yu • Lauren Tugberk • Alexandre Knapp • 

Anthony Carman • Ines Zapatel • Patrick Runge • Catherine Stone • William Nalls • Ronald Cross • 

Melissa Johnson • Rhonda Kuchik • Mark Kuchik • Rebecca Ashton-King • Stephanie Class • Adam 

Linthicum • Adam Nalls • Carlos Yanez • Eric Stillwell • Kevin Wamsley • Andrew Clavio • Robert 

Welshans • Tammie Welshans • Patrick Muldoon • James McCarthy • Michael Anthony • Harris Haley 

• Lisa Davis • Craig Sablosky • Richard Claburn • Amanda Gregg • Diego Barco • Brett McLaughlin • 

Joy Kuvareewong • Joshua Dollar • Vicki Cooper • Johnna Maravelis • Jean Holman • Chad Ludwig 

• Anne Bartgis • Mahshid Amirforoughi • John Grosso • Charles Kettenacker • Heather Hopkins • 

Amy Grabowski • Daniel Saunders • John Wolff • Chad Fallis • Thomas Young, Jr. • Stacy Addison 

• Wonju Song • Jesse Dorey-Ferrera • Amber Bennett-Pryor • Thomas Ciolkosz • Mason Green • 

Susana Reque-Vidaurre • Tiffany Kehler • Patricia Foster • Nicole Rainey • James Reed • Susan 

Kerr • Loretta Hicks • Margaret Taylor • Loriana Cipolletti • Kevin Brooks • Jeanine Kushla • Edward 

Feldman • Kari Kuper • Barbara Spelman • Jeremy Tatge • Michelle Ruggiero • Kristin Angus • 

Jonathan Bridges • Kyle O`Keefe • Molly Wilson • Amy Russell • Raz Sofy • Anne Stevenson • Tahirah 

Khan • Amnah Qaiser • Nasira Ahmed • Javier Barco • James Pender • John Salop • Larry Herrera • 

Richelle Lynch • James Sams • Caitlin Thevenow • Annemarie Athey • Mansoor Azimi-Ghomi • Faria 

Hye • Peter Kebis • Keri Jackson • Francesca Jacobini • Christina Jacobs • Helen Szivos • Scott Dillie 

• John Montgomery • Nancy Koplow • Thurston Spaulding, Jr. • Susan Wallace • Wendy Dunham • 

Rosemarie Reinhardt • Christine Downey • Bonnie Bailey • Amanda Oertly • Jane Mooney • Dorothy 

Curtis • Brendan Donelson • Molly Johnson • Ryan Stackhouse • Aaron Senecal • Peter Cini • Daniel 

Baldwin • Christopher Rieley • David Barker • Noble Morris • Anthony Bill • Angela Myers • Mandy 

Walker • Theodore Leasure • Elizabeth Wainwright • Ashley Welsh • Azra Mahmood • John French 

• Christine Cole • Shannon Wynkoop • Lori Frise • Michael Hartman • Joshua Kelly • Emily Ashton • 

Amy Gerber • Byung Kim • Deborah Thompson • Cheryl Cook • Jacqueline Whited • Brooke Grove 

• Jessica Durbin • Robert Schill • Sharla Frazier • April Hobgood • Timothy Flanigan • Joseph Walls 

• Olga Vondra • Amy Hill • Reginald Mason • Christopher Carr • Steven Reeder • Patricia Rasser 

• Zaineb Raja • Michael Ramsey • Ishi Taylor • Victoria Axt • John McManus • Peter Meimaridis • 

Zachary Williams • Kari Neuleib • Terrance Kinney • Paulina Zeludziewicz • Ashar Masih • Marshall 

Chapman • Paul Jacobson • Maya Jones • Lauren Conn • Amanda Fultz • Sherry Sorouri • Charles 

Kapur • Kristina Vi • Ikaya Parker • Mark Lang • Michael Williams • Kirk Hoover • Ronald Domin • 

Norman Robles • Julia Brooks • Shannon Rones • Kristin Swan • Kathleen Taylor • Gurjeet Kaur • 

Jennifer Baker • Amy Roberts • Tara Smith-Powell • Kathleen O’Keefe • Jamie Baker 

Names are listed in order of tenure.
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